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PREFACE BY TRANSLATOR.

I have attempted to render into English the Life and Ad-
ventures of this Native Officer, and in so doing, have often been
obliged to give the general meaning, rather than adhere to a
literal translation of many sentences and ideas, the true idiom
of which it is almost impossible to transpose into English.

In some parts of the narrative, it becomes rather confused,
and some of the dates are evidently incorrect, but when it is
remembered that ‘This Life’’ embraces scenes and events
which oceurred during a period of half a century, and are related
by a Native, these crrors are not surprising.

Yor vne opinions contained in the work, I am not responsible.:
they are those of o Hindoo, not a Christian.

The narrative without doubt might have been expressed in
more elegant language, and there are incidents enough, had one
the pen of a * Grant,”” to have produced a most romantic tale,
but as Truth is said to be stranger than Fietion, 1 have pre-
ferred to let it remain in its own unvarnished style and simpli-
city. TFor the benefit of those who may wish to criticize the
translation, where any idiomatic words are used, the original
are often given and critics are welcome to put that construction
on these, as seemeth them best. It is belioved that this is one
of the first attempts of any native soldier, to give his thoughts
and ideas to the world, and it occasioned great trouble, and a
great amount of assurances had to be given, before the Soobadar
would part with his memoirs; so afraid are the Natives (parti-
cularly those receiving pensions) of saying a word which might
be considered to censure Government.

If is certain, that if we were to study this little work, we
might obtain a better insight into native modes of thought and
character, than unfortuuately many now possess, This TLife

! 4.2. Lieut.-Colonel Norgate, --Ifd.



and Adventures appeared some years ago in an Indian Periodi-
cal since defunct (alas, the fate of most Indian Periodicals),
and at the time, met with great favour, and excited no little
interest.

Phe Times said in 1863, < It would be well if all officers
whose lot compels them to serve with native troops, were to
study this Life of the old Soobadar.”

PuNJAUB: “T'gyr TRANSLATOR."’
Ist January, 1873.

~PREFACE TQ SECOND EDITION.

This little work has fonnd so much favor with the public,
that a second edition is called for, I believe the old Soobadar
is dead : I do not see his name in the Army List now, but his
words have not died with him,—they remain  Although cir-
cumstances have altered since his time, and some of his ideas
are old fashioned, not so much bearing on things as now
presented, 1 am still inclined to agres with him, that what he
has written, ‘¢ it is true,”’

PunJAUB Y e TraNsLaTOR’
5th March, 1880.



PREFACE 10 'T'HIRD EDITION.

"The Memoirs of Sita Ram were originally written in Hindi
and given to the original translator, Lieut.-Colonel ! Norgate,
Bengal Staff Corps, in 1861. His translation first appeared in
an Tndian Periodical, and as it is noticed by 7The Times in
1863, it 1nust have been published about that time. It after-
wards appeared in book form in 1873, printed, as the title-page
informs us, in Lahore, at the Vietoria Press, by Azizuddin. A
second edition of the bnok appeared in 1880 printed by
““W. Ball, Printer, etec., of Lahore.”

These memoirs are of such absorbing interest that, unable
to trace the original, I determined to translate them into
simple eolloguinl Urdu, for the henefit of students. This was
accomplished with the efficient help of Mawlavi Rizad ‘Al
Wahshat.

This Urdu translation is now (September 1910) running in
the Fauji Akhhidr.

" As it has been decided to make this translation part of the
new text-book for the Higher Standard in Urdu, I am publishing
Lieut.-Colonel Norgate’s original translation for the benefit of
candidates. I have thought it proper to reproduce the text of
his translation without alteration er correction of any kind,
save that, for the benofit of candidates, I have added a few
notes ” and have also recast and numbered the paragraphs so as
to facilitate comparison with the Urdu.  The original punctua.
tion and slips in spelling, ete., are retained.

CALCUTTA : D.C P
1910.

! Lieut.-Colonel at least in 1873. In a copy in the Imperial Library,
Calcutta, some reader has inserted in pencil the initials J. T.

2 Ty, aftor a note signifies that it was made bythe original trans-
lator, Lieut. Colonel Norgate; Bd., that it is added by the-gresent cditor.






FROM SEPOY TO SOOBADAR:
BRING

THE AUTOBIOGRAFHY OF A SEPOY.

Defender of the Poor—OQbedience, etc., ote.,—I have, by the
fatherly kindness of the Government, been granted my pension,
and, accerding to your desire, I now send your Lordship, by
the hands of my son, the papers containing all I can remember
of my life during the forty-sight years I have been in the
service of the English Nation in which I have eaten (sic) seven
gevere wounds, and received six medals, which 1 am proud to
wear. T trust what I have now written, and what I have
before «. different times related to your honour, may prove,
that thére were some who remained faithful, and were not
a,ﬁec ited by the wind of madness which lately blew over

d t_n};_,ﬁ bLnliaf, in. it sioe this mhinh hlich+ed thee o
1

army. My LordknowsI am not much of a Moonshee, although
I have bren taught Persian; therefore my language must be
excused. And without doubt, I have forgotten the English
years in :ome instances; but what I have related to you, and
what I he e here written, it is true. To say more would be
overstepping the bounds of propriety.

May prosperity ever attend your footsteps!

Your slave,

f A S 4 N .7 S POty Ay S
¥,






CHAPTER 1.1

1. T was born in the village of Tilowee,? in Adjoodiah,® in
1797 A D. My father was a Zemindar, by name Gungadeen
Pandy. He possessed 470 beegas of land (beega, nearly one-
third of an acred), which he cultivated himself. My family,
when T was young, were in casy circumstances, and my father
was considered a man of irhportancc in the place. I was about
six years of age when [ was placed under the care of our
family priest, Duleep Ram, in whom my father and mother
placed implicit confidence, and never did anything of impor-
tance withoul his advice and consent. By him I was taught to
write and read our own language; also a slight knowledge of
figures was imparted to me. _After I had acquired this, I con-
sidered myself far superiorin knowledge to all the other boys
of my uge whom I knew, and held my head up accordingly ; all
Chuttores, Khaits, Ahecrs,? efc., were far below my notice. In
fact, 1 fancied myself more clever than my preceptor Duleep
himself ; and if it had not been for the high respect he was
held in by my father, I should on some occasions have even
dared 1o tell liim so. Until I was seventeen yeoars of age, 1
attended my father in the inanagement of his land, and was
entrusted to give the corn to the coolies he sometimes em-
ployed in cutting his crops, drawing water, etc.

2. My mother had a brother, by name Hunoman,® who waa

1 At the commoencement of Seetaram’s life is s long invoecation to
Premasur, Bughwan, ete., ete., to blegs and progper his undertaking :
thi+has been omitted here.——Tt.

2 Pilot.—Hd, $ Oude.—T'r.

¢ He therefore ownsd about 150 acres.— R,

b Different castes in India.—Tr. The proper spelling is Ohhutar,
Kayath. Ahir.—Ed.

"8 Havuman— Fd.
H.S. I 1
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in the service of the Company Bahadoor, and was a Jemadar
in an infantry battalion. He had come home on furlough for
six months, and on his way to Mussorabad,’ his own home, he
stayed with n;y father. My uncle was a very handsome man,
and of great personal strength. He used of an evening to sit
on the seat before our house, and relate the wonders of the
world he had seen, and the prosperity of the great Company
Bahadoor he served, to a crowd of eager listeners, who with
open mouths and staring eyes took in all the marvels he related
as undoubted truths. None of his hearers were more attentive
than myself, and from these recitals I imbibed a strong desire
to enter the world, and try the fortune of a soldier. Nothing
else could I think of, day or night. The rank of Jemadar 1
looked on as quite equal to that of the Nawab Ghazeedeen
Hyder ? himself; in fact, never having seen the latter, I natur-
ally considered my uncle as even of more importance—he had
such a splendid necklace of gold beads, and a curious bright
red coat, covered with gold buttons; and, above all, he ap-
peared to have an unlimited supply of gold wohurs. 1 longed
for the time when 1 might possess the same, which 1 then
thought would be, directly I became the Company Bahadoor’s
servant.

3. My uncle had observed how attentive I was to all his
stories, and how military ardour had inflamed my breast—and
certainly he did all in his power to encourage me. He never
said anything aboutit before my father and mother, or the
Pundit; still he repoatedly told me privately, that if T wished
to be a soldier, he would take me back with him ou his return
to his regiment. How I longed to mention this to rey mother,
but dare not; 1 well knew her darling wish was for me to
become a Pundit. However, onc day, when I had been reading
with Duleep about the mighty battles fought by Christen,® I
fairly told him my wish to become a soldier. How horrified he

1 Masfirabad—Ed.
2 The King of Oude at this time.— T'r.
8 Krishna—Ed.
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seemed-—how he reproached me, by deolaring that all the
instruction he had so laboured to impart to me was thrown
away, and that half the stories my uncle had told were false;
that I might be flogged, and certainly should be defiled by
entering the Company’s service. A hundred other terrors he
conjured up, but these had no effect on me.

4. The Pundit immediately went to my parents and
informed them of my determination, and thus broke to them
the subject 1 had not the courage to tell. To my great sur-
prise, my father made no objections; these all came irom my
mother, who wept, scolded, entreated, and threatened me;
ending by imploring me to give up the idea, and abused my
father for not preventing such a catastrophe. At this parti-
cular period of which [ now write, a lawsnit was impending
over my father, about his right to a mango grove of some four
hundred trees, and he thought that having a son in the Com-
pany Buhadoor’s service would be the means of getting his
petitions attended to in the law courts of Lucknow: for it
was well known that an wrzee gsent by a soldier, through his
Commanding Officer, who forwarded it on to the Resident
Saheb ir Lucknow, generally had prompt attention paid to it,

- and carried more weight than even the bribes and party interest
of a mers subject of the Nawab.

5. Shortly after my parents had been informed of my
desire to take service with the Company Bahadoor, my uncle
left them to proceed to his own home, about 25 coss! off; and
although my mother never expressed any wish for him to pay
another visit when he was about to return to his regiment on the
expiration of his furlough, he told her he intended to do o,
and that he should take mec with him if T were still in the
same mind.

I walked the first few miles with him on his journey, and
made him tell me ull about the service I wished to enter, over
and over again.

! Kos, properly a measure equal to about two miles, i8 anything
from a mi.e to two and a half miles; a ¢ nilo and & bittock ’.—Ed,
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6. Upon my return home, I had to sustain the united
attacks of the Pundit and my ‘mother: they tried every
inducement to make me give up the idea; my mother even
cursed the day her brother had set foot in our house. But all
they could get from me was, that I would think over the mats-
ter. So Idid, and every day became more and more determined
to follow my uncle. I now felt idle, and did very little else
than learn to wrestic or play with the sword sticks, and conse-
quently neglected my father’s fields, which caused me to fall
under his displeasure. However, a threat from him that I
should never be allowed to see my uncle again, had the effect
of bringing me a little to my senses; and my father had no
oceasion to find fault with me afterwards.

7. The months passed away, and the rainy season had
ended, and I was engaged in cubbing sugar-cane, with my back
towards the road, when I was called by name by some one on
a pony. I soon recognized my uncle, and flew to his embrace.
After inquiries for my father and mother, he asked me if I
wished to be a soldier still, and looked pleased when I an-
swered, 8o decidedly, ‘“ Yes.’” He told me I was a koob-jewan !
(fine young fellow), and that I should go with him. My uncle
remained a few days at our house, during which time, having «
my father to back him up; he in ameasure succeeded in bringing
my mother to think it was my destiny to be a soldier, and her
fate to part with her son. The Pundit was requested to look
at my horoscope,? and discover the lucky day for my depar-
ture; which he informed us, in the evening, would be at six
o'clock in the morning of the fourth day from that, if no
thunder was heard during the period.? How anxiously T
watched the clouds those four days—how I prayed to Narain,
and Indur.* And in the evening of the third day, when some

1 KEhab jowdn. In Urdu, k#b is properly an adverb only.—Ed.

¢ JunwmPutra.—Tr,

§ Untimely thunder renders a journey inauspicious,—-¥Ed,

¢ Gods of the Rain, Clouds, otc.—7'r. Nardyan is the supreme god
and Indra is the god of Clouds, Storms, ete,—Hd.
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dark clouds came up, ¥ was in despair lest rain should fall, and
fate be against me.

8. TDwleep the Pundit, who really loved me, gave me lots
of advice and made me promise never to disgrace my junao
(Brahminical thread); he also gave me a tabeez,! or charm,
in which was some dust a thousand Brahmins had trod at holy
Prag (Allahabad); and he assured me this charm was so
powerful, that as long as I kept it no harm conld ever be-
fall me. He bestowed on me likewise a book of our holy
poems. My father bought me a pony, but gave me no money,
as he congidered I was now under my uncle’s care, and that
he could well support me.

9. The morning ¢ame, unclouded; it was the 10th day of
Kartik 1812 Esawe? (10th October 1812), and at 6 o’clock
I and 1ay unecle left my home, to enter what was to me an
unknown world. Just before starting, my mother violently
kissed 1ne, and gave me six gold mohurs (about one hundred
rupees), sewn in a cloth bag: but being impressed with the
idea that it was her puralubd ® (fate) to part with me, she
uttered no words, but moaned piteously. My worldly pro-
perty, when T left home, consisted of my pony, my bag of
ashrafecs,* a lota and string, three brass dishes, one iron
dish and spoon, two changes of dress, a smart turban, a
dagger of the kind called bickwa,® and a pair of shoes. My
uncle’s baggage exceeded mine considerably, and was rolled
up in & large bundle, which was carried by a coolie ¢ from
village to village. This poor man considered himself amply
rewarded for his day’s work by our giving him whatever bread
was over at the daily meal.

[ Tq‘ui;.AEd.

2 Seetaram must have made gomo error here; 1814 perhaps he means,
as he says he was sevonteen yoars of age.—1Tr.

8 Pralubh, a corruption of prarabdh, ., - previous actions.”’ — Ed.

4 dshrafi, a gold coin.--Ed.

& Bichil,é or bichhawa, ete., lit. a scorpion.— Ed.

6 Quli, T.—Id.
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CHAPTER II.

10. My uncle and myself went cne march in the morning,
and during the heat of the day rested under some tree ; in the
evening we went the same distance. For the night, wo always
put up at a serai, if possible. On the third day we arrived at a
village by name Dersungpore,! where two sepoys of my uncle’s
regiment joined us whose time of furlough was up. One was
named Tillukdaree Gheer,” the other Deonarain.? They ap-
peared delighted to meet my uncle, and treated him with great
respect. Deonarain was accompanied by his younger
brother, who was going for nokree (service); and as these all
had tulwars, and Tillukdaree a short kind of gun, called shere-
ka-bucha * (young tiger), wolooked a rather formidable party,
and felt secure against dacoits and thngs, who then infested
the roads.

11. In the course of three or four days, a party of musi-
cians came up with us, and begged to be allowed to join us,
for the sake. of protection. It consisted of two men with
dools or drums, four men with sitars (a kind of fiddle), two
men with jals ® (small brass cymbals), and one with a sang ®
(a long trumpet). They informed us that they were on their
way to attend a marriage festival at o town which lay on our
road.

12. For several days everything went on smoothly, and the
musicians enlivened our march by playing pretty airs; but
during the night of the fourth day, my uncle happening to
be awake, discovered that all these musicians had collected
together, and were in some earnest debate, speaking in a low
tone of voice, and in a tongue which he did not understand.
Alarmed at what he saw, he immediately roused the other
sepoys, and told them he believed these musicians were in

1 Darsanpiir.— Ed.
2 Tilakdhari Gir.—Ed. 3 Deo Narayan.—FEd.
+ A blunderbuss, supposed by the natives to strew bullets by giving it
a sweep when in the act of firing.—T'r.
. b Talr—Ed. 8 Sankh, s conch ?—Ed.
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reality thuga, He then appointed one of our party to watch
them whilst the rest of us again laid down to sleep.

13. Tae next morning my uncle told the musicians that he
was obliged to go long marches, and therefore they would not
be able to keep up with us. They, however, implored to be
allowed 1o follow our party, and at the same time expressed
great fear of being robbed on the road. But my uancle
marched very early the next morning, leaving them behind.
We went some eight miles on the straight road, and then
branched off by a side path, intendiug to join the main road
again some thirty miles further on.

14. Four more days passed without any matter of moment.
At the svening’s halting place on the fourth day, we were
joined by a party of some twelve men, carrying bundles of
ringals 1 (a kind of bamboo used for pipe stems). These men
begged 10 be allowed to join us for protection, as the musi-
cians had done. In the morning, when it was light, I fancied
one of these men was remarkably like one of the former party,
and meationed this to my uncle, who went to them and
entered mto conversation. . But their langunage was different to
that of the munsicians, their clothes were very dirty, and they
looked like coolies. Still he wag on his guard, and appointed
one of the sepovs to keep awake, and watch the movements of
these people.

15, During the night, when we halted, I could not go to
sleep for a long time, as 1 fancied these men also were thugs.
However, in spite of endeavours to keep awake, I did fall
asleep, but was shortly afterwards roused by a noise like a
cock near us, I raised myself, and in a moment one or two of
these men were by the side of the sleepers. I shouted loudly,
and my uncle jumped up with his tulwar drawn, and made a
rush among them; but although this was the work of a
moment, still these fiends had managed to strangle, with a
silk cord, the brother of Deonarain, and had rendered
Tillukdaree senseless. He was just saved by my uncle, who

I Ringal.—Ed.
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cut down the man standing over him. The other men dis-
appeared in an instant, leaving their bundles of sticks on the
ground. However, in this short space of time, those thugs had
managed to get my uncle’s gold beads, worth Rs. 250, and the
short gun of Tillukdaree, who was asleep instead of watching.

16. Afterwards we went to the village just outside which
this occurred, and roused up the whole population, but no one
showed the least inclination to tollow the bloodthirsty murdet-
ers, We passed the remainder of the night inside the village,
having brought the dead body of Deonarain’s brother there
also. In the morning we found the pipe-sticks still there, and
my unecle sold them to a tobacco merchant for Rs. 46, not
however without having a great-altercation with the Lumbardar
(head man) of the placo, who made great endeavours to prove
that they belonged to him, by right of their having heen left
on his ground.

17. We remained a whole day at this place to perform
Kireu-Kirum! (the funeral rites) for poor Ramdeen, Deo-
narain’s brother. We were, fo the latter’s great comfort, a
few miles only from holy Gunga, and he had the satisfaction of
seeing the priest cast the ashes into itg stream, and thus secure
Ramdeen rest in Luchmee Niwds® {(the Hindoo Heaven).
Tillukdaree was so weak from the effect of the thugs’ cord
round his throat, that he was obliged to hire an e¢kke (native
gig), and we proceeded, now a mournful party, on our way.

18. My unecle now allowed no parties of any kind to join us,
although several begged hard to do so, as they saw we were
armed. During the remainder of our journey, nothing took
place, that I remember, worth mentioning, until we arrived at
Akbarabad (Agra), where my uncle’s regiment was then
stationed, and at which place we arrived on the 14th Novem-
ber. When we came near the lines, we met several sepoys of his
regiment going down to the river Jumna to bathe. 'They all
embraced him, and, before we arrived at the lines, some thirty

1 KyiyG karamis a general term for * rites and ceremonies,’’—Ed.
2 Lachkmi Nivas.—Ed.
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men of his company came running out to meet him, and asked
a thousarnd questions. My uncle went to his own house, which
had been kept clean and neat by a havildar, who had lived in
it during his absence.

19.  After bathing, and eating the morning meal, he dressed
in his full regimentals, and went to pay his respects to the
Adjutant Saheb and the Commanding Oificer. He took me
with hini. I rather dreaded this, as I had never yet zeen a
Saheb, and imagined they were terrible to look on, and of
great stature—I thought atb least seven feet high.

20. In those days there were but few Sahiebs in Gude—only
one or two Saheb Residents in Lucknow, where 1 had never
been. In the villages in my country, most curious ideas existe
ed abour, them : any cne who had chanced to sec a Saheb told
the most absurd stories of them. [n fact, nothing then could
be said that would not havebeen believed. [t was reported
they were born from an ege which grew on a tree. This idea
still exists in remote villages. Had a Mem Saheb! come
suddenly into some of our villages, if she was young and hand-
some, she would have been considered as a kind of fairy, and
most probably have heen worshipped ; but shounld the Mem
Saheb nave been old and ugly, the whole village would have
ron away, and have hid in the jungle, considering the apparition
as a yuddoo gurin* (a witch). Therefore my dread of seeing a
Saheb for the first time in my life is not to be wondered
at.

21, I remember, when I was at a meld (fair) at the Taj
Mahal at Agra, hearing the opinion of some country-people who
had come from afar off to see the Taj, about the Saheb log.
An old woman said she had always been told they were born
from eggs, which came on a tree, in a far-off island, but that
morning she had seen a Saheb with a puré ® by his side, who she
declared was covered with feathers of the most beautiful

! Enylish lady.—2'r,
2 Jadd garni, a female magician.—Hd.
8 Pari, fairy. —HKd.
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colours, that her face was as white as milk,! and that the
Saheb had to keep his hand on her shoulders to prevent her
flying away. This she had seen with her own eyes, and it was
all true. I am not so ignorant as all this now, but at the time
I first came to Agra, I should have believed it. I afterwards
frequently saw this Saheb driving his lady about, and she wore
a tippet made of peacock’s feathers, which the old woman
thought were wings,

22, We went to the Adjutant’s house, which was four times
a8 big as the Lumbardar’s house in my village. The Adjutant
was in the verandah, with a long stick, measuring young men,
who were recruits, He was very young, not so tall as myself,
and had no whiskers or moustache. His face was quite
smooth, and looked more like a woman's than a man’s. This
was the first Saheb I had ever seen, and he did not impress me
with much awe, and I could not imagine that he could be
much of a Rustoom ? with his sraooth face; for among us, this
is looked on as a disgrace—in fact, the smooth-faced soldier is
the butt for many jokes. However, he banged these young

~men’s heads against the wall in o manner that showed he had
no fear, and from their frightened looks 1 believe they thought
he was going to kill them.

23.  After he had finished this measuring, he took notice of
my uncle, and to my surprise, spoke in my own language. He
seemed glad to see him, asked after his welfare, touched his
sword,® and then asked who I was. Upon being informed that
I had come for service, and was a relation, he told my uncle
to go with me to the Doctor Saheb, to whom he wrote a
letter. How surprised T was at the rapidity with which he
wrote; for in less time than I could have put water to the
ink ¢ and written one line, he had filled a page, which he then

! Chaprasis, ete,, will atill demand milk from villages ‘¢ for the s8hib’s
bath,”’ —Ed,

2 The Hindoo personification of bravery.—7r. Rustam is the Persian
Hercules.—Hd,

8 A ceremony of salutation.—7'r,

4 Indian ink ?—Fd.
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doubled np and gave to my uncle, and we went to the Doctor
Saheb’s house.

24. This was still bigger than the Adjutant’s. My unocle
told me this Saheb was married, and had several child ren. The
Saheb was at home, and we were ordered into his presence, A
chair was given to my uncle, but he took no notice of me, so I
sat on the ground, My unecle made me stand up, and after-
wards told me it was bad manners before a Saheb to sit down.
After reading the note, the Doctor ordered me to atrip; but I
was so ashamed, T could not move, for there was a Mem Saheb
in the room. She was sitting at a table covered with a sheet,
feeding vwo children with eggs-——those unclean things.! Ibegan
to repent having followed my uncle, and remembered the warn-
ing of the pundit about being defiled.  However, I was ordered
sharply to take my clothes off, and both the little white chil-
dren began——** Papa says you are to take your clothes off, don’t
you hear—donkey, pig, owl?’> And the Doctor Saheb said 1
was a fool and a jungle man.  Then the children said—¢Oh!
mammsa, is he covered with hair 2’ T was fairly abashed, and
ran into the verandah for very shame, My uncle then came to
me, arxl told me not to fear; no harm would be done me. The
Doctor then pushed me into an empty room, and examined me,
by thrusting his hand into my stomach, which nearly made me
sick; opening my eyelids with such violence as made the fears
come into my eyes; and thumping my chest. After this, he
pronounced me all right and sound, and left off tormenting me,
to my great delight.

25. My uncle now went to pay his respects to the Colonel
Sahieb. We were kept standing outside for an hour, and then
ordered to approach. I was now in such a state of alarm, not
knowing what next might be done to me, that my legs quite
trembled, I fancied that the Commander Saheb must be ter-
rible to look at: he commanded one thousand men; his wish
was law. What was my surprise, when I saw an old man, very

I Fowls and their eggs are unclean to all Hindus. Water-fowl and
their ezgs are not unclean except to Brahmins.—Ed.
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short and stout, without a hair on his head or face, and with
skin of a bright red colour. He was smoking a magnificent
kooka. He got up to welcome my uncle, and, after I was
introduced, spoke very kindly to me, told me to be a good boy,
and imitate my uncle in evervthing. I have said this was the
first time in my life I had ever seen any Sahebs. 1 had now
seen three ; how different they were to my ideas of them! I could
not believe that they were so brave; for they were all smaller
than my uncle, and did not look half as strong. What a
number of curious things they had in their houses, the uses of
which I had not the remotest idea of: in one corner of the
Colonel’s room was a table full of glass cups of all sorte and
sizes, in another a stand with seven or eight guns. The walls
were all hung round with heads of animmals—-tigers, barasingers,
antelope, and other deer. = The Salieb had a tight blue coat on,
buttoned up to the throat with big brass buttons, and two
lumps of what I then thought were gold on his shoulders, He
had white pantaloons on, and long black boots with golden
tassels on either side. But althongh I was not struck with his
size or strength, still there was something in his eyes I shall
never forget—they were like those of a biz' (hawk), and
seemed to look through and through one. When we left, my
uncle informed me that the Colongl was a renowned shikaree
(sportsman), a regular Nowsherwan?® (a man who has killed
nine tigers).

26. In a few days I was sent to begin my drill. That day 1
shall always remember—for is it not impressed on my mind ?
The parade ground was covered by parties of six or eight men,
doing the most extraordinary movements 1 had ever seen,’and
the orders were given in a language not one word of which did

I Bz, v ulgarly eny hawk, is properly tho female goshawlk, the male
being called jurra.

2 Congidered by the Natives as the height of bravery.—7'r. The Persian
king Nashirviin referred to was renowned for his justice. Sitd Ram had
evidently never heard of the king and seems to have thought the word
was & Hindi compound nau-sher-win, ‘e nine-tiger-man.”—Hd.

8 Probably the extension motions and the goose-stap,
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[ understand. I felt inclined to laugh, and was lost in astonish-
ment at the sight. However. a violent wrench of my ear by
the drill havildar brought me to my senses. I had to go to
this exercize for many months, but one day I chanced to forget
how to do something, and was so severely cuffed on the head
by the drll havildar that T became senseless, and fell down,
I complained of this to my uncle, who was very angry with the
havildar, and from that day, although he never dared strike
me again. he bullied me in every way, and abused me very
much,

Now, us I had taken great pains to learn my duties, I felt
this very much; and T had almost made up my mind to run
away. The drill havildar told the Adjutant I was mugra
(obstinate) and stupid, and that 1 should never make a soldier.

27. 1 spoke to my uncle abouat the troatment I received, and
told him I repented of ever having come with him. But he
encouraged me; and the Colonel Saheb came one day to look
at the recruits, and I managed to do my drill so as to please
him very much. He ordered the Adjutant to put me through
the whole, who, before him, said T was fitted to join the ranks.
I so longed to wear o red. coat, and to have a musket of my
own; hesides which, I had been only cight months at my drill,
and out of a gulla! (party) of 78 recruits, many of whom had
begun their drill before I came to the regiment, I was the only
one selseted to join the ranks. Few were sent to do this, ex-
cept in time of war, till they had been at drill for one year,
and ofren for longer than this even.

CHAPTER ill.

28. 1 took my place as a regular sepoy in my uncle’s com-
pany, No. 2, eight months from the day I had entered the
Sirkar’s service. Bul my annoyances did not cease heve; for
throngh some influence of the drill havildar’s, the European

1 Galia is properly s herd or flock of animals only.-—Ed,
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serjeant of my company took a dislike to me, and was continu-
ally finding fault, and getting me punished. I found out I had
never given the usual present to the drill havildar when 1 had
passed my drill, and I determined now never to do so after his
bad treatment of me. This fee was Rs. 18, some five or aix of
which went to the European serjeant of the company the
recruit was posted to. At this time there was 2 Buropean
serjeant with each company of sepoys: some of these knew our
language pretty well, and generally were very kind to us, but
many of them could not oxpress themselves, or make the men
understand their mneaning, and these sort of men had recourse
to low abuse, and were in the habit of striking the sepoys, and
cuffing them about. Numerous complaints were made to the
Adjutant, but he nearly -always took the part of the serjeant
against the sepoy, and very little or no redress at all was
obtained.

29. At first 1 found it very disagrecable woaring the red
coat; for although this was open in front, it was quite tight
under the arms. The shako was very heavy, and hurt my
bead; but it was rather handsome. After a time, I grew
accustomed to all this, but always found a great relief when 1
could wear my own Joose dress. ‘The uniform of the Saheb log
was very tight, and prevented the free use of the arms and legs.
The musket was very heavy, and for a long time hurt my
shoulder when carrying it; and the pouch belt and knapsack
were a load for a ooolie.

30. There were eight English officers in my regiment ; but
the Captain of my company was a real Saheb, like what I had
imagined all Sahebs to be. His name was Burumpeel (Blom-
field perhaps). He was six feet three inches in height, his
chest like Hunooman’s,! and his strength enormous. He used
often to wrostle with the sepoys, and when in the akhkara*
(wrestling arena) he was tho universal admiration of all the
wmen, He had learnt all the penchs (throws), and no sepoy

L Hanumdn, the Monkey god, noted for his strengih.—Ed.
* Abhlra.—Ed,
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oould ever overcome him. This officer was always known
among ourselves a8 the Pulwan ' Saheb (the wrestler). Nearly
all our officers had some name by which they were known
among oursclves: one was the ‘“ Nawab’’ Saheb; another the
“Qont’’* Saheb, because he had a long neck; another was
«Damn’’ Saheb, because he always said that word whenever he
gave an order. Some of the officers were very young—only
boys; when not on the parade ground, they were always out
hunting and shooting.

31. The Colonel Saheb had four elephants, and had parties
often to hunt the tiger. At the time I am now writing about,
tigers abounded in the jungles round Agra, and near Bhurtpore,
and on the road to Muttoora. 'These jungles now are all cleared
away, and there is not a tiger to be heard of ; but in those days

Jolonel Estuart Saheb seldom returned without two tigers.
He was well known all round, and the villagers came even
from 15 coss off to inform him where the game was, being
quite sure of getting a good reward. Nowadays the Sahebs
do not go out all day in the hot weather; but formerly they
bore the heat as well ag, if not better than, us black men.

32. Most of our officers had Hindustanee women living with
them, and these had great influence in the regiment; and they
slways pretended to have more than they really had, in order
that they might be bribed to ask the Sahebs for indulgences for
the sepoys. The sepoys themselves were sometimes instru-
mental in inducing the officers to take into their service some
of their female relations, but these were men of low caste, or
alse Mahomedans.?

33. The Sahebs then could speak our language much better
than they can now, and mixed moro with us. The officers
have now to pass (the P.,H. or P.), still they do not understand
our language so well, although they have to read books. 1

I Pahlwiin, a champion, athlete, wrestler.—Ed.

% Unt, eamol.—Ed,

8 8ita Rém, a Hindu, never loses a chance of having a hit at the
Muslims,—f@d.
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seldom have seen a Saheb who could read a book or a letter
after he had been before the committee. The only language
they learn is the low language,! which they hear from their
servants, and which is not fit to be used hefore Ameers (gentle-
men). In those days the Sahebs often gave nautches? to the
regiment, and attended all games; they had the men out with
them while hunting *—at least all those who liked to go: since
then, they seldom attend nautches, for their Padre Sahebs
have told them it is wrong, and they have done,; and still are
doing, many things to estrange the Saheb from the sepoy.
‘When 1 was a sepoy, the Captain of my company would have
some of his men at his house all day, and talked to them. Of
course many went with the-intent of gaining something for
themselves—to induce him to rezommend them to the Colonel
for promotion, or this or that appointment in the regiment;
but numbers went because they liked the Saheb, who always
treated them as if they were his own children. T am a very
old man now, and my words are true; 1 have lived to see
great changes in the Saheb log; 1 now have seen that many
officers only speak to their men when obliged, and evidently
show that it is irksome to them, and try to get rid of them as
soon as possible.  One Saheb told he never knew what to say.
The Sahebs always knew what to say, and how to say it, when
I was young. If I speak holdly, vour Lordship will grant me
pardon,

34. The lallcoates® Sahebs (the officers of the Royal
army}, since the mutiny, do not treat us in the same way they
used to do. I am fully aware of the execration my unworthy
brethren deserve for their brutal conduct during the mutiny;
but they rather deserve this from their own officers than the

1 Pajec bolee.—1'r. Properly pajiyon ki boli.-—Ed.,

2 This custom lingered on in the Panjab Frontier Force till a compara-
tively recent datoe.—Ed. )

5 Sepoys used then to keep groyhounds and hawks and many rogiments
had a bobhery pack. The custom hadnot quite died out as late as 1885.

B
4 Lal kurti, ‘ rod-coat.”—Kd.
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Royal army officers. 1 remember, even when it was well
known I was one of the {orce at the relief at Lucknow, I was
called a ¢“d—d black pig’’ by more than one Royal officer ; and
I remember, on the day when I made chuppaties for the officers
of the 131h and 41st foot, in Cabool, ** jack sepoy was a d—d
good fellow.”” T have not served forty-eight years with English
officers without knowing the meaning of all this. 1t is greatly
to be attributed to hastiness of temper;' but who can combat
against fate

35. I ulways was good friends with the linglish soldiery,
and they formerly used to treat the sepoy with great kindness.
Did we not do all their hard work? We took all their guards
in the heat; we stood sentry over their rum casks; we gave
them of our own food. Well, these soldiers are a different
caste now--neither so fine nor o tall as they were: they
seldom can speak one word of our language, except abuse;—
it they conld learn to ask for things as quickly as they learn
this, they would be apt scholars indeed. T have observed that
A new regiment, both officers and men, always abuse us black
men more than an old regiment. The 17th foot called us
bahies* (brothers); the 16th lancers never walked near our chulus
(cooking places), nor apat on our food; and we were together
tor years. I have heard it said—and once I asked a Colonel
Saheb, who could understand me a little, if it were true,—that
the Sirkar’s best soldiers were all killed by the Russ cannon.
He told me very few were killed, but that thousands died of
cold and sickness, as they did in Cabool. Still I know it was
thought, during the mutiny, that the Russ had killed all the
Sivkar’s soldiers, and that only boys could be found in Belait,
Some of thix is true, for I have seen only hoys in many red-
voated regiments of late years. ,

36. A short time after T became a regular sepoy, it was

U Julturunge~—Tr, Perhaps u corraption of jald-rangi vulgar for zid-
ranji.—Hd.
4 Bhi,.—Kd.
8 Wilayat, a foreign country, hence Kabul, hence England.—Ed.
H.5. L. 2
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talked of that the Company were going to take Nepaulfrom Amur
Singh Tappah, and our officers were full of hopes of going with
the army, which was collecting at Muttoora.! In a short time
the order came, and we marched from Agra to Muttoora in two
days, and were attached to General Gilspy’s column. There
was also another army, under General Loneyackty.? We
marched till we came to Deyra® near the hills, without seeing
the enemy ; but we heard they were all collected at Nalapanee,s
a fort on a hill. The Goorkas were always considered very
brave soldiers and their knives were much dreaded, as a touch
from one of them was certain death. Our column was ordered
to march on this fort. The road was all through deep jungle,
and several of my comrades were wounded by arrows, which
came from the jungle without any noise, and no one was ever
geen. Many of the sepoys said it was the work of jinns, and
magie. Vollies of musketry wete sometimes fired by us when
the arrows came thick; but s0 dense was the jungle that it
was never ascertained if any of the enemy were killed or
not.

37. As we neared the fort, the Brigadier Saheb ordered four
columns for the attack. These were to approach by different
roads; but the paths were go bad and steep, one coluinn came
up before the others, and was exposed to so heavy a fire, that,
leaving many dead, they had to retreat. This disheartened
the sepoys very much, and seeing the gora log (Furopeans)
running back made it worse. At this period General Gilspy
led a European regiment to the attack, and even with all his
valour (for he was real Roostum) he was two or three times
beaten back. He was on foot, and hurrahing the men on,
when in an instant he fell back dead; and then we retreated
again, my regiment covering the retreat. We fell back one
mile, and halted four or five days, until the big guns should
come up from Dethi, under Captain Hallow Saheb.

1 Mathurd.-——Ed. 2 Ochterlony. —Tr.

8 Dehra for Dehra Dun '—¥d.
4 Naliapani, three miles east of Dehra Dun 7—Ed.
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38. The walls of the fort were not very high, and the
officers of my regiment wanted to try ladders, which we soon
made of the jungle trees; hut General Maulay Saheb would not
hear of the.attempt being made, as the losses had already been
so terrible. In ‘my regiment 48 men had been killed. The
gora log lost nearly two whole companies;! still they never
became dispirited, but went again and again at the fort: they
were like voung cocks.

39. The sepoys were rather sad; but when the guns came
up, courage came into their breasts again. The walls were
battered, and great holes made, and another assault took
place: butv although we all pushed on as hard as we could —
the Europeans running up to the breaches—still we were
driven back; no one conld enter the fort. The flights of
arcows in our faces put many men in fear; more than the
matchlock balls, which could not be seen. The Mussalmans in
the ranks were more disheartened, for they said as three
attempts had failed, Allah was against them,

40. However, next morning, when a grand attack on all
sides of the fort was ordered, we advanced nearer and nearer;
and no arrows or firing coming from the place, a drummer
chokra (boy) ran up and went in, then called out that the fort
was empty. The Nepaul log had all escaped through the
jungle, without our knowing a word of it, or hearing a sound.
They took advantage of a storm which ounly lasted half an
hour. Now was the time the Enropeans were sullen, for they
were vexed that the enemy had deceived them. I escaped
without a wound but my Captain Saheb received an arrow in
the chest, and on account of the broad point it was difficult to
Le taken out, and the Doctor Saheb said the Captain would
die if it was extracted. The Saheb sunffered great pain, and in
the agony of this he pulled the head of the arrow out himself,
and froth and blood came out of the wound. He nearly bled
to death. T never cxpected to see my Captain Saheb recover.
He was so loved by the men of his own company, and in the

! 53rd Foot.—Tr.
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regiment was such a great favourite, that his absence was hard
to bear—the regiment had lost its champion, Burumpeel Saheh
was sent to England.

4}. At this time a new General came, Martaindale Saheb,
to take command. The enemy had all gone to another fort,
Zytuck Ghuree, and the army was ordered to march on that
place. Hero again the Europeans rushed on like tigers, and
fought like madmen; but we were all driven back, with consider-
able loss. My uncle was also wounded by a matchiock ball in
the knee, which gave him very great pain. T was allowed to
attend upon him in the hospital tent. The Mussalman sepoys
now all said the war was an unlucky one—it would never suc-
ceed; but my uncle said that the Saheb log and Europeans
always fought the better for being beaten at first,

42. The next day news came that the Sirkar’s army, which
had gone round by Gooruckpoor and Betia,’ had been destroyed
by the Nepaul army. The Sahebs began to look anxious; and
though our General told us ‘‘several companies had been cut
off, and not the whole army destroyed,”’ still most believed
the first news was true ; my uncle was the only one who credi-
ted the General’s account.. ‘The army now was in a sad state,
and not much fit for fighting; most of the men who had been
wounded died from green fever. |We had some 580 men dis-
abled. The people thought that the company’s ikbal (fortune)
was going away, and several Rajahs and Nawabs began to take
advantage of this feeling, aud collected forces against the
Sirkar. Our army retired to Dehra to rest a while. The
enemy did not ainoy us, for being hill men, they were afraid
to come into the open country. In a few weeks, news came
that Loneyackty Saheb had beaten Amur Tappah, and that
peace was made. Our force then marched to Saharunpore
where there was a large fort.

43. The Sirkar let Amuar Tappah go to his own country.
bocause he was a brave man. The English respect brave men,
and do not kill them. This is curious: for is not a brave man

| Betia—Ed,
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the most dangerous enemy ¢! As was expected by everyone,
from the Sirkar letting Amur Tappah go, war broke out again
in a few months, 1 could never understaud the Sahebs quite:
I have seen them spare the lives of their foes when wounded; 1
have seen one officer spare a wounded man, who shot him
through the back when he turned to go away; another Saheb I
saw spare . wounded Afghan, and even offer him some water
to drink, and the man cut the Saheb’s leg with his tulwar, so
as to lame him for life.* -¢’The wounded snake can kill as long
as life remains.”’ If your enemy is not worth killing, he is not
worth fighting with.

CHAPTER 1V.

44. My regiment was ordered fo join General Loneyackty’s
force by double marches. One night, when we were near a
place called Peithan, the alarm was sounded, and a dreadful
uproar took place in camp, which at first no one could account
for, A hord of wild elephants came and attacked our elephants,
which all broke loose, and ran among the tents, uttering dread-
ful sereains and lourd roars, upsetting numbers of tents, and
trampling to death one FRuropean soldier, and two Sahebs’
servants, The Europeans wanted to open fire on the elcphants,
hut it is was impossible to tell which were the wild ones or which
were the Commissariat ones. The officers had great difficulty
in preveating this: if it had taken place, no one could tell the
damage which might have occurred, as it was dark, and the
balls would have Kkilled numbers of our own men, without
doubt. After a while the wild elephants moved off, and quiet
was somewhat restored. The mahouts succeeded in recovering
all their elephants, except two, which were never heard of
again. I was that night on senfry, and never shall forget it:
never lad I been so frightened before, as every moment I

! At the Delhi manceuvres of 1385 some 8Bikh native officers asked the
Editor vhy the Sirkar did not seize the opportunity to imprison 4 certain

Russian general who was present there as a guest,~-Ed.
1 Captain Hopper, 31st N, I.-- 7',
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expected to be trampled on, yet dare not leave my post. My
uncle also acknowledged he was afraid, for he had not yet
recovered from his wound so as to be able to run. The ropes of
one tent became entangled with the feet of one of the elephants,
and the tent was torn down before the men could rush out.
They were enfolded in it, and dragged like fish in a net for some
way. The sides of the tent prevented the men being much
hurt, but they were frightened, as I never saw men before, and
were greatly laughed at when it was known next morning the
new way their tent had been struck. I saw the Europoan who
had been killed: his chest was broken in, and his face was
black, and the eyes nearly starting out ;-—iv was a woful sight.

45. Our column joined the other army near Cheriaghat,!
where the enemy was posted; we marched round towards
Muckwanpoorah,* and two battles were fought, in which the
Nepaul log were severely beateu, and the village of Beechakoor
taken by storm. The Nepaul people thought Katmandoo®
would be captured, as we were not more than 15 coss off, and
they sent dhawuniyas* (envoys) with flags of truce, and peace
was proclaimed. The terms of this peace were very hard, and
the Company Bahadoor took large provinces from the Nepaul
log as security, and also gave back some small places the enemy
seemed to value. This war lasted only a few weeks.

46. The Sirkar gave back his lands to Rajah Pertaub Singh,
which had been seized by the Nepaulese. As long as our gar-
risons remained at the different forts, the Rajah was ruler; but
as these were soon removed, he was again driven out of his pos-
sessions, and was obliged to fly for his life to Bettiah. I never
heard that the Sirkar gave him any assistance after this; some
people said it was not given, becanse he promised to raise a
regiment for the Sirkar and tailed to do so.

47. My regiment was after this war ordered to return to
Mattoora, but had not been there long, before it was sent to
join the large army under the Governor-General Hastings him-

1 Cherigghas.—Fd. 1 Makhanpiirg.~—Ed.

3 Kaiamundf 1—Ed. $ Dhawaniya, H., * a vunner.”’-—Hd.
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self, which was now assembling in different parts of India,
against the Pindarees—a set of mounted robbers, who seldom
fought a battle if they could by any means avoid it. but
marched about the Deccan and other provineces, and plundered
helpless towns, exacted large sums of money from the mahajuns
‘bankers), took off with them the best-looking women, and
cnt and maimed people, regardless of age and sex. No place,
no person was safe; one day this village would be looted,
another day a town 40 coss off. Sometimes a thousand horse-
men would appear before a town, and exact a sum of money;
as much as two lakhs (£20,000) have thus been carried off. 1If
the rohbers imagined, from the way this was paid (that is, if
it were got without mucl difficulty); that the place was rich;
and contained much more ready money, they would leave at a
gallop, halt twenty miles off, and then return at night, and
ioot, the place of everything of value which could possibly be
carried off on horseback; killing cvery man, woman, or child
who made the least resistance ; and very often took off the head
man, or the richest man in the town, in the hope of thus
getting a high ransom. Some exorbitant sum was generally
demanded, and the feelings of his relations played on by send-
ing in his cars, his fingers, or hands, with threats that if the
ransom was not quickly paid the head would be sent
next.

48.  Hindoostan was at this time tormented by demons from
the lowesi hill. 1 cannot describe the horrors of those days:
Ram, Ram, Seetaram—may they never come again! The very
uame of Pindaree, or of (heetoo,' their Chief, was accursed.
Merchants trembled when they heard it ; young women wept ;—
no one felt safe. These robbers were composed of many kinds
of people; and young men of. noble family, but of no wealth,
joined thom; but they were chiefly men from Southern India.
‘These Pindarees always bribed the big Rajahs or Nawabs, and
many of them also shared their loot, even when it was plunder
taken from towns or villages of the Rajah himself. When sore

1 Chita.—Ed,
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pressed, those robbers could always find shade in some territbry
friendly to them.

49. 1 now considered myself an experienced soldier, as 1
had suffered defeats, and had helped to win victories: T had
served with Sahebs, and white soldiers; and, in my opinion,
the reason that the English are invincible is, they do not care
for defeat : four times have I seen a Enropean regiment driven
back with terrible slaughter, vet their fifth attack was as fierce
as the first. A wonderful thing is, they do not get in confusion
when their leader is killed —another officer takes his place. and
the men oboy him just the same.  Now, in a Native army, if
the Sirdar or leader is killed, the whole army falls into con-
tusion, and generally takes to flight. -the men will not follow
the next leader. And the chief reason for this great difference
i, the Rajahs or Nawabs genevally fight for their own henefit,
and they collect all the plunder in their own fosnhkunns! (cof-
fers), to spend upon themselves and their favourites alone, not
for the good of their subjects; so of course the people do not
care about the war, any further than by it there is the chance
of goetting plunder, or of rising to power. Another reason is,
fow Princes of Hindoostan ever regularly pay their troops, and
when an army is allowed to pay itself by plunder, there can be
no real discipline, although every individual may he brave.
Princes seldom grant pensions to the famifies of those killed in
their service, and care but little about the soldier when once lie
is disabled and of no further use to them. The Sirkar’s officers
fight, but their whole object is not plunder alone —-the strict
rules of the army prevent this to any great extent ; they receive
their pay regularly, and they feel sure they will get it: also
that if their kismut ({ate) is, that they are to be wounded, they
will still be cared for, and oftentimes rewarded.

50, As to the white soldiers, T hardly know what they love
fighting so mneh for, nnless it he for grog ; they would fight
ten battles running for vne lota full of doroo? (spirit). Their

Tosha khina.  Ed. 2 Dari, --BEd.
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pay is nothing: it cannot be for that. They also love plunder,
hut T have seen white soldiers give a cap full of rupees for one
bottle of brandy. 1 have been told that the Belaitee hakeems
(English doctors) have discovered some essence, which is put
in the European soldiers’ grog, and that great care has to be
taken nos to pat too mueh in, or the men would all kill them-
selves in battle by rashness. 1 know water has always to be
mixed with their spirit,! although they themselves do not know
it, Whenever I have seen them discouraged ov fighting with-
out heart, it was always when they were deprived of their
usual allcwance of spirit. The Sikh soldiers who drink English
liquor say they have no fear when they can get ration rum, but
that the country spirit burns-up their livers and makes them
fools, not hrave. I amsure there must be some sort of umrif
panee (water of life) in it, a3 I have seen men wounded, and all
but dead, come to life again after having some given them. Be
this as it may, there is something very extraordinary init, I am
certain, because I know Kuropean soldiers worship it, give their
lives for it, and loge their lives by it. 1 have spoken to Doctor
Sahebs about the subject, and they themselves told me it was
in their own langnage called water of fire, water of life, etc.

51. My regiment was ordered to join the headquarters of
the burra lad?® (Marquis of Hastings), and we proceeded by
forced murches into Bundelkund, There was a very large
army, at least one lakh of soldiers. The work the troops had
to perforn: was very severe, marching and counter-marching in
8 country where there were no roads. News came of a body of
Pindarees being here one day, there the next; detachments
were sent after them to try and cut them off, but seldom with
success, '[he movements of the army may be compared to a
game of sutrunj? (chess).

! The rum supplied to British troops is, or was, above proof and it
was the dutyv of the orderly officer, on the march, to ses that the proper
amount of water was added.~- Kd.

2 Bara Liit, Viceroy, and (hhota Lit, o Lient.-Governor.— Ed.

3 Shatran. . —Ed.
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52. One day, however, we by accident came upon a large
body of the enemy, who had just dismounted, and were in as
perfect ignorance of our approach as we were of their being
near. We got close enough to deliver several vollies, but they
were off at full gallop down places a foot-soldier dare not go,
Some thirty or forty were killed and wounded, and several
horses captured.

53. My company was sent after some of them who were dis-
mounted, and whilst running after one man my foot caught in
a bush, and I was thrown headlong down a steep ravine, and
remained quite stunned at the bottom. When I came to my.
self again, I saw a man with a matchlock taking aim at me,
not twelve yards off. I covered him with my musket, but
taubak ! tgubah ! (alas! alas!) the flint had been knocked out by
my fall, and of course the musket would not go off. The
Pindaree got round me, and fired down on me, sending a bullet
into my back near the left shoulder. T rolled down further
into the ravine, and remember nothing until it was quite dark,
when I awoke with a burning thirst, and found myself covered
with blood, not only from the wound, but from the thorns
which had lacerated me. My face and hands were dreadfully
cut. I was unable to move, and lay there till dawn in terrible
pain. I then managed to crawl up the bank, but was so ex-
hausted I fell backwards again. This made my wound bleed
afresh. However, this loss of blood did not weaken me so
much as T expected. T dragged myseli a little further, and 1
now began to think death was near, as my thirst was madden-
ing.

54. Just as I had given up all hopes of life, the tinkle of a
cattle bell struck on my ear, and this sign of life in this desert
place gave me fresh vigour. In about an hour or so I came up
to a herd of buffaloes under the care of a boy and a girl, who,
the instant they saw me, disappeared in the thick jungle,
although I called to them in the name of Bughwan (God) to

! An unusual expression for & Brahmin of Oudh. He ought to bave
said Ram ! Ram !-—Ed.
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give me some water. In about an hour, the girl appeared
again, and seeing L could not walk, came nearer. I spoke to
her, but all she answered was “ Haw hau!’’' 1 could not under-
stand her, nor she me. I tried to make her know I wanted
water by every sign I could think of, and at last she seemed to
understand . and pointed to a tree. I crawled to this tree, and
there was w small kutcha? well, from which the water for the
cattle was drawn. She drew me some, which I drank; but it
was warm snd bitter, like medicine. However, it gave wmelife,
and I washed my wound as well as I could. It was no use
talking to vhe girl, as we could not understand each other; so
[ endeavoured to make my meaning known by signs; but she
became frightened, and ran off apgain into the jungle,

55. 1 luid near this well all that day, and in the evening
four men came, evidently sent by the girl, as they approached
me with great caution. After a great deal of bukka bukke?
(jabbering), they led me to the village, which consisted of a few
huts made of hranches of trees, and thatched over with broad
leaves, They were not unkind to me, but I could not eat their
food, as they were men of low caste; their ccoupation appeared
to be iron smelters. I managed to make one of them point out
the road, and 1 inquired where the Sirkar’s army was. 1
understood him to say it had moved a long way off, but in
which dirsction I could not make out. T remained with these
people two days, and subsisted on some dried chuppaties I had
in my bag, with some mitk T was allowed to draw myself.

56, The third day one of the men led me to a beaten track,
and pointed to a large tree some coss off, and also to both sides
of the road ; at the same time making a motion like arrows fly-
ing from a how—which I took to be a warning to look out for
my life. I found a thin piece of white stone which gave out
sparks, and fixed it'in my musket; but I was too weak to have
fired it, so that in spite of iy weapons I was quite defenceless.
I offered the man one rupee, but he shook his head, and pointed

L Yes, yes. -T'r, Vorhaps Afin Adn.- 0d,
2 Kackeha. —Ed. 4 Vulgar for bak bak.—HEd.
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to his stomach, and made signs which I understood to mean
that the money would not pass in that country. I think, from
what 1 afterwards found out, these men were afraid of having
any of the Sirkar’s money in their possession, as in those days,
had it been known, it would have been quite enough to hring
the vengeance of the Pindarees on them, which was so fright-
ful, that those poor wretches, in a far-off jungle, dare not do
anything to annoy them in any way.

57. The men left me on the road, and I made for the large
tree and by help of my muskoet crawled along.  But I proceeded
very slowly, as the pain in my chest was so great. I was at-
tacked with a cough, and spat up clots of blood ; which fright-
ened me so much, that I gave up all hopes of life. Towards
evening, I reached the tree, under which was a large tomb, and
an attendant byragee! (or fakeer). He addressed me in my own
language, to my great delight, although it was to tell me to go
away and not trouble him. I lay down near him, and related
my tale of distress, and his heart bezan to soften towards me;
but he informed me that if the Pindarees saw me, or knew that
he had rendered a sepoy of the Sirkar’s any assistance, they
would spear both him and myself. - He made me a poultice of
neem leaves and washed my wound, which gave me great relief.
My being a Brahmin, also, had great effect on him. He hid
my uniform and musket in the jungle, and sprinkled me with
mirtika? (red ochre). From the position which he had chosen
for his arsun3 (seat), he was enabled to see a good way up and
down the road; so, when any one approached, I had time to
conceal myself. Besides a few herds of cattle, and their keepers,
no one came near the place for five days. 1 could move a little
now, but the ball had lodged in the muscles of my back, and
the wound began to suppurate, giving me great pain.

58. On the sixth day, a cloud of dust was seen in the dis-

1 Bairdgi is o Hindu ascetic who has renounced the world.—Fd.,

2 Mirtika@, H., dried and powdered earth, generally from the (langes:
't is used for sprinkling. — Fd.

8 Asan.—Hd.
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tance, moving quicker than it usually does when raised by
cattle.” The fakeer bade me hide inside the tomb, which had a
large slab of stone at its mouth, all covered with mirtika. I
crept in, and wags nearly suffocated, although the sides of the
tomb had small open spaces in them. But my life depended
upon my being peirfectly quiet. In a few minutes a party of
about thirty horsemen came up, and asked for water, and then
questioned the fakeer if he had seen any Feringhees, or their
sepoys, or any of their own people. His answers appeared to
satisfy them, for they dismounted, and began to preparc some
food they had brought with them.

539, They now entered into conversation with the fakeer,
and told him how they were hemmed in on every side, and
chased here and there, like leeturs ! (partridges); that they had
come forty. coss since the day before, and that it was their in-
tention to join their leader, Kurrecem, who was going to take
refuge in the Gwalior tereitory. They also.said their numbers
were much reduced, for at first they had amounted to near two
lakhs, but that now they were dwindled down to some few
thousauds ; that their leaders had deserted them in the hour of
peril, and Cheetoo and Kurreemn were hoth seeking their own
safety in flight. Two of their party then came and laid * down
on the shady side of the tomb, land I was in terrible dread that
they might hear me move or breathe.  As the sun became hot,
the inside of the tomb was like a bread oven—what I suffered
was nearly as bad as death; but about mid-day, to my great
relief they mounted again, and told the fakeer that «“ Teekum-

ghur’’

was the password to give any of their party who might
come thar way, and they disappeared in the jungle. After
waiting half an hour, T came out of my living tomb, more dead
than alive. How [ thanked the great Sita that T was preserved
from death!

60. Two days more passed, and another cloud of dust was
seen coming the opposite way. T ran into the tomb again; but

this time it was the Company Bahadoor’s sowars, and when I

1 Tuar, the grey partridge. —Ed,
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heard them talking about the Lad Saheb, and General Esmith
Saheb (Smith), I knew I was safe, and came out of the tomb,
and made myself known to the Russaldar commanding the
party, who at first would not helieve my story, until the fakeer
brought my uniform and musket out of the jungle. They gave
me a tattoo to ride on, and bidding farewell to my kind pro-
tector, and leaving three rupees in his gourd, [ went on with
them.

61. It chanced that this party belonged to a corps which
was with my column, and in three days I was in the arms of
my uncle, who mourned me as dead. [ had been absent
thirteen days, and no one in my company knew anything about
me. Some said they had seen my body, others said 1 had been
captured by the Pindarees. . Twas so weak, thin, and exhausted,
[ had to goto hospital, and the Colonel Saheb came often to see
me, and hear my story ; and the other officers were very kind.

62. The Doctor Saheb cut the ball ont of my back, and I
vomited a quantity of blood, which gave me great relief. Every
day now [ got better and stronger, but L could not bear the shock
of a musket, and was of no use as a fighting man; so I was
made the Colonel’s orderly till such time as 1 could be sent
home. By this I escaped carrying w musket and taking sentry
duty. The Adjutant Saheb, who had never heen very friendly
to me before, now hecame very kind to me. He told me he was
very much pleased that, after all my sufferings, L had not los:
my musket and ammunition, but brought them back all safc.
Tt is true this may have been the reason but T think being
taken so much notice of by the Colonel Saheb and the other
officers, had something to do with his sudden alteration of be.
haviour towards me,

CHAPTER V.
63. In this Pindaree war, it was remarkable that the enemy
always posgessed much better information as to the movements

of the Sirkar’s army than the Sirkar did of theirs; any move-
ment, on our part, if it was conducted with the utmost secrecy
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even, was immediately known by the enemy. Spies were plenti-
fully employed on our side, and were allowed to help themselves
out of a Jarge bag of rupees, when they gave truthful informa-
tion—which, however, was very rare. I feel certain they al-
ways informed the enemy of our proceedings, and only told of
a party of Pindarees being near after they had warned them of
the approach of our force; consequently they had always time
to escape. The troops would march with all speed on the place
the enemy were reported to be at: it was always true enough
the Pindarees had been there; all the villagers bore witness to
thig, and the spies got the credit of being very good ones;—but
there iz one thing certain, the enemy never were at the spot
when the Sirkar’s troops arrived.. Whenever our army did fall
in with the enemy, it was by mere accident, and when no in-
formation whatever had been given, or when the spies asserted
there were no Pindarees within twenty coss.

64. I should have thought that everyone would have been
glad to have given assistance to the Sirkar, in order to help
them to exterminate these low-bred hounds : but such was not
the case; and numbers of Rajahs and Princes gave them assist-
ance, some openly, some by stealth.  All the people of Bundel-
kund ware in their cause. This was not wonderful ; for if they
only had horses, they would all have been Pindarees also-—a
Boondela being, if possible, a greater villain, and lover of plun-
der, than a Mahratta, It used to perplex the Generals and
Colonels to hear that a body of these robbers had found refuge
in the territories of some Rajah, two of whose towns it wus
well known these men had looted a few days before; but I have
explained the reason of this already.

65. Detachments marched at all hours of the night, with-
out knowing which road they were to take, and the guides were
then ordered to show the way to such and such a place. These
men, unless the eye of a bz (hawk) was always on them, general-
ly managed to escape in some dense part of the jungle, like wild
animals ; or when some Saheb, more clever than another, had
the guides led by a rope, these men always showed the wrong
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" road, or pretended not to understand what was said to them.
Shooting them had no effect in preventing this; their sympa-
thies were with the robbers, and they hated the Sirkar. Ihave
heard also, that the frightful punishments the Pindarees inflict-
ed on any one they suspected of giving information or assist-
ance to their enemies, was one reason : burning the eyes out with
a» heated spear blade, cutting the ears, nose, and lips off, and
other horrible mutilations, were the comunon modes of revenge.
We sepoys hated them most cordially, and from our being ser-
vants of the Sirkar, they never spared us.

66. At this time the fortunes of these robbers seemed to
rise a little again, as wo heard that the Sirdars of the Mahratta
army had agreed to help them: but the ickbal (fortune) of the
Company Sirkar was itresistible; the Mahratta army was
beaten on the Tipra'! Nuddee, near Ogjein, a long way from
where we were. The newsdoon spread all over Bundelkund, and
bands of Pindarees were flying in small parties over the country.
They tried to get into Maharajah Scindia’s territories near
Rawmpoora, * but they were meb at several placesand cut up; be-
sides which, numbers of their former friends now left them,
When they saw the Sirkar victorious everywhere, and they
could not count upon information now as formerly, their fear
was like that of the deer before the cheeta. Kureem was de-
feated, and at last he gave himself up to a General Saheb ;
and Cheetoo, the other Chief, ran off into the deep jungles, and
it is said was killed by a snake.’

67. 'The power of these robbers was now completely broken,
and the name of the Company Bahadoor became great. After
this, the columns of the army broke up, and my battalion was
sent to Ajmeer ; but I was attached to a regiment returning to
Agra, and got permission to visit my home for six months on
sick leave.

68. During this campaign, not more than twenty men were

L Sipri ?-—Hd. 2 Rampar.—-Ed.
3 ¢ Hig mangled body was found in & tiget’s lair with his sword and a
letter.cagse full of, papers ; vide Heber Lectures, vol. ii, p. i51.—Ed.
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killed in my regiment, but one hundred and eighty died of
hijah! (cholera) and fever, and nearly one hundred more were
‘ruined in health, and only fit to go to their homes. Of the
camp followers, servants, ete., it was said seven hundred died
of this Aéjas, which was a new disease and had not been seen
in these parts previously. The Europeans and Sahebs also
died of it, and their Doctor Sahebs never had seen it before,
and knew no cure for it. It was more deadly than small-pox,
and a direful disease.

69. I arrived, with the regiment 1 was attached to, all safe
at Agra, where 1 bought a tattoo for eleven rupees, and, in com-
pany with four or five other sepoys, who had got leave also, I
set off for my village. I reached my home early one morning
before it was light, and waited outside till daybreak. When
ray mother came out to draw water, I called to her, but she
did not know me in the least, for during the four or five years
1 had been absent, I had grown from a boy into a man, I had
also whiskers and moustaehe,* and considered myself rather a
Landsome sepoy. My mother seemed so alarmed when I spoke
to her, that I also became frightened ; but, afterwards, my
father told me that my uncle had written home to say I had
been killed, so my mother thought at first it was my bhoo!
(ghost).

70. My father now came out of his house, and I had the
pleasure of finding none of my relations had died during my
absence ; everything was just the same as when I left home. I
had also the satisfaction of experiencing what sook? (ease) was
for the first time for many months, I rapidly became better
in health, and I had my ambition gratified by sitting on the
same chubootra (seat in front of a house) where my uncle had
sat, and of telling my own stories and escapes to a crowd of the
villagers of an evening, who came to listen and gossip, as they
had done before, when my uncle was there. I soon became
a man of some importance in my village. The old Pundit was

} Haiza.—HAd. 2 Indians develop very rapidly.—Ed.
3 Sukh, the opposite of dukh. —Ed.
HS. L 3
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also alive, and his greetings were most hearty, and he prided
himself on the power of the charm he had given me when
I first left home.

71. My mother, during my abaence, had arranged a lugun'
(betrothal) between wne and the daughter of & zemindar (land-
holder; a sort of head farmer). You must know, my Lord,
that this is done by our parents, and that, until the night of
our marriage we are not allowed to see the faces of our wives.
[ did not much wish to be married while 1 remained a soldier;
but it was my fate, 20 what conld I do? The Pundit fixed the
haicky day, which was six months off. During this time 1
frequently tried to got a glimpse of my wife. 1 asked her
dhaee* (nurse) about her; but all the information 1 got was
that her neck was like a dove’s; her eyes like « deer's, her feet
like the lotus leaf and that she was consumed with love for me;
and with this 1 must rest satisfied. 1 never saw ler, except
once, when she got into a ruth ? (bullock carriage); but this was
a distance, and her face was not visible. My mother and the
Pundit told me my wife’s dueja® (marriage portion) was quite
sufficient for me to live on, and that I need remain a servant
.of the Company Bahadoor’s no longer, and she uearly per-
suaded me to write to my uncle and get my discharge. My father
was not 8o anxious for my marriage, because the nikelana
(marriage fees to the pricst) would cost him so much money,
and he also did not wish me to leave tho service yet, as the
lawsuit about the mango plantation had not been settled, and
he was very anxious, now 1 had come home, that I should be
his mooktear ® (agent) in the court, as, from my being in the
Sirkar’s service, it would give me superiority over the other
claimant, who was now urging his suit.

72. 1 employed my time, as formerly, in attending to my
tather’s farm, and my wound very soon healed ; but whenever

| Lagan is an wsuspicious point of time, snd hence the ceremony of
tixing the date of marriage of the bridegronm’s party. —Ed.

2 Dajg.—Hd.

5 Rath, s bullock-carringe and also a war-chariot.—kd.

¢ Deja or davja.—Ed. b Mukhtar.— Ld.
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rain came it gave me grea',t pain. One evening, when I was
relating the circumstance of my being wounded, I chanced to
mention the incident of the little girl who was keeping the cows
in the jungle having given me some water, which had saved
my life; when a Brahmin priest, who was listening, declared
that, from my own showing, the girl must have been of the
Doom caste (one lower than a sweeper), and that from my
having drunk the water drawn by her, I was defiled. In vain
I gaid the water was drunk out of my own lota; he talked so
toud, and reviled me so much, that it was known all over the
village in no time. Everyone now shunned me; no one would
now smoke with me. T applied to Dhuleepram, the Pundit,
who, baving heard all the case, considered my caste was broken,
and he could no longer assoviate with me. 1 was not allowed
even to enter my father’s house; and I became miserable.

73. Through the influence of my father, a punchayet (a court
somposed of five persons) was assembled, who sat in judgment
apon me, und after the priests had performed many ceremonies
over me, and ordered me to fast many days—after which I'had
o give them feasts, and offer gifts,—T was declared pak (clean)
and a new jenat' (Brahminical cordj was given me. All the
ynoney T had saved during five years was thus spent, But who
can combat against destiny ?

74. The time approached for my marriage. All the cere-
ionies for this were conducted without my attendance; my
mother and the mother of my wife, with the priests arranged
all these. The ceremony was performed, and the bride’s face
was allowed to be seen, by the members of my family, the first
vight: but the dhaee’s description of her was false—how could
the moon be beautiful if it had small-pox? The property of
my wife was nearly all stridun® (property settled on herself).

75. My six months’ leave was soon over, and I determined
t5 rejoin my regiment. Therefore, leaving my wife to the care
of my wother, 1 set off to go to Ajmeer in Rajpootana, where
my regiment was supposed to be—at least where it was ordered

! Jane, .- -Hd. 2 Istri-dhan.,—Ed.
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to go when I left. No letter had ever come from my uncle
during my stay at home, but I had sent two to him. In those
days the diks were very uncertain, and letters were generally
entrusted to people proceeding to the place, wherever it might
be, instead of sending them by the Sirkar’s dik.

76. larrived in afew days at Agra, and went to the Adjutant
General Saheb for information ; but he could not tell me much,
except that he thought my regiment had gone with a force to
Nagpoor. I received two months’ advance of pay, and took
the road through Jeypoor, and met with no adventure until 1
came there,

77. Jeypoor is one of the cleanest cities I have ever seen,
and its streets are very hroad==it was altogether a beautiful
place: peacocks walked about everywhere, all animals were
tame, the deer came close up to one, pigeons of all colours
abounded, clear streams of water van on either side of the
streets, the shops were very large, and the gardens all round
were beautiful. < There creepers bloomed on numerous trees,
different kinds of flowers were in blossom, on which swarms of
bees were gathering honey.”’ Kokefas' (the Indian cuckoo)
were singing on the mango trees, and peacocks strutted about
in the shady places. A Pundit informed me that this town
was built by Rajah Jey Singli; that a Francees Saheb furnished
the plans; but the people of the place do not like this to be
said. I went to the king’s garden, and here I saw an animal
that astonished me to look at: it had a head like a Neilgaee,
with a neck four yards long, and hoofs like a horse. Its skin
was all over spots like a cheeta ; but it did not eat flesh—it lived
on boughs of trees, which it pulled down with its tongue, which
was a yard long. I asked the keeper about the animal, and he
told me it came from the great desert in Kafferistan (Africa),

I Singing, making an infernal whistle he means, which is enough to
drive one mad.—1'r,

A Bengali has added a marginal note to my copy that he thinks ‘in-
fernal’ must be a printer’s error for ‘internal.” The word is probably
kokild one of the many cuckoos.—d.
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four thousand cossoff, and that it was very gentle. The people
called it 1 gao pulung, butT do not know its name or its zat; all 1
know 1is, it was a wonderful animal; never was such a beast
described in any bhasbundee® (grandma’s tale). This was an
astonishing city, a place of marvels; for I soon saw another
wondrous animal, a bird one hundred times as large as a peeroo
(turkey), and ten times as big as a sarus (Indian crane) : it could
run as swift as the wind, but, although it had wings, was un.
able to fly. Its keeper told me its food was stones, and that it
also came from Kafferistan, where the people use it instead of
a horse. Really this was the city of dithbundee® (enchant-
ments). These marvellous animals were all presents to the
Rajah from the Nawab of Surat; Nassir-ul-deen, who had big
ships trading to all parts of the world.

78. I remained several days at this place, and then pro-
veeded to Ajmeer. The high hill of ¢ Taraghur, near it, I could
see two days’ journey off. 1 found my regiment had left; T
therefore joined some irregular cavalry, and went on towards
Nagapocra (Nagpoor),

79. In fifteen days I found my regiment at Amboorah. My
uncle was quite well, although he had again been wounded by
a bullet, in his right arm. To my great delight, I found my
Captain Saheb had returned; but he was much thinner and
could not wrestle now. However, he was as brave as ever, and
was worshipped by his men. I have never seen more than two
Sahcbs ke Burumpeel Saheb, and they were usul Belaitee (real
English), not Sahebs from the hilly island.®* I was quite able
to join the ranks again, as my old wound never gave me pain
except in damp weather,

80. In a few days we were directed to storm a village by
name Ahunpoora, which was held by Arab log, soldiers of Appa

! 1a,u palang, lit. cow-leopard.—Ed.

2 Vide note to Urdu translation —Bd.

5 Dithnandi=Indrajal.—Bd. 4 Parg-garh.—Ed.

b 1t is not very ovident what Sestaram means by the ** hilly island '’

all Belait (Europe) is imagined by the Hindoos to be composed of differ-
ont slands. —T'r,
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Saheb.! These men were said to be the hravest men in the
world—even a match for the Buropean soldiers; still our
Colonel Saheb did not hesitate to try and to take the place
with us Hindoostanees. These Arabs fought desperately for
their lives, and my regiment lost many sepoys; eleven in my
company alone were killed and wounded. When one house
was taken the enemy retired to another. They did not run
away, but died at their posts, like men. They were very ex-
pert marksmen, and our loss was great upon every oceagion of
fighting them. Even dislodging them from a few huts was a
difficult matter,

CHAPTER V1.

81. For a considerable time, although every means of dis-
lodging the enemy were tried, we made little progress; but at
last, the few that remained escaped down a ravine. These,
however, were nearly all Mahrattas. Whilst running along a
lane in the village, I came upon an enclosure belonging to a
house, and entered it, expecting I should find it deserted; but
I saw an Arab in the very act of killing a young girl, who was
kneeling before him, and imploring him to spare her life. The
moment he heheld me, he cried out, in a loud voice, ¢ Arlum’?
(not now), and rushed at me like a tiger. He came with
such frantic violence, that he quite transfixed himself on my
bayonet before I could recover my surprise. 1 fired my
mugket, and blew a great hole in his chest. Still, even after
this, he managed to give me a severe cut on my arm in his
dying struggles. These men have lives like jackals, and they
all fight like Ghazees® (Mahomedan fanatics, who are in the
habit of rushing sword in hand on an army).

82. The girl threw herself at my feet, and embraced my
legs. She was in reality, with regard to beauty, what the
Dhaie had described my betrothed to be. T asked her who she

1 4ppa Sahib.— Ed. 2 Probably amhil, Ar. --Hd,
8 (hdzi, properly in Urdn, a religious warrior.—Hd.



39

was, and where she came from, and where her friends or rela-
tions were? She told me that she was the daughter of a
Thakoor in Bundelkund, by name Mokum!'Singh. She had
been carried off by the Pindarees, and then sold to this Arab,
whose mistress she wag by compulsion. Her father had been
killed, and many of her relations, in defending their property.
She also agsured me that the remaining ones would neverreceive
her back again, as she was disgraced beyvond redemption; and
she concluded her unhappy story by saying T was her Lord, her
only protector now,

83. The village had been set on fire, and the smoke was
coming in dense clouds over the place we were in. T hastily
bound up my arm with the turban of the dead Arab, and
taking his sword, as a proof of my having slain him, I led the
little mirg (antelope) through the unburnt part of the village,
and joined my company again. But T did not know what to
do with the girl, for I knew I should not be allowed to keep
her with me. After the fight, our force retired some miles, and
encamped in rear of Ahunpoora. 1 told my unele of my adven-
ture, and his advice was that I should leave the girl, and not
encumber myself with a woman in these times of war. But
how could I have left her to be burnt to death? I went to my
Captain, and told him of the affair. He praised me much, and
ordered her to be put in charge of the Bazar Chowdree (head
man of the bazar).

84. This young creature rode my tattoo, and remained in
the care of the Chowdree; but I saw her every day, and my
heart became inflamoed with love, for she was beautiful to look
on, and always called me her Protector. I am old now, but
never hefore or since, have I seen any woman like her-—not
even at Delhi.? '

83, For & week or more, no notice was taken of me or the
girl ; but at the end of this time I was sent for by the Adju-

1 Moki:ham Singh.—Ed.
2 Delh:, and the Punjab generally, is famous for its beautiful women.—
Ed.
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tant, who told me I must not keep her, as women were not
allowed to accompany the force. At this, my mind was filled
with sadness, and my heart became a target for the arrows of
despair. I pleaded that as she remained with the camp fol-
lowers, the girl could give no trouble, nor put the Sirkar to any
expense. He then proposed to give me one hundred rupees
for her, and ended by offering four hundred rupees, if I
would give her up. But I could not make up my mind to
part with her, although I foresaw now I should soon lose her.
My uncle advised me most strongly to get rid of her, as she
would only bring disgrace on me. For the first time, my uncle
and myself nearly had a quarrel. True was the warning the
Pundeet Duleep had given me—<‘ More men are entangled in
the wiles of a woman, than fish in the net of the most skilful
fisherman. The arrows from their eyes wound more than the
poisoned arrows of the Bheel.!”’

86. If I had been in cantonments, nothing would have been
known, and no one would have cared about my keeping this
girl; for many of the sepoys constantly had women living with
them, and the Saliebs never forbade this, as they were all put
down as relations. If Burumpeel Saheb had asked me for her,
it might have been different; but this he never did: he ap-
plauded me for my kind action, and took me to the Colonel,
and told him about my having killed the Arab. 1 presented
the sword to the Colonel, who was graciously pleased to accept
it. At the same time he promised me promotion as soon as
possible, and ordered me to be made a lance naique (acting
corporal) at once. But this gave me no advance of pay, only
I had the command of four men, and wore a billak (stripe); and
of course felt myself now of more importance.

87. My regiment marched about from one hill-fort to
another ; sometimes guns and Huropeans were attached to us,
at others we fought alone. Once or twice we were repulsed: in
one fight two officers were shot dead, and four wounded ; among

1 A race of aboriginal saveges in Central India, who used poisoned

arrows.—T7r.
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these was the Adjutant Saheb—he received a very severe cut
from a tulwar on his right shoulder. These Arab log had been
in the service of Appa Saheb, and so much were they esteemed
for their great bravery, that their pay was double that of the
Sirkar’s sepoys. They were now fighting on their own account
as they would not obey Appa’s order to give in. I think, that
a8 no Saheb could speak their language, and that as they were
always spoken to through a Moulvie, who pretended to know
their bole (speech), they did not understand the terms the Sirkar
gave for their surrender, which were, that they should lay
down their arms, and leave the country. But this order,
whether they understood it or not, was never obeyed, for they
fought to the last, never asking or giving quarter.

88, They destroyed nearly three. whole companies of a
newly-raised regiment, the 2nd battalion of the 10th, under
Major Esparkes (Sparks), having previously refused a jholee
maoke! (white flag). DBrigadier Adawms Saheb revenged this
treachery, and killed the whole party of Arabs and Goonds,
who wers under their Chief, Chyn Sah. In several other
engagements they were also defeated, and then a truce was
made. This was soon broken through. '

89, The Sirkar had now a large army, with plenty of guns.
The fort of Hasser® was summoned to surrender; but its
governor, Juswunt Row, would not listen to any terms, and
determined to hold it to the last. He was a very brave man.
An English officer went down to the gateway to persuade the
Killadar to give up the place without bloodshed; he pointed
out that Maharajah Scindia was a friend of the Sirkar, and
master of the Governor of the fort. Still ke was not listened
to; and 82 confident was Juswunt in the strength of the place,
and the valour of his Arabs, that the officer was insulted, and
one shot actually fired at him through defiance.

90. This treatment of one of their officers enraged the gora
log so mwuch that they were impatient to rush at the place,
which was very strong, and the walls of great thickness, It

! Thig term not traceable.— Ed. 2 Hasser not traceable.—Ed
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stood on a hill one thousand feet high, and the approaches were
all exposed to a galling fire from the garrison. Many of our
sepoys were of opinion the place would stand a very long siege ;
but my uncle told me that the Sirkar had taken it once, and
that now they had sucn a fine army, with so many heavy guns,
it would easily be taken again. My ktsmut! (fate) had thus far
been good; still I could not look on the boorgees® (bastions)
without some fear: my kuleja® (liver) became like water.

91. The siege soon began with the heavy guns, Theenemy
made frequent sallies ; but our shells (a weapon they had been
unaccustomed to) made {earful slaughter among them. Great
pieces of wall soon came down, and the constant roar of the
guns was like the coming in ofthe bursdt (rains, at which time
the thunder continues incessant for many hours).

92. A Colonel Frasun (Fraser) Saheb forced his way into the
town, and held possession of some Bunias’ shops for two or three
days; but he was killed in repulsing a sortie from the enemy.

93. The morning after this happened, the citadel was
abandoned by the enemy, and my regiment was ordered to
occupy it. and while rushing up to this place the foe suddenly
sprang a mine right under-us. I was blown up into the air,
and became senseless. I knew nothing, saw nothing, heard
nothing, for a long time; but when I came to my senses
again, I found two European gunners pulling me by the legs
out of the mass of earth and bricks, and one of them forced
some rum down my throat.* They took me to a Saheb, and ¥
was sent to the field hospital to die. My legs were not broken,
but my left arm hung down powerless by my side and T had
four severe cuts on my head from bricks or wood. I may
count these as wounds; so T have been wounded seven times
in the service of the Sirkar. How many days I lay in the
tent I do not know.

1 Qiamat.~~Ed. 2 Burj.—Ed,
8 For *heart’in a metaphorical sense Indians usually say ¢ liver, -—Ed.

¢ This did not break his caste again, as it was & question of life and
death.—Ed.
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94. Day after day the guns continued to roar; but one
morning they ceased firing, and the day this happened I parti-
ally recovered my speech again. [ asked about my uncle, and
the fate of my company; and to my horror was told, by
wounded sepoy of my regiment, that cvery man was killed,
ozcept myseolf and three others-—Tiluckdaree Gheer, Kadir
Bux and Naique Deonarain; and there were four men away on
a guard who excaped. Forty-seven men were killed by this
terrible explosion. Well might 1 have felt fear before the
siege! My mind was oppressed with grief. My uncle was
never found at all, so deep was the mass of ruins, and there
was no time to make much clearance. How 1 longed to go and
look for his body ; but 1 could not move hand or foot.

95. At this time the hospital tents were so full that the
Sahebs gave up their tents to the wounded. My Captain was
very kind to me, and Captain Burma Saheb was also in the
same tent with me, severely wounded. Burumpeel Saheb
had escaped most wonderfully, as he was only a few yards in
advance of the edge of the mine. ' He was thrown down, and
nearly suffocated with earth, but still not hurt. No. 2 Com-
pany was destined to be destroyed ; No. I Company had gone
over the same mine a few moments before it was sprung. The
fort was taken, and I was told all kinds of people were found
in it—Arabs, Beloochees, Cabool people and others.

96. The Sirkar again did not punish ** Row Sar” ! but
allowed him to go. I asked my Captain why Jaswant was not
executed ; and he told me that it was because he had only
obeyed the orders of his master Maharajah Scindia, who
pretended to be a friend of the Company Bahadur, but was in
reality its enemy ; and that the punishment would fall on him.
The justice of the Sirkar is wonderful, and its ways inexplic-
able: but what is the use of tighting if you donot destroy your
enemy ? These were new customs to this people; they
thought the Sirkar mad for being so merciful, and they tried
every way to take advantage, in which they often succeeded :

| Ra,o S8@hib ¥—EKd.



44

but Lord Malcolm Saheb was such a mighty chief, they seldom
-deceived him ; few Lord Sahebs were like him.

97. It proves what I have before said, that the Saheb log
and gora log like fighting for the sake of fighting; and the
latter, if they have but enough of their beloved spirit, are
content ;—it i an amusement. a kind of khel (game) to them.

98. This war being now finished, the army broke up, and
the different regiments marched to their stations. My bat-
talion was ordered to Koel! (Aligarh). I was taken all the way
in a doolee,” and could have got sick leave again to my home,
but for certain reasons I did not wish to go just then. I was
allowed to live in a hut by myself, and the young Thakoorin
lived with me, and attended me. I was more happy then
than I had ever been in my own home. In a few months I
had recovered sufficiently to be able to walk about.

99, At this period several new battalions were being raised
for the Sirkar. The Colonel Saheb of my regiment told me, if
I felt inclined to join one of these new battalions, I could get
promoted to naique. As my good and kind uncle was dead,
and nearly all my comrades in my own company also, I made
ap my mind to leave my old corps. But what I felt as the
most painful thing in my new undertaking was leaving my
‘Captain Saheb--there was only one Burumpeel Saheb ever
came from Belait and he was in my old regiment.

100. 1 joined the headquarters of the new battalion at
Futteghur in July 1820, and found it only consisted of two
companies, made up from men of different regiments as a
foundation of the new one the Sirkar wished to form. There
were only two officers, Major Gardeen Saheb, and an Adjutant.

101, The Major was very tall, and dark; his temper was
very hard, and he was in the habit of coming on paratle in a
shooting dress, and throwing his heavy stick at the heads of
the recruits, and sometimes even at the drill instructors, if

i Ko,l.—Hd.
¢ pali & kind of open pilkl for carrying one person only. It is also
called katholi.-—HEd.
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they did anything to annoy him. Consequently he was much
disliked, though feared. He told the Native officers he had
been removed from his own regiment against his wish, and
sent to command them, and he hated them all. In fact,
through fear of him, for four months only about forty recruits
came for service.

102, After this came four more Sahebs from other regi-
ments, and three new Sahebs (cadcts) ; more men also came,
and the drill commenced.

103. The Major Saheb was not liked by the English
officers ; they never spoke to him bhefore or after parade, nor
seemed to associate with him in any wayv. 'L'he only person he
appeared to be friends with-was an old abdar (water cooler.
No one knew why this man had such influence over the Saheb |
but I know that all sepoys wanting leave, or any other indul-
gence, always tried to secure the good graces of the abdar, to
speak to his master in their favor.

104. One day I was on guard at his house, and in the even-
ing the Major Saheb was going to smoke his hooka,' when he
got into a violent passion because it would not draw, and threw
the lighted chillum* at the hookaburdar’s® head. 'The gools*
(red-hot balls, made of charcoal, cte.) rolled all over the room,
and set fire to the floor matting, which communicated the flames
to & tent in another room. "The servants and the guard all
rushed in and succecded in putting out the fire, but the tent
was nearly spoilt. During this time the Saheb never moved
from his chair. Then the abdar came and spoke to the Saheb,
and his rage was quelled in & moment. But giving way to this
had cost him dear; the tent was nearly new, and must have
been worth three hundred rupees.®

105. We tried to find out the secrot of the @bdar’s influence

1 Huqqa.—Ed. % Chilam is the earthen bowl of the pipe.—Z&d,

5 Huqga-bardar a servant who prepares, etc., the pipe; still kept by old.
fashioncd Nawabs.—Ed.

¢ Gui, lit., ¢ flower.” —Ed.

b Evory officer was supposed to own and keep up a largo tent. This
was before the days of Kabul tents.—Ed.



46

-over this Saheb, but never succeeded. Some in the regiment
said he was & near relation. There was no doubt he was slight-
ly mad; his habits were unlike those of other Sahebs. It was
his custom to walk up and down his verandah for hours at a
time, with his hands behind his back, muttering something to
himself, and kicking the wall with his foot at every turn he
made. He spoke our language perfectly; but his chief delight
was in teasing the recruits and making them tell bim if they
were married or not, and also the names of their wives—which
it is a great shame for & Hindoo to mention. 1could also see that
his ways to the other officers of the regiment were very odd ; the
Adjutant Saheb was never allowed to sit down in his presence,
nor did his bearer ever offer & chair to any of the Sahebs who
came to see him, unless ordered to do so.

106. An officer came to the corps now, who was quite as old
to look at as the Major; and I happened to be on guard again
at the Major’s house, when this officer came to call. I was
curious to see if the Major would offer him a chair. He re-
mained standing some short time and then took one himself,
and sat down. Now began a storm of words, and I saw the
Japtain strike the Major a blow which knocked him down. He
then left, speaking very loud.

107. The next worning, while returning from the fields, I
saw four officers behind the butts. These were some way from
the lines, and near some ravines. As thoe officers were often in
the habit of practising with pistols, I did not at first take much
notice of them; but as 1 came nearer, I saw the Major and
Captain both there, and knowing the custom of the officors was
to fire with pistols at one another after a quarrel, I stopped to
see what was going on. The Major was placed a short distance
in front of the Captain by an officer, and another officer attend-
ed upon the Captain. They both fired, and the Major fell
forward on his face. T now ran up, and found the Major dead ;
a bullet had gone through his head. I went to the hospital for
a doolee. The news spread through the lines in a moment,
The Major was taken to his own house, and in the evening
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buried, But the only person who seemed affected was the
dhdar ; nc grief was on any Saheb’s face.

108, What curious customs the Feringhees ' have! Here, in
this case, fevenge was not taken at the time, when the anger
was hot, nor was the fight with swords.* No words were
spoken, no abuse given, but the Sahebs were as cool and
collected as it on parade. What I did not understand was, the
officer attending on the Major was a great friend of the Captain’s,
and both the attendant officers spoke to one another, and were
friends, as they lived in the samec house. The English have
rules about 72zut (honour) very strict, and if they are insulted
they musr fight, or they are never again spoken to by their
brother officers. Tn those days, Sahebs often fought with one
another, and after the fight, they frequently became greater
friends than ever. Of late years I lave not heard of Sahebs
fizhting with one another; if they do, it is done secretly, and as
if now they were ashamed to be seen. But I believe it is, they
fear the new rules about their fighting, which are very strict:
the Saheb who fights is now tried by a court martial and dis-
missed the service; no excuse is cver taken. 1 have heard that
the Belaitee Badshal was obliged to put a stop to this habit,
as he lost s0 many good officers through it, and the family of
the Saheb who was killed had to be supported by the State.
I cannot imagine how they can fight when their anger is cooled ;
but this, like all they do, is managed by their wonderful bundo-
bust (arrangement).

109.  The gora log do not fight among themselves with swords
or pistols ; they use their fists, which are dangerous, for I have
known several men to have been killed. However, after thoir
fights, they soon become friends again; but even among them
they lose caste if they refuse to fight.

110. Another officer was sent to command the regiment,
Colonel Hamilteen Saheb. He was very different to the Major,
and was much liked by the officers and men. The regiment

I Farang:, Frank.—Ed,
2 The swored i3 & more honourable weapon. -H#d.
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was now a thousand strong, all composed of fine tall young
men.

111. For two or threo years nothing worth mentioning took
place that 1 can remember, except that the regiment marched
to Meerut. [ had paid a large sum of money for the Thakoorin
(daughter of a Thakoor) to regain her caste, and was married
to her by the ceremony called gurdub! (a second marriage, but
not so binding as the first), At Meerut a ** joy of the world”’
wag born to me—a son!

112, About this time it was generally reported that the
Sirkar was going to give assistance to Maharaja Bulwunt Sing of
Bhurtpore, who had been driven from his throne by his brother
Doorjan. The Maharaja had begzed and prayed the Sirkar
to grant him his rights ; he was then-only a boy, and there was
a strong party against hiw at Bhurtpore.

CHAPTER VII.

113.  General Lonyocty was then Governor of Delhi, and he
gave orders for an army to bo assembled. My regiment re-
ceived instruction to marel to Agra, bat it only went four ar
tive marches, and was then recalled to Meerut. Great was the
disappointment of the officers, for they longed for their new
regiment to see gervice and have a name.

114. After a mounth, orders were again given and we
marched to Agra, where a large army was encamped. Here
we remained some time. Some people thought that Doorjun
Sah,? hearing an army was coming against him, wouldigive up
the fortress without fichting. One day he sent to say he would
do this, then another day that he intended to fight. All this
wag only to gain time, and collect more men and arms. The

I Gandharbh, one of the oight forms of Hindu marriago montioned by
Manu. It is marriage by mutual consent, the sign being an oxchange of
garlands, or whero garlands arenot obtainable, by exchange of love-senti-
monta. It is not now legal.—Ed,

2 Durjan Sahi.—Ed.
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English had besieged Bhurtpore! hefore, in Lad Lick’s (Lord
Lake) time and lost half an army there; the place had been
delivered up, but not captured. This the people all knew, and
well remombered. The place was now much stronger than
formerly, and was reported to have many large guns, which
would throw a ball three coss (six miles): in these the Bhurt-
pore people put great faith, and considered the*place as im-
pregnable.

115. The KEnglish Lad Saheb, getting tired of these useless
negotiations, marched the army from Agra, and laid siege with
many large guns ‘The great annoyance now was from the
enemy’s horsemen, who always hovered about our camp, and
cut up numbers of the camp followers and stragglers. When-
aver they were chased by the Sirkar’s horse, they always gal-
loped under the guns of the forg, or into some gateway, only
known to them. The Sirkar’s giuns were of no use in making
a breach, for the walls were so thick that a company might
have stood in column upon them, and wheel into line,

116. 'The enemy made many attacks on our camp at night,
and all the neighbouring States were waiting to see the fortune
of the Sirkar. If a reverse had taken place, they would have
come down on our cawp in rear, whero there was deep jungle,
which was difficult to guard.

117. 'The Sappers and Miners were set to work to form
mines underneath the walls. I was on guard onc night at the
mouth of one of these mines, and about midnight the sentry
reported that the water was coming all over the fields; the
enemy had let the water out of the big ditch, and if I had not
given notice in time, it would have suffocated the miners, as
mice aro killed during the rains. The Suppers soon made pies*
(small mad walls), and turned the water from the mouth of the
mine. This was on the burra din (Christmas day).

118. Some weeks after this the gallery was carried under
one of the bastions, and it was reported that the mine would
be fired. All our troops turned out to see the effect; and the

Bharatpir.—kd. ¢ Pa.i.— Bd.
H.S. I 1
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enemy, thinking an attack was intended, manned the walls,
and were intent on firing an enormous big gun from the tower
under which the mine was laid. For a time there was a deep
gilence throughout our whole camp; but the mine did not go
off, and the Sapper officers were very anxious, thinking that
the enemy had countermined, and several of them rushed to
see if the miatch was out, when off went the mine, and the
tower, big gun, men and all, were thrown into the ditch round
the fort, and a hole left in the wall big enough to have marched
a company in at. The enemy ceased firing for a time, being
quite thunderstruck with awe. Our artillery kept up a hot fire
on the breach all night,

119. Next morning a storming party was formed: my
company, and part of anather, of my regiment, were included in
the column of attack. Doorjun’s people fought desperately;
but who can withstand the rush of the Europeans? After 10
o’clock that morning, the far-famed fortress of Bhurtpore be-
longed to the Sirkar. Doorjun himself was captured alive while
trying to escape.

120. There was plenty. of foot, and many Sahebs got very
valuable things. I found a handsome necklace on a woman
who had been killed. This was my share; and I thought I
would put it round my son’s meck. Bat I was seen by two
Europeans, who took it away from me by force, and cut it in
two, each taking half. However, I afterwards found one of
these men quite drunk, and easily regained one portion of the
ornament without using any force.

121. Great numbers of the enemy, or rather of the city, had
been Lilled by the shells, and numbers were destroyed by the
mine. I went to look at the place, which was wonderful to see.
The large gun had fallen down below into the ditch, with men
crushed to death under it, like Juggurnauth. But all these
men had died at their gun; what better death could they have
wished? This gun was called ¢* Futleh-jung sir-phorunhar’’
(the victorious in war; the headsmasher’’); it was three
muskets’ length, and the ball was the size of a ghurra (varthen



51

pot, which however varies in gize very much). There waa
written om it, that 75 seers ! of powder was its proper charge.
I have aeard the Sahebs talk of the new large guns they have
in England, but I hardly think they are bigger than four or
tive guns I saw at this place, Bhurtpore.

122, In spite of all that was said about this fort, it did not
cost much life to take, as not more than fifty sepoys were
killed, and in the storming-party, which my regiment furnished,
only five men were killed and fifteen wounded, The Europeans
lost. very nearly the same number; but many Sahebs were
wounded because they would go near the walls, to fire with
their small guns and rifles. This was strictly prohibited, but
the order was not oheyed,

123, After this siege; my regiment was sent to garrison
several small forts in the province; my company was ordered
to Biana Ghuree.* These places were soon dismantled, by
having the walls blown up, and corps returned to Meerut after
having been away about a year.

124, There now came a new Lad Saheb to India, who was
much disliked by all the officers. He wished to reduce their
pay ; and the Sahebs nearly mutinied. They had many meet-
ings at their own houses, and were very disturbed in mind;
many of them declared they would serve the Sirkar no longer.
This Lad Saheb was sent by the Company Bahadoor to save
money, as, from the great expense of tho wars, they said they
were very poor: but who can belicve this was the reason ¢—
what want of money had ever the Sirkar Company? I heard
that the officers of one regiment asked the officers of another
whether their men would stand by them if they marched to
(talcutta to force the Lad Saheb to give them their Auck? (rights).
I also was told that the Kuropean soldiers said they would not
act against the officers of the Native army, as long as their
object was the batfa alone. At this time every Saheb was
enraged, and spoke much against the Sirkar; but more blame

Vo= 160 Ths.—T'r. 2 Biyana Garhi.—id. 3 Hagq.—Hd.
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was given to the new Lad Saheb, who, they said, was doing
this injustice without orders, and only because he wished to
make khooshamut (favour) with the Company.

125. The Sirkar made the young Maharajah Bulwunt pay all
the expense of the war, now they had restored his throne to him,
and it amounted to more thanone crore’ of rupees (£1,000,000).
This was considered a great insult by many Princes and
Nawabs, who looked upon the Sirkar hitherto as their friend,
not their paid ally. Some of them now boasted that they
could hire the services of the English whenever they required
them. 1 have heard that one Rajah sent an agent to the
Sirkar, to know what sum of money would induce them to
phudphudana® (to lick or wallop) another Rajah who had in-
sulted him ; but this was the talk of the bazars and may not be
true.

126. All kinds of news, true and false, are discussed in the
bazars of large stations: anything injurious to the ikbal of the
Sirkar is listened to with the greatest avidity, which induces
idle people, who have nothing better to do, to invent news:
and the greater the lie the more it i3 believed—that is, if it i
in any way detrimental to the Sirkar’s interest. I remember,
during the Russian war, which was tho only time there was no
war in India, how news was always {abricated to show that the
Sirkar was generally worsted, that the Russ had destroyed:all
the English army, and sunk all the warships. This idea was
fostered by interested parties, so that when the Mutiny broke
out, it was the belief of most Natives that the Sirkar had no
more troops but what were then in India. Nothing could exceed
the astonishment of the rebels when they saw regiment after
regiment pouring into the country; they then lost heart, saw
they had been deceived, and soon found out it was useless to
withstand the mighty power of the Ungrese raj (English rule).

127.  After remaining two years at Mecrut, my regiment was
sent to Shahjehanpore, and from thence to Kurnaul, and after-

1 A karor is ten millions or a hundred lakhs.
? Perhaps this meaning of the vorb was slang, an unusual word.— Ed.
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wards to Loodiana. Nothing occurred of any note during
these years, oxcept that some alterations were made in the
dress of the sepoys, and in many corps rifle companies were
formed. Small wars took place every year in some part of
Hindoostan, but my regiment did not take any share in them.

125. 1 had been promorad te-Havildar, and also held the
appointment of Pay Havildar (pay serjeant), which in those
days was & much coveted situation. Most of the sepoys of the
company kept their money in my hands, and as this was seldom
required by them except when they went on furlough, I used
to lend cut some of it at good interest. At the end of every
month the money was shown Lo any sepoy who chose to satisfy
himself it was safe: and this went on from month to month,
until T had accumulated the sum of Rs. .500.

120. Pay Havildars used to lend the Sahebs money ; and as
all the ofticers’ pay went through their hands, there was little
fear of losing it, unless when a Saheb died, in which case we
dare not bring it forward as a claim. The practice was forbid-
den, but I seldom heard of anyone being punished for doing it.

130. The officers’ pay, although large, seldom sufficed for
their wants, and there were only two officers in my regiment
who were not in debt; many owed large sums. They spent a
ygreat pars of their pay in giving feasts; some gambled; others
lost large sums on the race-course—a sport they are passionate-
ly fond of. All the Sahebs who were married were always in
debt-—their expeuses are great but sume of them were poor
through aisfortune.

131. The Captain of my company had all his property
destroyed by his boat sinking in a river.  He had no money to
buy unything with, and [ lent Rs. 500; but, unfortunately, the
time of furlough was.at hand, and the sepoys required their
money. Having lent some of theirs with my own, I was un-
able 10 make good the whole amount I ought to have had in
my hands, T was reported to my Colonel Saheb; and although
1 sold everything 1 had, and my Captain tried all he could to
raise the money, still 1 was Rs. 137 short. I was tried by a
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court-martial, found guilty of disobedience of uvrders, and
sentenced to be deprived of my Pay Havildarship;—if it had
not been for my former good conduct, I should have been re-
duced to a sepoy again. Tlis was the first court [ had ever ap-
peared before,

132.  Howpeuectly inco nprehensible the laws of the Sirkar
are to us Hindus! I was found guilty by o number of Native
officers of my own regiment, not one of whom really thought
what I had done to be in any way wrong, and every one of
them would have acted in t1e same manner had they been in
my situation; yet, because they imagined it was the Colonel’s
desire [ should be punisted, they found me guilty. The
European officers also knew quite well; but it was she custom
of the service.

133. The Articles of War are often read to regiments: the
language, however, is seldom understood, being nearly all
Persian and Arabic. Some of it is of course plain, but the
greater part, like the orders of the GGovernor-General, &e., is
far above the comprehension of any but those who have had a
good education. Generally. not more than two or three sepoys
in & company could tell, after hearing these orders read, what
he must do, or what he ought not to do. In the first place,
the Interpreter Saheb nearly always reads too quick; and
secondly, frequently mispronounces the words,

134. My Lord, a sepoy does' not require a lot of rules and
regulations to be read to him, which only fill his head with
doubts and fears ; he ought to look up to his Commander as his
father and mother, his protecting power, his God, and as such
be taught to obey him. We do not understand divided power;
absolute power iy what we worship.  Among the English,
power is much divided. The Commandify Officer has certainly
some power; the Adjntant also ({(sometimes more than the
Commander). The Commander-in-Chief has a great deal, the
Governor-General still more:; but they cach have to ask
some higher authority still, before they can do anything.
The Commanding Officer has to ask half a dozen other
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officers ! before he can punish a sepoy, and the punishment
takes months before it can arrive, and when the punishment is
inflicted, one-half the men have forgotten all about the case,
and the effect is quite lost. I remember in a certain regiment,
that a Havildar was tried by a court-martial and dismissed the
service fur insolence to a superior officer, for which he should
have been tlogged. When his sentence was read out to him on
parade, he turned round, and told his Commanding Officer he
should go direct to the Commander-in-Chief Saheb and appeal.
Another Havildar was promoted in his room. He went up to
Simla, and threw himself in front of the Lad Saheb’s lady, and
~eried out for justice and mercy. In three months’ time he
was restored to the service, and sent back to his own regiment
agnin - —thus laughing at the beard of the General, the Briga-
dier, and his Commanding Officer. No sepoy then cared for a
court-martial. But this was in the days when any complaint
was listened to by the Commander-in-Chief. The Colonel
Suheb was disgusted ; he had no power, what could he do ?

135. The Commander ought to have power of life and
death when the sword is 300 coss? off, who fears? When
sepoys find their Commander is not their Commander in
reality, they will always look up to some higher power. This
was one reason of the Mutiny. The sepoys no longer feared
their officers, and they saw quite well that their authority was
very limited. 1t is curious how this power was gradually
taken away : first the Sahebs used to teach the sepoy his drill
with a stick—then that was forbidden ; a Commanding Officer
could flog his men when it was necessary--then that was done
away with.®

136. I have said the people of India worship power ; they
also love splendour, and display of wealth. Great impression
i+ made upon the mass by this ; much greater than the English
srem to think. Our idew of the power and might of our

! A Court-martinl ? —Ed. 2 Kos.—Ed,
* Suetaram evidently hasnot seen the New Articles of War: they woald
dalight the old man’s heart ! —Tr.
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kings and princes was always associated with magnificent
equipments, shining with gold and silver. Have we not
thought so since we were children ? Is it not the burden of
every tale that is told ? What then can we think of » Gover-
nor-General, or Lieutenant-Gtovernor, when we usee a Saheb
with a black dress in a buggy, without any ornaments or
retinue ? The Government officials know he has power, but
the common people consider him all joothmooth ' (sham) and he
does not come up to their idea of a Rajah, a Nawab, or even
of a Wuzeer. They then draw comparisons, which the Sirkar
would not wish to hear.

137. I have often asked the Sahebs why they do not take.
o lesson from some of their memsakebs, and wear more
ornaments ; for I have aeen some English ladies, when they go
to their nauiches, appear really as princesses ought to do.
They have told me that it was considered a shame for a Saheb
to wear jewels or ornaments, except those of honour: but
these latter that I have seen are very paltry. One Saheb told
me his Memsaheb spent so much money on her jowels, it was
imposasible for him to wear any, even if he felt inclined to do
=0 !

138. Peculiarities of character and superior intelligence,
we sometimes bow down to also, but not so much as to outward
pomp and show. General Nicolsain Saheb was considered by
some a8 an gvatar (incarnation of the deity) and thore are those
who still mourn his removal from the world. General Jacum
(Jacob) was looked upon as next to Mahomed * by many of the
hill tribes; but T am told he is dead also.

139. The Sirkar should remember, that the value of a
regiment of sepoys greatly depends on their (‘ommanding
Officer. If the men like him ; if he understands them, can
enter into their feelings, and has obtained their confidence
whicli is not to be done in one day, or one year; and above
all. if he has power, and possesses justice—they will do any-

v Jhiith miith, should be used only adverbially.- —-Eu.,
? Hindus (not Muslims) say Muhamed $&hib.— ¥d.
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thing, go anywhere, and his will is law. But when a perfect
stranger to themn and their feelings is sent to command, there
is always discontent. Among us, there is a great dislike to
new ways ; one Saheb upsets what the other has done, and we
do not know what to do, because what we have been taught
one day 18 wrong the next ! I have known four Connnanding
Officers come to & regiment in one year, three Adjutants, and
two Quarter-masters! And this was not from the officers
having been killed in war. It takes us a long time to learn
the waye of a Saheb, and when the men are accustomed to
him, it is not good to have him removed. Before the Mutiny,
any clever officer was always taken from his regiment for some
appointment, and he never came back again, perhaps, for
years ; and when he did 80 he kuew very little about the men.

140. The black man is not the only one who likes and
dislikes the Commanding Officer ; for I remember a regiment of
Europeans once would not go into a Sikh battery, because
they disliked their Colonel—and they stood to be made dust of
by cannon shot, sooner than move. I heard this officer was
wounded--some say by his own men,—and was succeeded by
another officer they did like, and the men then instantly took
the battery and drove the Khalsajee' like dust before the
wind *

CHAPTER VIIL

141. And now, my Lord, I will say something about the
sirkar’s new army; I mean the one that has been raised since
the Mutiny. As far as I know, the men all dislike the service
now —Hindovs, Mussalmans, Sikhs, Pathans, Doogras. They
et no leisure ; they never know their work; they have to
learn one kind of drill one year, and another the next, and
they get punished for not remembering the new. They now
have examinations, and promotion goes by supposed merit;
which mesns the Commanding Officer’s pleasure—a very

! Sikhs, -—Tr.
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precarious thing to depend upon for promotion.! The Punjabees
and Sikhs only took the Sirkar's service because they thought
they should have a chance of getting plunder, not because they
were pleased at entering the service, or looked to it for bread
and pension ; they have no reverence for the Sirkar, as we had
for the Company Bahadoor. 1f Delhi had not fallen at the time
it did, the Sirkar would not have persuaded so many Pathans
and other northern men to enter its service. Tt is well known
that these men hung back, waiting to see which side would
be victorious : their great hope was, that the Punjab would be
in commotion, and they would have gone against the Sirkar
with the same alacrity that they then entered its service; it
was solely from their love of loot. More than half the men of
these regiments now want their discharge, and the other half
only remain becanse they think there may be a chance of
plunder for them in China or elsewhere; but by the wonderful
sekbal of the Sirkar, all prospect of any war is extinguished,
like hot ashes by a mussuck,” and as peace is likely to reign for
many years to come, most of these men will gradually wish to
go, and if prevented, will be bt unwilling servants.

142. Numbers of young men can always be found to enlist,
but after the novelty has worn off, they will soon wish to leave
a service which is every day beeoming more andimore distaste-
ful to them; and their officers will have had all the trouble of
drilling them for nothing. In the Punjab, the Sikhs will take
service, because they are near their homes; but no other
country do they like. There is also an uneasy feeling about
their pay: the sowar cavalry soldier has had his pay greatly
increased, but the foot soldier’s remains the same; and now,
since everything has become so much dearer throughout
Hindoostan, because the Sirkar allows the Bunnias to do as
they please, the pay, seven rupees a month, will not support
either Punjabee, Sikh, or Mussulman, As for these latter, they

1 Seetaram seems here to have forgotten what he said about the Com-
manding Officer’s will being law,—T'r,
2 Wator skin.— Tr.
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always think they will reconquer Hindoostan from the
Feringhees,! and look forward to the day, flattering themselves
it is not far off. They have not seen what I have or they
would not entertain such foolish ideas; but they love to boast
of what they have done, and what they will one day do again.
They might, have some idea of the absurdity of these notions
when they remember that they could not hold Delhi with the
Sirkar’s army even in their service, and its guns in their posses-
sion, against four or five regiments of Europeans and a few
hastily raised regiments of dirty Punjabees. After the Mutiny,
L was posted to a Punjabee corps, and I know what T have said
to have been the general feeling.

143. T also know, that if the people of the Punjab should
rebel and flight the Sirkar, 100,000 Hindoostanees would be
only too giad to take service against them, if it were merely to
pay off old scores.

144. 'The practice of the Birkar, of keeping several regiments
of Native troops together at the same station, is not wise. It
is then that the young men get musth,* and swagger about in
the bazars, pufled up with vain conceits, and talk of things
they had better not. 'They forget the giver of their salt.

145. There are always plenty of rascals in every city and in
most Sudder bazars, to encourage the men in every villainy,
This idle habit has increased much since the Mutiny. Before
that time I never heard much about it, but now that calamity
has befallen Hindoostan, s/t is their constant practice. These
bazar ntmukharams (scoundrels) have nothing to lose and they
think that in times of confusion and disorder they may gain
advantage, as many of them did during the rebellion. Meerut,
Cawnpore, and some other cities are full of these men, who
escaped punishment for their evil deeds, and make a boast of it.
Some bad men will be found in every regiment, and their in-
fluence should be well guarded against—especially among young
soldiers.

b Faranygi, ¥rank. - Ed. lencugh.—7T'r.
2 Intoxivated with conceit: this is not the exact meaning but near
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146. For several years nothing took place in my regiment.
My son became a fine young man, and was enlisted in the corps.
147. 1In the year 1837, it began to be talked about, all over
India, that the Sirkar was going to render assistance to Shah
Soojah-0ol-Moolk,! the Ameer of Cabool, to regain his throne.
Every day the ramoursincreased, and there was great excitement
‘throughout all Hindoostan. Some said the Sirkar would meet
the Russ in Afghanistan,’ who had promised to help the Ameer
Dost Mahomed Khan, the favourite ruler among the Afghans,
and that the whole country, with a large army of both Russians
and Persians, would be against the Lnglish. Great fears were
felt by the sepoys at the idea of having to go across the Indus.
Many people said the Sirkar’s army would be beaten. Others,
again, said that the English would take Cabool, as there was a
strong party in favor of the deposed king. 'The sepoys dreaded
passing the Indus, because it was out of Hindustan. This is
forbidden in our religion: the very act is loss of caste. In con-
sequence of this many sepoys obtained their discharge, and
many deserted. The Mahomedans said a large army was
coming to invade India, and tried every means they could think
of to excite the feelings of vhe people. They gave out that this
invading army was supported by a large force of Russians, and
that when it made its appearance in the plains on this side the
passes, it would be the signal for the whole Mahomedan popula-
tion to rise against the Sitkar, and drive the Feringhees out
of India. These reports daily gathered strength, till fear filled
the mind of the whole Native army. The Russians were said
to have an army of hundreds of lakhs, and wealth untold ; their
soldiers were vepresented to be of enormous stature,’ and as
brave as lions. The destruction of the Sirkar’s rule was pre-

1 8hith Shuja‘ul-Mulk. - Kd.

2 Tho Natives of India, although they talk of an Afghan, seldom call
the country Afghanistan: with thom it is Cabool. Candahar, Jellala-
‘bad, Ghuznie, are all Cabool.—1'r.

3 The Natives have the samo ideas now, and the followers of a certain

Amoer who has lately come among us, have exaggerated the Rusas in
every way.-T'r,
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dicted, for how could they oppose their enemies with only
twelve or thirteen regiments of Huropeans, which were all that
were then in India ?

148. There were some persons, however, who still main-
tained that the Company’s ickbal would overcome everything,
but even these became appalled when they heard of the mighty
armies that were coming to invade India. In spite of all this,
troops began to move upcountry, and a force assembled at
Ferozepore, where my corps was stationed in October 1838;
one lakh of soldiers were collected, and also an army which
belonged to Shah Soojah, said to be in his pay, but officered
by English officers, and composed of men of India of all kinds
who felt disposed to try the fortune of war.

149. T was offered a Havildarship-in this legion, with higher
pay, and I joined one of these regiments; having lost my chance
of promotion in my own, from being tried by a court-martial.
It was said, at the time, that this army was paid by the
Company Bahadoor. All T know is, that when the Shah re-
gained his throne he could not pay his own guards. This army
consisted of artillery, cavalry, and infantry, and was called
Shah Soojah’s ““leven’’ (levy). The wsul (real) Company’s
army had then only one weak regiment of Buropeans in the
force which went with us to Cabool!; the sepoy regiments were
the Burdwan, Castor, and Grand, and two others.

160. The nearest road to Cabool would have been through
the Punjab, which at this time was ruled by Maharaja Runjeet
Singh, who was a great ally of the Sirkar, and I believe he
offered to let the army march through his territories; but he
told Lad Fane Saheb the force was too small, and that a col-
lision might take place with some of his own troops, whom he
could bardly manage, up in the north of the Punjab, and there-
fore the order was given that the force should march down to
Sind, and enter the country of the Afghans by the Ghaut®
Bolan.

1561. We marched by the side of large rivers, with thick low

1 He must mean Candahar.—Tr. 2 GQhit, H., “a pass.”’
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jungle; it was a very vile country, and the people were wild.
After a march of two months, during which half the army was
attacked with low fever, we arrived at Roree, on the Indus
river. A bridge of boats was constructed, with great toil and
trouble, and the army crossed over to the dreaded side of the
Indus, which was now for the first time trod by the Hindoo-
stanee sepoy. The country was much the same on the other
side as on this, and the people the same also-—a nasty and a
dirty set. I was crossing with my company, when the bridge
broke and three boats were carried away and swept down past
Fort Bukkur with frightful force. The boatmen were not able
to stop the boats until they had gone six miles. Four sepoys
were drowned, and the company had to remain out all night in
the deep wet jungle; no one knew the way, but in the morning
we discovered the headquarters.

152. The Lad Saheb suffered so much from fever, he went
away to Europe. The Bombay army joined the Bengal army,
and we marched ou towards Shikarpoor. The people of the
country were all Mussalmans, whose language we did not
understand, and everything belonging to them was unclean.
They offered no opposition to our force, and no robberies or
murders occurred then; it was after leaving Shikarpoor that
our real troubles began. The whole country was a vast sandy
desert ; the water in the few wells bitter; and everything even
wood and water, had to be carried on camels.

1563. The Beloochees now began to harass us by night
attacks, and took off long strings of our camels, Their method
of carrying off camels was very curious. A Belooch horseman
would watch a line of them going out to feed, or detached with
baggage; he then thrust a spear with a rag covered-with camel’s
blood in the face of a male camel and excited the animal with
it, till it rushed after the robber, followed by the whole string;
and the Beloochee would thus lead off twenty camels at a time,
for many miles into the hills. This loss of the baggage camels
s0 often occurring, was a source of great misery to the army ;
for although many others were procured, yet, from being un-
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broken, they almost always threw their loads and ran off into
the desert.

154, Our march was in the middle of the cold weather, yet
the heat was so great that numbers of Kuropeans and sepoys
died from its effects, one day thirty-five men fell victims to it.
At this period the sepoy army had almost determined to return
to India and mutiny was showing itself in all three armies; but
partly on account of the lavish promises of the Shah, partly
from dread of the Beloochees, who now increased in numbers
every day, the armies marched on, and the Sahebs did all they
could to encourage their men. Our sufferings were dreadful,
amnd the livers of all the Hindoostanees were turned to water.

155. We went through one valley, called Dadur, which was
the mouth of hell; it was low dewn and surrounded by hills, no
air ever came there;—it was worge than my tomb in Bundel-
kund. Then we came to the Ghaut Bolan. Here many men
and camp followers were killed by the Bolanee Kakur log, who
murdercd everyone when they had a chance; large stones were
rolled down by them from the mountain sides; the water-
courses were all cut through, and the wells filled with peloo!
wood, which made the water stink, so as to make one sick upon
approaching it even. Quetta was next reached. Here it was
very ccld, and the sudden change occasioned numbers of us to
fall sick: with fever. 1In time, Candahar came in sight. All the
opposition we met with was from the Beloochees, and hill-tribes
near the passes; none was offered by the inhabitants of Canda-
har. 1t was said that the Afghans did not know that the
Sirkar’s army would enter their country by this circuitous
route, but expected it would come through the Khyber Pass,
near Feshawur, or through some of the other passes by the
north ; consequently, they had defended those places, and their
forces were all collected there. 1 dare say the Burra Saheb
knew this, and sent secret information, by his agents, that the

! Tho Satva dora pergica which grows all over the Degert and Bar. The
smoke from this wood is so offensive as to create nausea, and spoils any
foud that is cooked with it.—1'r.
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English army intended to come by the Khyber; but still I
know that all the Sahebs with our army were much astonished
that there was no enemy, and that no resistance was offered on
the Cabool side of the passes,

156. The hill-men do not like coming far into the plains,
and seldom leave their homes more than a few coss to make a
raid on a village, or to attack a Kafila.! They are very formid-
able behind their rocks, from whence they can fire with their
long jezails,* which throw a ball three times the size of a
musket-ball, and with execution, at four hundred yards; but
they never stood a volley of our musketry at close guarters.
Their system of warfare is, that each one fights independently,
not in compact bodies, like the Sirkar’s treops. Everyone
passing through these hills'is robbed and attacked, no matter
if he be a friend or foe; often they are bribed to let Kafilus
through, which are in the habit of going to Indis with dried
froits, skins, &c., of their country, and returning with the
merchandise of Hindoostan. Targe sums are often paid to
exempt these from annoyance, but some tribe or other always
declare they never received any of the money, and therefore
they loot them just the same, These hill-tribes are supposed
to belong to the ruler of Cabool, and the Shah sent frequently
to inform them that the English 'were his friends: but no
difference was made by them they fired at and attacked the
Shah’s men just as much as the Sirkar’s. Truly they were a
lawless set of blood-thirsty savages.

157. 1In a short time our army arrived at Candahar—called
by many names, such as Lohraspore, Huseinabad, and Nadera-
bad. It was warm weather when we reached this place but not
o hot as in Hindoostan. The Sirdars came out at first with a
small force; but suddenly, fear seemed to fill their hearts, when
they saw the red coats of the Sirkar, and they all ran away.
If they had defended the Ghaut Bolan, which took up seven or
eight days to get through, half the Sirkar’s army might have
been destroyed.

1 Qifila.—Ed. 2 The long Afghan flint-lock,—Ed.
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158. During this march of unheard-of hardships, I saw, for
the firs, time during my service, dissensions arise among the
officers. The Bombay Lad Saheb and the Bengal General
quarrellad. The former thought his army the best, All the
Bombay officers looked with contempt on the Shah’s army,
and great abuse was given us by the regular sepoys, who called
us nujezbs! (irregulars). Lad Kane Saheb was of higher rank
than our General, and he gave orders for some of the force to
be left behind in Sind. The bundobust (good management) for
which the Sirkar is so celebrated, had left the heads of both the
Commanders.

159. As we approached Candahar, the truth began to come
out, that in spite of all the assurances which the Shah had
given to us in Hindoostan, that the Afghans were longing for
his return, in reality they did not like him for their ruler. Now
again fear and remorss attacked the hearts of the sepoys—they
imagined they had been deceived by the Shah’s promises, and
even thought that the Sirkap itself had been misled ; but by the
wonderful example of the English officers, the army marched
on without anything further than lamentationsand grumblings,
and our hearts were cheered by the thought that if our lives
were saved, we should in the end be rewarded by the Sirkar-
even if the Shah was unable to fulfill his promises. When we
saw the fertile country around Candahar, where gardens with
flowers and many kinds of fruits abounded, we began to feel
more ccmfortable again. I cooked my food under the shade of
fine trecs, with pure water running by. Since leaving Shikar-
poor, none of us had ever had a good meal ; parched grain, and
suttoo® (parched barley, ground) or a small quantity of musty
attah,® was all we had had to eat.

1 Najib, 1it. ‘‘noble.”” The najib of the Mughal army were excellent
irregular infantry, good marksmen and good swordsmen. The Nawiéb
of Oudh had somo najibs organized in imitation of the Company’s
Infantry. These were worthless in every respect and perhaps brought
the term: naiib into disrepute.—Ed.

% Sattd is any finely ground parched grain except rice. —Ed.

8 A1@, coarse native flour. —Ed.

H. L b
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160. The country we came through was on the confines of
hell! It was a land of stones, with no green thing but the jow-
assar (camel-thorn), not a bird but the vulture, which feasted
on the dead bodies of our carriage cattle, and the dead comrades
we were unable to bury.

161. There were no animals in that vile country till our
army came, for what had they to live on? Troops of jackals
followed in our track right through the desert, and got sleek
and fat by their attendance. When a Hinda died, there was
no wood to perform dar ' with, and he was far from holy Kasee?
or pure Gunga;?® his Jot was sad, for he was conveyed about in
divers places in the bellies of hungry jackals! Now I under-
stood why it was forbidden to cross the Indus: truly the fate
of those who ever do so is bad; and onr misfortunes were in-
creased by the thought of having done that which was forbid-
den by our religion,

162. The armies entered Candahar, Shah Soojah-ool-Moolk
was restored to his throne, and great rejoicings were made by
his own people. The Shah’s army went first, before the
Sirkar’s; there was a great lamasha;* and the people at first
seemed pleased at his return; but it was said, that in their
hearts they despised him, and that it was only the fear of the
Sirkar’s army which- made them 'so civil. I think that the
common people did not much care who was their ruler, but the
Sirdars and head people were offended that the Shah had re-
turned with a Feringhee army; they said he had shown the
English the way into their country, and that shortly they
would take possession of it, use it as they had done all Hindoo-
stan, and introduce their detested rules and laws;—this was
what enraged them. They said, had the Shah come with his
own army only, it would have been well. I know that after
the king had been a short time at Candahar, the people did not
care the least about him. and their breasts were filled with ire

I Funeral rite. —Tr. Dah, H., burning.—Ed.
2 Benares.—1'r. 8 Tho Ganges.—T'r. 4+ To do.—1Tr.
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when they saw the English army did not return to Hindoostan,
but made the place a regular Cantonment.

163. We found in Candahar many Hindoos and Bunnias,
who had forgotten even when their ancestors had come there.
We were all surprised at this; but a Bunnia will go wherever
e can cheat. They were found afterwards at Ghuoznie and
Cabool, and I have heard some of them had even penetrated
into the country of the Russ. ‘

164. We remained some time in Candahar, doing nothing ;
but the season for corn was coming on, and we had to wait till
it was ripe before we could proceed. So miserable a country
was this Candahar that sufficient corn could not be found;
sither the shop-keepers buried all their stores, or they really had
not the quantity required; and it took a long time to collect
enough for our onwerd march.

CHAPTER IX.

165. Candahar was, after all, a very poor city, and not to
be compared with many smaller places in Hindoostan. The
people dare not build any very large houses, becanse of the
earthquakes which are here stronger and more frequent than
at Peshawur. The only large building is Ahmed Shah’s
Kubur.! The Saheb Log expected fighting, and were much
disappointed.

166. The sepoys saw no sign of the Shah making them the
presents he had promised; in fact, he only reigned around
Candahar, and was not King of Afghanistan at all.

167. Why the Sirkar’s and Shah’s armies halted so long,
I never knew; but, by doing so, Dost Mahomed had time to
prepare things better for a defence, and get the tribes to send
their raen to him. The presence of the Feringhees excited the
feelings of the people, who looked on them as unwelcome in-
truders: although they were told the English had not come to

1 Ahmad Shih Abdali commonly ealled 8hih Durriini.—Ed.



68

conquer, or take the country away from them, they remembered
the history of Hindoostan, and could not believe that it was
only to put Shah Soojah-ool-Moolk Suddozi-ki' on his rightful
throne.

168. After some months’ stay, the army moved on towards
Ghuzuie, which refused to acknowledge the rule of the Shah.
This place was 140 coss from Candahar; the road in places was
very bad, yet quite easy to what we had come through.
Ghuznio everybody said was a place of great strength, and the
Afghans felt quite suro it conld not be taken.

169. To the astonishment of everyone, Lad Kane Saheb
only took light guns with him, and left all the heavy ordnance.
which we ha'l such labour and difficulty in dragging through the
passes, behind at Candahar, where a garrisoun of two or three
thousand men of the force was also leit.” When Killa Ghuznie
came in view, it was then seen to he a place of great strength,
and that it was not likely to be taken without heavy guns.

170. As the army approached, the cnemy came out in great
force from tho town, and sharp Gring took place; but they were
soon driven in again. This was the first time any fighting oc-
curred since wo came into the country. The Governor was
Hyder Ally Khan. All the people of the place were in favor of
the Dost, and against the Shah; and they felt securs in the
strongth of the place. The walls were too high to scale, and
the horse artillery guns were of little or no use against
them.

171. The armies of the Sirkar and Shah were about to leave
the place untaken, when one night, & deserter came over to our
camp, who said he wished to be taken direct to our General,
and it was belioved that he pointed out a gate which could be
entered. This man was one of the many sons of the Ameer,
with whom be had quarrelled, and now he sought to wreak his
vengeance on his father by betraying the secret of the door.

172. In a fow days a storming party was told off, and orders
were given to keep up a hot fire on that side the fort away from

| Saddozat.—Ed
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the door, to take off the attention of the Ghazees,! while a
hody of men went up to this door, with several bags of powder,
ro blow it open. This night the wind blew hard, and clouds of
Aust were flying about, which made everything darker than
usual. When the guns commenced firing, the Ghazees were
seen running with torches, which suddenly made the place look
like the Dwep poajah? (a Hindoo festival, when they light up
rowns and bazars with oil lamps).

173. After waiting some time, a high flash was seen,
although no noise was heard over the firing of the guns. The
bugles sounded the advance, and the storming party rushed
along—-the 13th Gorag,® and the 16th Grenadiers,* with two
companies of my regiment. None knew if the gate had been
blown in or not, and the'Shah’s soldiers hung back a little, till,
hearing th= continued firing of mugketry, with bugles sounding,
and morning also beginning to break, they went on. The
Yhazees fought like demons, but it was no use—the musketry
swept theta all away.

174, There was great confusion at this time--some said the
gate had not been broken, others that the stormers had gone
through. Qur Brigadier halted the columns inreserve, and sent
on an officer.  But it was now getting light, and we could see the
red coats inside the place. The Ghazees crowded to the gate-
way, and defended it sword in hand. Some companies of
Kuropeans were driven back, and two companies of sepoys
rushed in, and carried the gateway. The Europeans were so
pleased at this, that they shook hands with every man of that
regiment. I heard that the Brigadier Saheb himself was
severcly wounded by a Ghazee who attacked him. The place
was taken, and soon swam with blood. The head people who
were not soldiers, and the women, all came out and begged

| @hazi, lit., a warrior, is in Urduused for a ¢ religious warrior.’ The
modern menning of ghdzi ¢ fanatic '’ is incorrect.—Ed.
2 The Drwali festival in October or November,—Hd.
% 13th Regiment Foot, P.A.L.I,—Tr.

¢ 16th N. T.—T'r.
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the protection of the English General S8aheb, and they were
protected from all insult or harm.

175. The Governor could nowhere be found, nor was it as-
certained if he had been killed or not. After looking for him
all over the place, an officer found him hidden in a house, and
was just going to fire at him, when he called out he was Hyder
Ally., He was taken to the General, who treated him very
kindly. This man spoke very boldly to the Lad Saheb. He
said he was fighting for his country and his Ameer, and that
the Afghans had never annoyed the Feringhees; why, there
fore, had they come into his country to set up a King whom
they all hated ? They had brought death and desolation into
their families ; and he ended by saying, * Kill me if you like;
but if you let me go, I shall éver be found as your enemy, and
will do all in my power to excite the people against you, and
drive you all out of Cabool.”’  The Saheb was not angry; he
told him he was a brave man, and that he respected his feel-
ings; but that he, the General, was acting under the orders of
his Government, whose servant only he was. Again Isaw here
the curious customs in war with the English: had this man
said half as much before a Nawab or Rajah, he would have
been cut to pieces on the spot; still here, in open durbar, the
very Sahebs who had fought against him cried out ‘° Barekil-
la?’* * Barekilla /°’ ' (Bravo! bravo!) This was wonderful!
Why do they fight ? Not to kill their enemies, but to have the
pleasuring of capturing them, and then letting them go! Itis
true, their ways are unaccountable! It was also very odd that
this brave man in words, was found hiding after the fight!

176. Ghuznie was a large town, surrounded by a high wall,
with a lofty citadel. The Afghans thought the place secure
against any invaders; and certainly against any of their tribes
it would have been —but what can stand against the dckbal of
the Sirkar ? The son of the Ameer, Ukbar Khan, was reported

| Birak Allak, lit., < may God bless you! *  This is said by guests to
host on the conclusion of the dinner and by people to one raising a
subscription for a good object. It also means bravo, ete.—Ed,
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to be in full march on Ghuznie, to attack the English army;
but when the news reached him that the place had fallen, he
hastily retreated. In the capture of this place, more Sahebs
were killed and wounded than 1 remember at any other siege;
but the loss in men was small-—not over 180. The cavalry of
our levy here distinguished itself much, and did good service;
the Shal’s army got a name. This siege took place in the
middle «f the hot season of 1839. Some Sahebs’ ladies came
up to this country with the other army,' but how they got up
here I do not know. They are wonderful for courage. The
General Saheb had his lady, who was a real jungee memsahel?
I never knew how these ladies came, because the sepoys told me,
whichever route they had taken, there was much fighting going
on; hut after having seen a lady lead a column through a pass
I can wonder at nothing.  The Pundeet Dhuleepram had often
told me-—“ My son, put not your trust in the counsels of a
woman; for they are like ice—they are firm in the early
morning, but melt away as the sun rises.”” However, he had
never seen an English memsaheb. [If the officers had taken
counsel from some of their wives, such calamities would not
have befallen the Kughish army as afterwards occurred.

177. A garrison was left at Ghuznie, and our army went on
towards Cabool. On our march, the news reached us that
Maharajsh Runjeet Singh was dead, and there was great
anxiety among the officers to know what would result from the
event, It was said that the Sikhs would make friends with the
Afghans, and help them against the Sirkar, and that they
would cut off the English forces going through their country,
Other reports were, that the Sikhs would be hbribed by the
Sirkar. The Afghans were quite as anxious as the English
ofticers could be, as they remembered that the resources of the
Sirkar were endless, and that it had more money in one of its

| Sestaram makes no mention of how the 41st ¥Foot and 16th
Girenadiers camo to be at the siege of Ghuznie: a large force had entere
Afghanistan by the northern passes, through the Khyber, &e,—T7r.

2 Soldier’s wife. —T.



72

towns, thar they had in their whole country. All kinds of
reports were flying about:— first, that the English had been
driven out of Candahar, and their army destroyed at the Bolan ;
then again, that the English were coming through the Bolan
with ten lakhe of soldiers. The reports were endless, and at
perfect variance. The Sahebs did not know the real state of
affairs, and therefors could not contradict any reports circu-
lated in the bazars.

178. Kosgids! now arrived in our camp, and the General
Saheb told us two large armies were soon coming into
Afghanistan. This gave courage to our small force, and the
Commanders were anxious to proceed before the other armies
arrived, who might take all-the prizes out of our hands.
Cabool was eight marches north of Ghuznie. During this
march some ambassadors came into camp from the Ameer Dost
Mahomed, among whom was Nawab Zubber Khan, a brother
of the Ameer. He made a request that the English army might
leave Afghanistan, but he went away without having persuad-
ed the Burra Sahebs? to agree to this. It was curious to see
the way these agents continually came into the English camp
with the most foolish demands; they showed no fear and relied
on the English honour.

179, After the Nawab had left us about three days, news
came that the Dost had been deserted by nearly all his
followers, and a light column was gob ready to pursue him ; the
officers made sure of his being captured. This column was
accompanied by an Afghan by name Hajee Kakur, who said
he was well acquainted with all the movements and intentions
of the Ameer. and would lead the column by a short road right
down upon him; but after several forced marches and halts—
these latter always counselled by this Kakur,—the Ameer
managed to escape over the hills into the country beyond
Cabool; but all his camp and guns were captured. The Shah.
when he heard that the Dost had escaped. demanded the head
of Kakur, as he had found out he was a traitor. The English

I Qaerd, Ar., messenger.—Ed. 2 Political Officors. Tr
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did not give him up, but made him prisoner, and sent him to
Hind oostan.

180. The army entered Cabool without any fighting, and
the Shah was proclaimed King; but here, as at Candahar, the
people took no part in the rejoicings—they were all made by
the Shah’s own soldiers and court. The hearts of the people
were with the Ameer, not with Shah Soojah.

181. The Shah had murdered, in open durbar, & number of
prisoners taken at Ghuznie, among whom were some of the
heads of Afghan families. This act disgusted the English
officers very much, and enraged the Caboolees against him.
Liad Macnaten Saheb was also highly displeased, and informed
the Shah that the English army would be withdrawn if ever
anything of this kind took place again. It had been well if it
had then left this wretched country. The Shah had been placed
on the throne, the Ameer driven out of Afghanistan, but it
was well known that rebetlion would take place the instant the
Keringhee army left. Shah Soojah and all his party dreaded
this, and 1 believe it was through their earnest entreaties that
the Sirkar allowed its army to remain, The Caboolees talked
openly in the bazarg, that the Shah would be king only as long
as the sowruck khulaij! (red people; alluding to their coats)
remained to protect him,

182, The army went into quarters at Cabool: some officers
added to che Native houses, others occupied buildings in the
outgkirts of the city; and life was very much like that passed
in Hindoostan. Soon it became very cold—such severe cold as
never was felt in our country, The sepoys suffered terribly:
they lost the use of their limbs, and all their blood was frozen
in their veing. The English soldiers who came from Europe
did not suffer so much ; but numbers of these were palu margia
{frost bitten) and affected with biwaee (sores caused by cold;
probably chillblains). Snow fell as deep as a man was high,
Provisions were very dear. We Hindus never dare bathe, as, if
we did 8o, it was almost certain death. We had no comfort,

1 Apparently surkk khald,ig, an incorroct term. - KEd.
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noe ease; and we had never received any of the vaunted presents
which the Shah so profusely promised, to induce us to come
into his accursed country.

183. Before the cold weather set in, several regiments of the
Bombay army were sent back to Hindoostan. I believe this
force went by Jugduluck and the Khyber—much the nearest
way, with no deserts to pass through; but there was the fear
of meeting the Sikh troops, who would have been delighted to
attack she Feringhees, although their Government was supposed
to be at peace with the Sirkar. Our army was much reduced,
bat for some time everything went on peacefully.

184. The Afghans soon, however, began to chafe at the
occupation of their country by the English, and complained
that what Lad Macnaten Saheb had said should be done, was
not adhered to, which was, that as soon as the Shah was
secured on his throne, the army would march back to Hindoo-
stan. They pointed out that the King had been restored, yet
the Feringhees remained. © Macnaten Saleb showed that a great
part of the army had been sent back, but they complained all
had not departed, and that, in reality, the English held posses-
sion of their country. The Lad Saheb said that the Sirkar did not
consider the Afghans as enemies at all, only those who resisted
Shah Soojah, the rightfal heir to the throne. The Afghans
replied, they had a right to have whatever king they chose.
And thus there were endless disputes between the Sirdars
and the English durbar.

185. Although all this was going on, many of the Afghan
gentlemen became, apparently, great friends with the Sahebs,
and Afghan ushraf-zadees! (ladies of quality) used to visit the
officers secretly. In this country, the women are allowed to
walk about with.a boorka? (thick veil) on, through which they
can see without being seen; and the Sahebs living in houses in
the city gave great opportunities for luger sazee® (intrigue).

b Sharif-zadi; ashréf the pl. is vulgarly used for the singular.— Ed.
2 Burg‘a, the long women's cloak with a network for the eyes.—Fd.
3 Lagga-sazi, & wrong construction, —Hd.
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The womer: liked the Feringhees because they were fair: in
Cabool, they pride themselves on being fair, and the whiter a
woman is, the more beautiful she is considered. These proceed-
ings gave rise to great jealousies, and more than one officer wag
stabbed or fired at. True it is, women are the cause of all evil!
Several ladies of rank used to go to the Burra Sahebs: some
said they were sent by their husbands, for political objects;
others declared business of another kind took them there;—
but, certain it was, that their husbands might have known they
were in the habit of going to the officers’ houses, as, latterly,
there was very little concealment used. It was a matter of
wonder t¢ us how this could go on, when the Feringhees were
tatked of by the whole population in the bazars with great
contempt, and always were called ¢ cursed Kaffirs.”” There is
no going vo the end of the fancies of a woman. They may have
been sent, in the first place, to try and gain some knowledge of
the designs of the Sirkar; but it was currently reported that
they liked the Sahebs better than their own husbands. Shree
Sookhdanjee ! says—‘ Women of low degree leave their hus-
bands., Thig is the custom all over the world, and has been so
from evor.’”” But these women were not low caste, for some
were the wives of the Sirdars themselves, and they did not
leave their husbands’ protection.

CHAPTER X.

186. The English raised some Afghan regiments, and the
men took service, on uccount of their having heard of the
regularity with which the pay was issued. One of the Captains
of our (the Shali’s) force was made Commander of a regiment.

187. The Ameer Dost Mahomed was known to have gone
towards Bokhara, and it was said he was a prisoner there, but
after a while reports arrived that he had escaped, and was

1 Bhri Shiitkdeo Ji, son of the editor of the Vedsds; he lived sbhout 800
B.C.—EHd. ’
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coming with an army to fight the English., A force from our
army was sent to attack him and fought a battle at a town
salled Sighan, at which the newly raised Afghan regiment refused
to act, and even threatened their officers, if they were made
to do 8o; but in spite of this, the English beat the Ameer, and
for & second time he fled; nearly all his followers dispersed, a
few only remaining with him.

188. Occasionally the English were beaten in some small
engagements that vook place after this, but the Ameer gained no
decided advantage, and more of the Sirkar’s troops having
arrived in Cabool, he gave up the contest, and to the astonish-
ment of the Afghans, as well as the Feringhees, he came to
Cabool, and gave himself up asa prisoner, accompanied by his
favourite son. The Sirkarsent him to Hindoostan and confined
him at Caleutta.

189. There were great rejoicings in Shah Soojah’s court, for
all his enemies were disposed of. But who can govern a people
where the ruler is hated? The Afghans all thought that
through the Shah’s influence the Dost would be slain, and some
of them said he was taken to Hindoostan because the English
were afraid of executing him in Cabool. When the Sirdars who
were enemies of the Shah heard this, they were also afraid that
they would beseized and sent out of their country, therefore they
were in a great state of excitement. These Sirdars worked
upon the feelings of the hill tribes, assuring them that they
would all be made subject to the English, Several small rebel-
lions took place, but they were soon quelled, for the Afghans
Areaded the deadly vollies of musketry of the ‘‘red coats.”

190, About two years after the English first came to Cabool,
a rebellion broke out in the city itself. At first it was com-
menced by only a few of the most discontented Afghans; but
they surrounded the Burra Saheb Burnes’s house, set fire to it,
and when he was escaping through the garden by a small door,
he was cut down by his own Afghan servant. Two or three
other English officers were also killed. After the report spread
about that Burnes Saheb had been murdered, the mob joined
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in the attack, and fighting took place all over the city. This
outburst was so sudden that our officers were quite unprepared
for it ; their force was divided, some part lived in the city and
the other nnar the Badshahi-Bagh, one coss off; still the English
Leld their own. Every day tribes came in to join the {ray, and
treachery showed itself even in the Shal’s own court.

191. Now came misfortunes and calamity upon the English ,
ull their stores were looted or burnt by the enemy, and the
spirits of the army were much depressed; the cold was so
intense that it rendered the Hindoostanee portion of the army
next to useless, It was soon rumoured that Akbar Xhan, the
son of the Dost, had arrived with many troops, and that he
commanded in person; fightins went on every day, and the
Europeans having no good food, lost spirit and could not fight
as they always did before; in every direction there were
enemies. Numerous attempts were made to drive the enemy
from their position—sometimes these succecded, but they were
always attended by great loss to the English. My regiment
was engazed at the battle of Belimeru, and was driven back
with greab loss, and behaved in a most cowardly manner. The
men were not accustomed to fighting, and all repented having
come to the country. In the cantonments, we were annoyed
now night and day by round shot. The ¢ umy seemed to
increase by thousands, their jezails (long matc!locks) carried
further than the Sirkar’s muskets, and although the enemy
never stood a regular charge, still a3 long as they had
cover behind walls, houses, &c., their fire was very dis-
tressing.

192. The Afghans were repeatedly driven from the hills
round Caboeol, but as soon as we retired, they reoccupied ithem
again in greater force than ever. The Afghans being clothed
in sheep-skins called nimchees or postcens,! often escaped sword
cuts, and even musket balls were turned off by their dress; the
general opinion was that some of them, especially a tribe called

1 Postin is & general term; nimcha is a short postin, nota common
word.— Ed.



78

Bedooranees,! were invulnerable. 1 one day saw a party of
their horsemen come within twenty paces of a ravine where a
regiment of ours was concealed; the officers made the men re-
serve their fire, and then the whole regiment springing up
delivered their fire, but not more than three or four horses went
away without riders. This dispirited the sepoy army very
much, and the cold increasing, we were helpless; men lost the
use of their fingers and toes, which fell off after great suffering.
The whole English army was in a miserable plight, |the men
worn down by continued fighting and watching, bad food, &e.

193, Our army was intwo places as I have said, which much
weakened its power. The enemy had possession of the Shah Bagh
(king’s garden), and from it were enabled toannoy us very much:
soveral attempts were made to regain this garden, without success
—the only result being a great loss of men, which we could ill
afford. Orders were sent to Ghuznie and Candahar to push on
all the Sirkar’s and Shah’s forces, but the messengers most
likely were murdered. After awhile, a Ghoorka force endea-
voured to join us, which was commanded by a Saheb, but this was
all cut to pieces, and only two officers escaped to Cabool. This
misfortune made matters worse, as we began to think this would
be the fate of all the other troops the Sirkar had in the country.

194. At this time a circumstance occurred which I had never
heard of or seen before. The Sirdars sent in messengers
dictating terms to the Sirkar’s army; they stated that the
English army was in their power, and that they could entirely
destroy it whenever they thought fit, but that they would spare
it on condition that it immediately left the country. When
this was known I saw many Sahebs shed tears of vexation, and
they laid the blame of all this humiliation on their Generals
and leaders whom they said were too old, and nearly useless.
A cessation of fighting occurred for a fow days, during which
the enemy sent in more agents: all kinds of reports now flew
about our camp; some sald an immediate retreat would be
effected, or that the whole army would lay down their arms;

v Durrani ?—HEd.
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others said that the army would still fight. Nothing of good
seemed to come from these negotiations; and fighting began
again worse than ever.

195. Then at last the burra Saheb Macnauten, sent to say
he would agree to the terms offered, and the Ameer Akbar
Khan himself cawe to have a meeting; soon it was known that
the Lad SBaheb and the (General had agreed to give up hostages.
In two or three days after this the army left the Bala Hissar,
and all came into cantonments: this was done without any op-
position being offered. Now was the time I spoke of when the
extraordinary courage of the officers’ ladies came forth. They
were all against giving up hostages, and when, not listening to
their advice, these were given; all those Sahebs who had wives
were followed by them into confinement.. The Sirdars promised
provisions and carriage for our army, but it never was forth-
coming; the force remained some time longer in a wretched
condition, but during this period it was not molested by the
Afghans, any further than they did their utmost to prevent
‘provisions reaching our camp, the price of which was perfectly
absurd, and great misery was endured by all: but more parti-
cularly by the European officers, for all they could get to eat
was dried fruit and parched corn.

196. One day when the Burra Saheb and his A.D.C. were at
a meeting with the Sirdars, a report came that Macnauten
Saheb had been killed by Akbar’s own hand: soon the shouts
of the pecple were heard like the noise of the wind hefore a
toofan ! (storm), and firing was soon directed into our camp.
The news of the Lad Sahel’s death was true: both the Com-
missioners had now been murdered. The General Saheb was
going to take vengeance on the city for the treachery, but the
officers represented that their men were too weak to take the
offensive; however, it would have been better to have been
killed fighting than massacred in a retreat as was afterwards
the case. Wisdom seemed to have departed from everyone,
and the usual energy displayed by the English officers was

t Tajan. —Rd.
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gone; they had undergone such severe trials, and misfortune
had depressed their spirits. Reports said that Shah Soojah
had joined tho other Ameers against the English, because he
was afraid, now that things had gone so much against thom,
of appearing to be their friend.

197. Now began the retreat of our army, in the midst of
the cold season, and with snow four feet deep. The tirst march
out of Cabool no annoyance was given by the Afghans; the
second passsd over quictly, but on the third day the camp
followers and basgage all crowded among the column, and
threw it into endless confusion. The Afghans seeing this,
began to harass the army day and night, and they fired from
the hills into the column, in which everyone was as helpless as
a prisoner with handcuffs on.

198. Akbar Khan himsell was following, and when com-
plaints were made to him of this treachery, ho swore it all took
place against his will, and that he could not restrain the
Ghazees. More officers were demanded, and given up as hos.
tages. Why this wag agreed to, I do not know, except it was
that senso had left the brains of everyone as I have said before ;
because as they got the officers into their power, so was our
army deprived of leaders: every Suzheb that was taken away
was a8 bad as two hundred men lost. At last the Afghans
said they would only protecv the English army on condition
that the General was givon up. Lo the amazement of every
one he agreed to go, for, with the example of the two Burra
Sahebs, Burnes and Macnauten, what could he expect? When
the General Saheb left, all discipline fell away; everybody did
what he chose; the consequence of which was, the Afghans
were enabled to annoy us and cut off more men than ever. A
number of sepoys and servants went over to the enemy under
the idea that their lives might be saved.

189. My regiment was nowhere, and I attached myself to
the remains of a regiment of gora log,! thinking that by stick-

| British Infantry,—Tr.
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ing to them T might have some chance of getting out of this
detested conntry. But alas! alas! what is predestined by fate,
who can withstand? We went on fighting and losing men at
every step : we were attacked in front, in rear, and from the
tops of the hills: in truth it was hell itself. I cannot describe
its orrors, At last a high wall of stones Dlocked up the road,
and in trying to force this, our whole party was destroyed ; the
men fouzht like gods, not men, but numbers prevailed against
them. [ was struck down by a jezail ball on the side of my
head, after which I knew nothing until I found myself tied
crossways upon a horse, which was rapidly led away from the
fighting towards (fabool, and I now learned [ was to be taken
theve and sold as a slave. T prayed to be shot, or to have my
throat cut, and T poured abuse in Pushtoo and my own language
on the Afghans. Many a koife shook in its sheath, but my
captor could not prevent my speaking, and as no fear of death
had any effect on me, he threatened to make me a Mussulman
on the spot.,! if T did not remain quiet.  What dreadful carnage
T saw wlong the road—legs and arms protruding through the
snow, Europeans and Hindoostanees half buried, horses and
camele all dead! Tt was a sight [ shall never forget as long us
I live.

200. My captor, aftev having seen that I desired death
bevond anything else, began to be more merciful, and [ was
taken from the horse and tied in a kujawaeh (pannier) oun a
camel which, bad ns it was, wag better then hanging head
downwards from a pony. The Afghan rabbed my wound with
snow, which took away the pain; the ballonly ploughed up the
skin where it grazed off my skull. In four or tive days we
reachsd Cabool, and 1 was clothed in Afghan garments, and
sold in the market place as a slave,

201, The rich Afghans set value on Hindoostanees and had
many as servants. 1 was a fine-looking strong man, and 1
fotehod 40 tillahs (Rs. 240); one Osman Beg® purchased me.
At the same time I was sold, there were several other sepoys,

U g.e, cirenmeise him, - Bd. 2 Ugmiin Bey.—Ed,
18. L 6
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and some few Europeans also for sale ; these latter were intend-
ed to be used as instructors to the Afghan army, and being
supplied with some skine of Shiraz wine did not appear to
lament their fate as we did. I saw one Saheb among the Euro-
peans—he belonged to the Company Bahadoor’s army ; he spoke
to me, and said that the Sirkar would soon send a large army
and re-conquer the country, and that if our lives were spared
we should all be rescued. I think he said his name was Wallan
(perhaps Wheeler), I have forgotten now if I name him rightly,
but his words gave me some comfort.

902. I was not treated very unkindly by my new master,
but the threat was held over me if I did not ohey, or attempt-
ed to escape, that I should be made a eunuch, and sold for o
large sum to attend some harem. My master being able only
to make me understand very little in his language, gave orders
1 should be taught Farsee (Persian). I should have killed my-
selt during my captivity, had I not felt certain the words of
Wallan Saheb wonld come trae, and that it would not be long
hefare I should be able to escape.. I was put under a Moulvie,
one Mahomed Suffee,! who at ficst did nothing but revile me,
calling me mooshric® (idolator) ; but when he saw I took pains
to learn his accursed language, he changed hig tune and tried
all his persnasions to make me become o Mussulman :—

Uyan nu shood ki kooja amudum kooja boodwm.*
Dirigh o durd ke gafil zi kart khwest tunum,. *

< Where I am now I do not know, nor even where I first came
from. Alas! alas! I have forgotten my own self!”’
1 did not become a Mussulman, but strove to bear up against

I Muhammad Safi.—Hd.

2 Mushrik, one that attributes * partbership’ (shirkat) to the Deity : a
polytheist.—Ed,

3 The Soobadar has introduced these lines of Persian, but 1 do not see
how they apply mueh, probably to show his knowledge of Porsian,—1'r.
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my hard fate. I was at first chiefly employed in preparing
tobacco for my master, and wag thankful I had no more degrad-
ing work to perform.  When it was known I could keep
accounts, Qsman Beg entrusted me to keep his, and from this
circumstance I becwine of more importance in his fanmily.

CHAPTER XL

203. Upon the news of the total destruction of the Ferin-
ghee armies (for it was reported that their forces had been
destroyed at Ghuznie and Candahar as well as at Cabool), great
rejoicings were made in the @ity Shah Soojah, who, though
he sided with the Ameer when he saw the sudden change affairs
had taker., was looked on with suspicion. The people of the
country cxecrated him, because he had brought ruin upon the
land, by introducing a Feringhee army to come and put him
on his throne, He remained in the palace in the Bala Hissar,
and still seemed to be the king; but his reign lasted only a
short time, for one day when he was going out of the palace to
visit the cammp of the Sirdars, he was fired upon by some
Baruckzycs and killed on the spot. Sirdar Ifutteh Jung seized
the throne. Ameer Ukbar Khan, however, hastened back Lo
(abool with a part of his force, and drove him from the city,
and it was said he took flight to the Tnglish army which was
coming info the country.

204. I made several endeavours to see some of the Saheb
log who were said to be in Cabool as prisoners, but on account
of the guards round the places of their confinement 1 only once
succceded in seeing five Salichs and three ladies, who were kept
in a small building in the city : but 1 was unable to do them
good. 1 conld only tell them that the general report was that
an Englisk army bad arrived in the country, and this seemed
ro give them some consolation. 1 promised to let them know
when it approached. One officer told me, that repeated threats
Liad been made to them of being sent out of the country and
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sold as slaves, which he was much afraid would be done before
the army could reach the place; and he complained that they
were all much annoyed by the mob, who often came and abused
them. He also made great inquiries about General Elphinstone
Saheb, who was a prisoner; but this officor must have been
kept outside the city, as I never could find where he was. This
meeting took place late in the evening, and I came pretending I
had been sent by the Ameer with some tobacco, but I was sub-
jected to 30 severe a scrutiny that I dare not go again, and was
thankful to have escaped with my life,

205. The approach of the English army was now talked of
daily ; the report stated that the passes had been all forced by
the Sirkar’s troops, and that'many lakhs of men were coming
to take Afghanistan. Tear now came upon all the people, and
they repented of the massacre; but the chief hlame was now
cast on the Ghazees. Numbers of the more wealthy inhabit-
ants now left the city. [ endeavourcd one day to interest my
master about the Saheb log, who were captives, and told him
he would be well rewarded if he assisted them in any way ; this
was only met by abuse, and the former threat repeated. Al-
though my dress was like an Afghan’s, still my voice always
betrayed me, and I dare not go again to look after the English
officers, and as I had no money 1 conld bribe no one. 1 tried,
however, to gain over a young hoy who brought meat to my
master’s house, and whom I heard once express a desire to see
Caleutta, and the wonders of the Feringhees, and who said he
should accompany a kafile (caravan) to India, when he was rich
enough. I wrote a small note in the Hindee language in
Porsian characters, and entrusted it to him to give to one of the
Sahebs; but as I never saw him again, I do not know if he ever
delivered it, or, if he did, whether its purport was understood.
1t was to say, that the English army was reported to be within
ten days’ march of Cabool. As the army approached, the fear
became greater, and my master determined to fly from the city.
1 tried in vain to explain to him that I knew the Feringhee
cngtoms, and he would not be molested, as he had never taken
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any part against them ; but he would not believe me, and
therefore he left the place.

206. I was now so coustantly watched, I had no oppor-
tunity of escape. My master took the road with his family to
Istalif, and 1 now gave up all hopes of regaining my freedom.
This place was by the side of a hill, with deep Fhuds?! all
round, nearly unapproachable; the people had defended it
by thizk walls of stones, and small towers. The Afghans
thought they could defend this place against the whole-world
—and very likely they could against any men but English
soldiers.

207, After a while, we heard Cabool had been taken, also
Ghuznie, and Candahar; then that a force was coming to at-
tack Istalif—so my master retired still further over the moun-
tains, io Sheerkudo. "On the road to this place, we were told
that the English had driven the Afghans out of Istalif with
great slaughter, and destroyed the town.

208.  For seven months my master remained at Sheerkudo.
I was very unhappy, not kunowing which way to goif I did
effect 1ay escape from bondage. T had now learned to read and
write Persian very fairly, but 1 could never pass myself off as
a native of the country, on account of the differcnce in pro-
nunciation. For a long time no news arrived of the English,
and hope began Lo leave my breagt. I became quite reckless
of life at the idea of remaining a slave. How bitterly T repent-
ed having left my old regiment! At last the news reached this
out-of-the-way place, that the English had burnt the whole of
the city of Cabool, and had returned to India.

209. Several Afghan families went hack to their homes, and
when my master heard from some friend that these reports
were true, he made preparations to return also, and we arrived
in Cabool just as the snow was commencing to fall. The city
had not been burnt, but the Ali Murdan (the bazar) had been
totally destroyed. The inhabitants had not been molested,

! Khad, a hill-side, the side of a ravine.—Fd,
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which much astonished the people, for all who had the means
left: the city, fearing retribugion.

210. It was now more than three years since I had entered
this vile country, during which time I had never heard from my
own family or of my father’s. T wondered who had taken care
of mine, supposing they were still alive, and how they managed
to exist. Many doubts filled my mind. My master was not
unkind to me, but I was made to do many things against my
casto, without consideration as to the horror it inspired in my
breast.

211.  Now that the KEnglish had left the country, my chances
of escape were so much reduced, that I almost gave up the idea.
However, in a few months my master had occasion to go on
business to Ghuznie, aud T was left hehind. As I had not for a
long time lamented my lot, orsaid anytling about escaping, 1
was not watched so much now, and had greater liberty allowed
me. [ had made friends with one Ahmed Shah, a leader of a
kafile which used to go every year to Hindoostan; and as he
knew every town in my own country, being also well known to
many merchants in Oude,' T opened my leart to him, about
wmy wish to be free. T told him, if he would connive at my
escape, I would be able to pay him a handsome sum on reach-
ing India. After a great deal of haggling he agreed to let me
go with him as his servant, upon my promising to pay 500
rupees on reaching India, which agreement he made me write
on paper. After I had done this, T was much afraid he would
disclose my secret; but I comforted myself with the thought
that he would not gain so much by betraying me as by assisting
me,

212, In a few days his camels were ready to depart. I
bought a dirty set of garments, pulled my hair down over my
face, and burnt the ends with lime, so as to make it look as
much like a Pushtooree’s as possible. I cast up all my master’s
accounts, and left even the clothes he had given me; the only

I Avadh or Awdh.—Ed,
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thing I tcok was a long knife.  Karly one morning I left Cabool
with a kafila of 175 camels, but I soon found my situation ag
servant, though only assumed, was in reality a very hard one.
Ahmed Saah was very hot tempered, and used to pour forth
abuses on me in my own language, which was hard to bear. T
had to attend on the camels, lead them to feed, and to do the
regular work of a camel-man. 1 bore up against all this, and
as the kafila distanced Cabool, my heart began to rejoice at the
prospect of escape. But, suddenly, from some news which
canme to the master of the caravan, that it was dangerous to
attempt passing through the Punjab by the north, on account
of the disturbed state of the country, and the numerous and
heavy duties which were sure to be levied, Ahmed Shah deter-
mined £ go by another rotute, that of Dehra Ismael Khan. T
wag now in great fear that, as we were taking the road to
Ghuznie, 1 might meet my old master and be claimed. I kept,
therefoie, a sharp look-out for any party of travellers attended
by horsemen, as § knew my former master had hired some to
escort Lim to Ghuznie,

213. Abouttwo marches before arriving at the Killa Ghuznie,
Osman Beg and his party passed our kofila. 1 saw him at a
distance, and at once made up my mind to use the pistol with
which [ had been furnished, either against him or myself, sooner
than be taken back into slavery. It was an anxious moment,
snd any mistake on my part would have been sure to lead to
my detection. 1 happened to be at the time on the same side
of the string of camels that he must pass, so L changed over to
the other, and commenced making the loud noises of the
Afghans when driving camels, which sounds are quite different
from those the drivers make in Hindoostan. As the party
passed, my former master called out to know whose kafila it
was, snd how many days we had been coming from Cabool.  As
fate would have it, the next man to me answered, and thus
suved my speaking, which might have betrayed me. Osman
Beg and his horsemen moved on without noticing me, and my
chances of cscape were now more cheering. I felt greater relief
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when I saw the spears of his escort become small in the distance,
than 1 did when the Pindarees departed from the tomb in
Bundelkund. Few people have been exposed to such trials
twice.

214. After leaving Ghuznie, the kafila struck off to the cast,
and by paying the tribes in the hills, we got through, wonderful
to say, without being annoyed, and arrived at Dehra Isniael
Khan, which belonged to the Sikhs. Here heavy duties were
levied before the kafila was allowed to move on. Although I
wag not yet in my own country, I felt very happy at being out
of the vile country of the Afghans, and at having recrossed the
Indus.

215. At Dehra Ismael Khan I heard the English were fight-
ing in Scinde, and 1 wanted Ahmed Shah to take the kafila
down that way; but he had determined to go straight to Feroze-
pore. After a great deal of trouble from the Sikh anthorities,
who were constantly making demands for some tax or other on
the kafile, in October 1043 we reached Ferozepore.

216.  As the buildings in cantonments became visible, I conld
hear the drums and bugles of the regiments, and I was overcome
with joy; but Ahmed Shal would not let me go up to the
cantonments till he had made his own arrangements in the serai,
and could go with me; he would not let me out of his sight a
moment. After the camels were unloaded and sent out to feed,
both of us mounted and set off for the cantonments. I went
with him to the Brigade Major’s, and we were ordered out of
the compound, as the Saheb wanted no fruit.) T then spoketo
the orderlies in their own language, and explained my situation,
requesting to see the Saheb. When I did see him, it was not of
much use, as he would not believe me, and also told me that,
supposing my tale were true, he was quite certain the Govern-
ment would not pay so much as Rs. 500, or indeed anything,
for my ransom.

Afghans are in the habit of going round to the houses in Canton
ments, selling fruits, nuts, tobaccu, ete.—1'r.
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217. T then went to the Magistrate, and told him my tale,
claiming deliverance from being a slave, which Ahmed Shah,
now that he saw 1 was not likely to obtain any money, loudly
proclaimed me to be. The Saheb at first refused to listen to
me, but when lie found I knew all the officers in several regi-
ments, ke began to give me more attention.  Still he refused to
advance me any money, and he also said the Sirkar would never
do so.

218. 1 tried one last resource, and went to the Burra Com-
missioner Saheb, and by good fortune saw a Subedar of my late
regiment on guard; he had been promoted into some other
corps. I made myself known to him, but he at first would not
credit my story, till T spoke to-him in Hindee, and told him
facts which put all doubt out of his mind. He went with me to
the Commissioner Saheb, who was very attentive to my story,
and asked me a hundred questions about the army in Cabool; but
he also ¢aid he did not think the Government would pay my
ransom. However, the Subedar agreed to pay Rs. 250, and the
Saheb, after the Subedar declared lie knew my family were well
off in Oude, advanced me the remainder. My dust-a-kut! (note
of promise) was retained, the affair entered in some boak, and 1
was free; but without a pice, and nothing remaining to me bhut
my dirty Afghan clothes.

219. 1 went to the lines of one of the regiments, but when I
informed. the sepoys who I was, they all declared 1 was unclean
and defiled—some even accused me of having heen made a Mus-
sulman ; therefore, until T could regain my caste, I could look
for no mohubut* (friendship) from my own people! This great-
ly mortified mo, and T almost wished I had remained in Cabool,
where at any rate I was not treated unkindly.

220. T returned to the Brigade Major, with spirits cast
down. After I told him the Burra Saheb had paid a part of
my ransom, he agreed to take me to the Brigadier Saheb, who
was very kind to me indeed. He knew my old regiment, and

i nformed me it was now at Delhi, I was furnished with some

V Dast-lhatf, - Fd. 2 Muhabbut, - Ed.
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money, and allowed to live in his compound. He also wrote
to the Adjutant-General Saheb about me, in order that I should
be reinstated in my old regiment. I threw off the Afghan
clothes T had now worn for one year and seven months, and
having been shaven and shorn, I became more like a soldier in
appearance ; but I was still shunned by all my brethren—in fact,
was an outcaste. The Brigadier Saheb often called me into the ’
verandah, and asked me about my adventures in Cabool, and
took great interest in me. It was entirely through him that T
owed my good fortune in being looked on with favour by the
Sirkar.

221, After some time, I received orders to join my former
regiment at Delhi, and heing furnished with the means by some
officers who were exceedingly kind to me, T marched down to
Delhi, and reported my atrival to my Colonel Saheb. He was
very much pleased to see me, and scemed to have quite for-
gotten all about my court-martial. T was a supernumerary for
some time, and as soon as there was a vacancy I was restored
to my former place as havildar in niy regiment.

222, [ had written home, and here received an answer. My
wife was dead (first one), also my mother, and my old friend
the Pundit. My father wished ne to come home, and promised
to pay the Rs. 250, which he said he would send me by a
hoondie. All this time I was treated by the Brahmins as an
outcaste, and could only associate with Mussulmans, and
Christian drummers and musicians, who were the only people
that would speak to me. The officers knew this and were very
kind to me; but as I had no money, I could not regain my
caste just then.

293, When the time for furlough came round, I was allowed
to take mine. But what changes I found at my home; my
father had become an old man, and my younger brother man-
aged everything for him. The news of my having been made a
slave had reached my village, and T was not allowed to remain
in my father’s house. I found my brother my enemy, as he
had long supposed me to be dead, and looked forward to suc-
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ceeding to the estate. My father paid for my regaining my
caste, which I proved was forcibly taken away. This time it
did not cost so much, I was not, however, happy, as I could
hear no news of my Thakoorin wife: she had remained with my
old regimunt some time, and then suddenly disappeared. Some
said she bad returned to lier own country, others hinted that
she liad gone off with some sepoy. My son had been removed
to another regiment, which had gone to Scinde, and nothing
had heen heard of him for two years. I had some small sum of
money which belonged to my first wife ; with this I paid off the
Rs. 230 Sabedar Kooshial Doobay ! had lent me.

224, My father tried all in his power to induce me to leave
the service, and live with himjbut my heart yearned after my
son and my wife, and I kunew I should never find them by
remaining at home. I therefore determined to set off for Bundel-
kund in search of my wife, and went direct to the village where
a brosher of hers was living. When I arrived there, and dis
covered that her brother was a proﬁd Rajpoot, owning a con-
siderable property, and, though not above me in caste, yet
greatly above me in pogition, my heart began to fail me, as to
what veception I might experience. I however made up my
mind, and boldly stated T had come to obtain my wife, and to
my ureat delight found her living under her brother’s pro-
tection.

225. 1 was allowed to take her away to my hiome, where I
left her ir: the care of my father, and set off to rejoin my regi-
ment at Delhi. But I had now no spirit and was almost tired
of life. When I was in Cabool the hope of effecting my escape
kept me up; every day 1 was occupied with dreams of being
again free. Now 1 had returned, what had I gained ? 1 had
obtained no promotion, no rewards for all I had undergone; six
months’ pay was owing to me, which I had little chance of
recovering. I had spent a large sum to vegain my liberty, and
my caste, and owed a considerable sum to a Saheb be-

I Kushal Diive.—Ed,
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sides. T became ill, and remained a long time on the sick
report. !

226. During this time T had solicited my Colonel Saheb to
present my petition to the Sirkar, which he promiged to do.
In it, I stated how long I had served the Sirkar, how many
battles I had been in, how I had been wounded, etc., and that
I had entered the Shalh’s army by the express desire of an
officer, and with the promise of promotion and hetter pay. 1
then mentioned that I had obtained no promotion, that I was
owed six months’ pay, had been captured when wounded, and
sold as a slave ; that I had effected my escape by promising to
give Rs. 500, had lost one year and seven months towards my
pension, and I entreated the Sirkar in mercy to listen to my
prayer.

227, After waiting six months, the Colonel Saheb informed
me that the Sirkar would pay my ransom, but as there were no
accounts to show how many months’ arrears were dae to me,
or to any of the Shah’s force, the money could not be given,
unless I could obtain some officer of my late regiment to certify
how many months’ pay were due at the time of the retreat.

CHAPTER XII.

228. As the day I joined the remains of the European corps
at Cabool was the last on which I saw any of my own regiment,
T imagine all the officers must have been killed. I repeated all
the names I could remember to the Colonel Saheb, but he was
unable to tell me where one officer was. 1 was in great good
fortune to get my noul bundee® (ransom) even paid, but it was
all the Colonel Saheb’s doing; T should never have obtained
this if ‘he had not been to me as a father. Although I had
regained my caste, and was made a good deal of by the officers,

! The mysterious disense produced by fikr. ¢ Thore izno fire more des-
tractive than anxiety ; **—Saying. —2d.
2 Na‘l-bandi, this word is now ohsolete in this sense. ~B4
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still 1 ways looked on with jealousy by the men of my regiment.
I had provented a nalque and a sepoy getting their promotion
by returning, and was constantly taunted with having had
rounut! nerformed on me (being made & Mussulman), also with
having enten beef while with the European soldiers in Cabool.

229, 'lue disasters of the Sirkar in Afghanistan began to be
greatly talked of all over India, and mauy declared that the
English were not invincible. This was specially the case at
Delhi, and from this time T imagine the idea entered the minds
of the Mussulmans, that they would one day be able to drive
the Nirker out of the country. The sepoys were discontented ;
they found they were liable to be required to cross the Indus at
any time,  They complained that the Sirkar had not performed
the pronises which were made to induce them to go to Afghan-
istan, and now they had rveturned, they had gained nothing,
neither promotion nor inam (reward). The Mussalmans boasted
that they all came originally from Cabool and Pergia, and could
fight ths Sirkar as well as the Afghans, Several emissaries
from the court of the Badshah at Delhi came into our lines, and
tried tc find out the temper and general feeling of the army.
When the sepoys pointed out how easily the Sirkar had rvetaken
Cabool, these people replied, that had not the Feringhee army
returned so quickly, the second army, when the cold weather
seb in, would have been as easily destroyed as the first, As 1
have hefore mentioned, I was always looked upon with some
degree of suspicion in my regiment. 1 myself was not spoken
to on the subject, but still I heard the matter openly
discussed.

230. I reported all this to the Quartermaster Saheb, who
only laughed at me, and I went to the Colonel Sahebh, who
listened to me very attentively, but he said he was afraid T had
hroughs an accusation against the regiment through spite, and
he warned me not to talk to him on such a subject again. He
was of opinion it was all the idle talk of the bazars. Of course,

I Evidently an ervor for sunnat.—Ed.
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after this reprimand, I did not report anvthing more to any
Saheb, as it only did me harm.

231. After the Cabool war, and the Scinde campaign, most
of the Sirkar’s regiments from Delhi to Ferozepore were ready
for mutiny and only the wonderful fortune of the Sirkar pre-
vented o general rising. The sepoys complained that extra
batta had been promised, to persuade them to go to Scinde,
and that after they had marched there, it was declared to be a
mistake, or that it never had been authorized, though their
commanding officers told them they would certainly get it.
Yoo, my Lord, were in India then, and know that several
regiments were in mutiny. In only four or five did this show
itself very openly ; but discontent was deeply seated in all, and
many people expected s general mutiny throughout the army.
Mahomedan agonts were at work in every station, and numbers
of Afghan, Persian, and other spies, who promised that if the
army would rige, their countries would join it against the
Feringhee, to wipe off the disgrace they had suffered in Cabool
in having had their bazor destroyed. They also said they
would restore the throue of Hindoostan to the Delhi Badshah.
Every Rajah and Nawab was sounded, and, if friendly to the
scheme, proposals were made to him to assist in getting rid of
the English.

232. 1t is true many had just cause of complaint. I myself
had been promised promotion and extra pay, but neither the
one nor the other had I obtained ; the Sirkar had, however,
paid for my ransom, and I was free, instead of being a slave.
The recollection of this was never absent from my mind.

233. The year passed without any further signs of disaffec-
tion, It was well known at Delhi, that during the Afghan war
the Sirkar itself had been in fear, and had ordered the
artillery to fire more than usual that year, to remind the
inhabitants of its power; but the disasters in Cabool went »
long way to show that the Sirkar was not so invincible as had
always been supposed, and it certainly was not feared now so

much as formerly.
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34. Another year passed away, and then the rumours of
discontent, together with the excitement, subsided. At this
time the Sikhs were said to be anxious to try their power
with the Sirkar. Their army was very large, well drilled, and
felt counfident of beating the Ungreese! army. The Sirkar
now began to move up regiments towards Umballah and
Loodiana. and remained there some time.

235, I think the English officers imagined the Sikhs would
confine themselves to blustering on the other side of the river,
and would never dare cross it ; large bodies of them were seen
on the hanks of the Sutlej, but none had yet come over. At
last, a party of Sikh horsemen crossed the river at Hurree-
puttun, and cut up a number-of grasscutters, and looted some
stores balonging to the Sirkar. This was the first shadow of
their intentions ; still the Sitkar’s officers thought the Sikhs
would never invade Hindoostan.

236. More troops were now moved up to Fernzepore, and
orders came shortly for my regiment to proceed there, which it
did by forced marches in four days.

237. The Klhialsa army had a great name, as they had heen
drilled by #rancese (French) sahebs, and had muskets Jike the
Sirkar’s army. 'Their guns were innumerable. Most of the
sepoy regiments felt afvaid of opposing the Sikhs; but several
European regiments were among the force, and this gave
them more confidence. After a few davs some horsemen
came rushing into Ferozepore with the news that the Khalsa
army had actually crossed the Sutlej, at least five lakhs ?: and
were intending to attack the station.  Officers were sent off to
see, and they reported that it was true, but that their numbers
were ahout 20,000. Therc were only seven or eight regiments
at Ferozepore, still General Littler Saheb moved out against
the Kha.sajee; but, to the great amazement of every one their
army retired, and did not come to Ferozepore. Afterwards it
was said they thought that the whole cantonments had heen

1 Angrezi.—Ed, 2 500,000,—T'r,
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mined, and that if they attacked the place they would all
be blown up; therefore they wished to fight out in the
plain.

238. In a few days after this, heavy firing was heard at
sonie distance from Ferozepore. In the evening news came
that a battle had been fought: some said the Sirkar’s army
had been beaten and was retreating on our station; others
reported that the Sikhs had been worsted, and their army
routed ; another rumour was that neither army had won the
day, but were occupying the same ground on which the fight
had taken place. However, during the evening several officers
came in, and it was then known that the Sirkar had been
victorious, and many of the Sikh guns had been taken,

239.  All the troops were ordered-from Ferozepore to join
forthwith the other army.  We marched at night, and went a
good way round, to avoid the Sikhs, who were reported ready
on the road to try and cut us off. Next day, at 12 o’clock, we
joined the other large division of the Birkar’s army after a
long march, in great want ol water, very tired, and unfit for
fighting ; but notwithstanding this, the order was immediately
given to prepare for battle. Qwing to some movement of the
Sikhs, the fight was delayed until the sun was nearly down,
and night was closing on us.

240, This was fighting indeed; T had tever seen anything
like it before. Volleys of musketry were delivered by us at
close quarters, and returned as steadily by the enemy. In all
former actions I had been in, one or two volleys at close
distance were all the Sirkar’s enemies would ever stand; but
these Sikhs returned volley for volley, and never gave way
until nearly decimated. They had their regiments placed
between their guns, aud behind them : their fire was terrible,
such as no sepoy had ever been under. The Sirkar’s guns were
almost silenced, and the ammunition waggons blown up. 1
saw two or three Kuropean regiments driven back by the
weight of the artillery fire ; it was like the bursat (rains); they
fell into confusion; several sepoy regiments did the same.
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One European regiment was kafoor hogia (evaporated, ! i.e.
destroyed), totally swept away; and I now thought the
Sirkar's army would be overpowered, and fear filled the minds
of many of us.

241, When it was almost dark, a loud shout was heard,
which did not sound like that of the Sikhs ; a roaring noise of
cavalry wame next, and the 3rd Dragoons rushed right through
into the enemy’s entrenchment, and rode over and cut down
their gunners. This change was so sudden, and cavalry charg-
ing right into batteries such an unheard-of thing, that for
a few moments the Sikhs left their guna in perfect amazement-

242, [t now became quite dark, and the Sirkar’s army
left off fighting, but the Sikhs continued firing wherever they
saw a light. The force I was with was commanded by General
Littler Saheb, and lost its way in the darkness. For fear of
marching right into the Sikh camp, we were ordered to lie
down. This night was nearly as bad as some of those in
Cabool : we dare not light a fire, for fear of the enemy’s round
shot, no water was to be procured, and we had nothing to eat
but what few chupatties some men had put in their haversacks.
The Sahehs said this was real fighting, and that the Sikhs were
noble enemies ; still they looked anxious, wondering what the
morning would bring forth. The weather was bitter cold, and
naught was heard among us but the chattering of teeth on
empty stomachs.

243. T remember on this night one Saheb of a regiment next
to mine kept walking up and down singing : he was checked by
the other officers, but he still continued it, The Saheb was not
tipsy, but was trying to comfort himself without the mess-kote !
It was a dreadful night; the Engligsh had not left the ground,
and the Sikbs had not been driven from their breast-works; it
was boerd* (a drawn game),

Y Kijur ho-jang in Urdu applied to people mesns 2 to run away,’’
but to things *“ to disappear.”’ Hindus use it of people in the sense of
‘““to die.” The meaning here is ambiguous.—Hd,

2 Burd.—}d.

HS, 1 7
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244. When morning dawned, the English army began to get
into shape again, and the storming of the Sikh entrenchments
was ordered. My column joined that from which it had become
separated during the night. The Governor-General Saheb him-
self rode about the field, speaking to the gora log (Europeans),
and telling his aides-de-camp to bid us fight like men, and
vietory was certain.

245. 1 do not understand how it was, but some said the
Governor-General Saheb was under the jungee Lord Saheb
(Commander-in-Chief) ; they were both present at the battle, and
the Governor-General Saheb obeyed the Commander-in-Chief! It
was said the former had been a great General in Belait, and had
fought many battles, in one of which he had lost an arm. Lord
Guoff Saheb ! was a great favourite with the gora log, for when-
ever he came near a regiment they began cheering him.

246. The Europeans rushed on the batteries, and the Sikhs
fled; then the horse artillery came up quite close, and poured
grape into the enemy ; but the English army was too tired and
faint from want of food for pursuit.  The Khalsajee got to the
ford and crossed over the river. The whole of their camp was
captured, and one hundred guns; but the tents had been fired,
and powder was continually exploding, by which several men
were killed whilst looting. ' However, a great booty was taken ;
tents lined with gilk and shawls, belonging to the Sirdars, and
arms of every description. Many men were severely burnt in
trying to save these tents.

247. After this great battle, whilst the English army was
cooking their food, the bugles sounded the alarm, and a report
came that the whole of the Sikh cavalry was coming down upon
us, and soon a fresh army was seen marching straight towards
us. The fight began again, but the Sirkar’s guns were unable
to fire, as they had expended all their ammunition. The
Sirkar’s ickbal was indeed great, for without any apparent cause
the Sikh army retreated. Great was the astonishment of every
one, for these were all fresh troops; some said that they sudden-

1 Lord Gough.—T7.
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ly heard that another army of the Sirkar was in their rear. But
whatever was the reason, after firing a few rounds they ceased,
and marched away. They were not attacked by the English
army, a8 they never came within musket range. It was sup-
posed there must have been one lakh of cavalry, enough to have
surrounded our force and totally destroyed it. Some said that
Sirdar Tej Singh was afraid to fight, The S8ahebs were as much
astonished as any one, and the retreat of the Khalsa gave great
confidence to the sepoys, who now thought the Sikhs dare not
fight the Sirkar again,

248. Our army halted some days, throwing up entrench-
ments, and waited for the large guns to come up. An English
army was in the rear of the Sikhg, but must have been a long
way off at the time, as it did not arrive for some ten days after-
wards. Soon we heard there had been an engagement near
Loodiana, and that some of the Sirkar’s guns had been taken,
and also all the camp. Then news came that there had been
another battle, in which the enemy had been defeated and all
the lost baggage recaptured. 'This was true.

249. At the beginning of the month, all the armies of the
Sirkar had assembled, and the big guns arrived also. It was
now a very large force—such a one as had never been seen in
India before; but the Sikh army was reported to be at least
60,00t men, with 400 guns.

260, The Sikh army had marched to Sobraon,! and had
defended the position with one hundred guns. The English
force moved at night, and came on the enemy’s camp early in
the morning. It was evident the Sikhs did not know of its
approach ; there was great commotion in their camp, and their
bugles sounded the alarm. The fight was commenced by the
artillery, and the fire was terrible: one part of the Sikh army
was on the other side of the river, in their own country, and the
other in the Sirkar’s boundary ; they had a bridge of boats over
the river. After three hours, the order was given to charge the
batteries. Here, if possible, the fire was more severe than at

I Subrda,on.—Ed,
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Pheeroshahur (Ferozeshah); sections of the English army were
destroyed by the guns of the Khalsa; but it still stood firm.
Several European corps rushed on the guns, followed by some
sepoy regiments. It is well known the sepoys dreaded the
Sikhs, as they were very strong men ; still, in spite of everything,
their officers led them on. Through the smoke the flashing
swords and helmets of that wonderful regiment the 3rd Dragoons
were again seen—they had charged into the batteries a second
time. Never was there such fighting in India before

2561. At last, there was a tremendous shout, which was taken
up by the whole Sirkar’s army, that the Sikhs were retreating
over their bridge. Both sides of this bridge were defended with
guns, but the enemy dared not now to fire from the other side
of the river, for fear of killing their own men. They marched
down to the bridge in sections, and many regiments got over.
The Sirkar’s artillery moved close up, and poured in grape at
short distance, sweeping down hundreds. Infantry corps came
near, and fired volley after volley; but the Khalsajee marched
ou, and seldom now returned the fire. Not one of them ever
asked for mercy. When the bridge waa full from one end to the
other, it broke, and thousands of the Sikhs fell into the river,
which was very deep. Hundreds jumped in, to escape being
carried to the bank where the English forces were. The slaugh-
ter was frightful; nothing like it have I ever seen before or
since. The river was full of struggling masses of men who clung
to one another in their despair, and were taken under by the
current, to rise no more alive.

252. Near this bridge I narrowly escaped with my life. I
saw a large round shot bounding straight into the head of my
company, and I called out to my comrades, but somehow the
ball turned off, and went through the very place we had moved
to in opening out to avoid it; five sepoys and one havildar were
swept away by it, and the havildar was thrown many paces by
its force; one of the sepoys’ muskets was dashed against my
breast, and I was struck down senseless, and when I came to
myself again I found my regiment had passed on. I was unable
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to move, but by good fortune I was picked up afterwards by
partics who were sent out for the wounded and taken to
hospital.

233. The loss of the Sirkar’s forces in this action must have
been very heavy; one General Saheb was killed, and I heard
one hundred officers were killed or wounded. Kverything be-
longing to the Sikh army was captured, and the plunder was
very yreat.  Most of the Sikh soldiers had money concealed in
their long hair; some of our gepoys got ag much as one hundred
Nanukshaee ! rupees {rom one dead body.

254, If the river had not been swollen,? the Sirkar's cavalry
could have cut up hundreds of the enemy, as the river usually
was not difficult to cross at this time of year; but the boats with
which the bridge was made, when it parted, were carried miles
down the river, and all the others near at hand had been set fire
to. However, in a day or so more boats were collected, and
our army crossed the Sutlej into the Punjab.

CHAPTER XIII.

255. It was always said that the Sikh troops had been drilled
by Francese Sahebs (French officers) but these had all left before
the wur; either they had refused to fight against the Sirkar, or
else the Sikh Sirdars, jealous of their influence, had used their
power to get them turned out. True it was, I never saw any
Velatee® sahebs among the Sikh troops, nor did I hear of any
heing seen.

256. The Khalsa fought as no man ever did in India before,
but it was evident their leaders knew not how to manage an

! Rupees coined by the Sikh Government worth somewhat more than
the Company’s Rupees.—T'r,

2 The river incroased in volume of water some four feet the day of the
action, which was thought to be & favour from the gods towards the
tinghish Raj.—Tr.

® Fnropean,—7'r.
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army: when they had decided advantages in their hands they
failed to make any use of them; their cavalry never came near
the battle field that I ever heard of; and when I was at Lahore,
I heard many Sikhs loudly proclaim Sirdar Tej Singh to be a
traitor, and that he well knew at the time he gave out that an
English army was in his rear (after the feigned attack at Feroze-
shah which T have mentioned) that the said army was many
miles away.

257. T remember, close by the head of the bridge, seeing a
Ruropean soldier about to bayonet, as I thought, a wounded
8ikh ; but, to my surprise  the man begged for mercy-—a thing no
8ikh had ever been seen to do during this war—and he also
called out in English; the soldier then pulled off the man’s
turban and jacket ; after this I saw him kick the prostrate man,
and run him through several times with his bayonet ; several other
soldiers kicked the body with great contempt, and ran their
bayonets through it. Upon enquiry I was told that this was a
deserter from some European regiment, who had been fighting
with the Sikhs against his comrades.

258. 1In o few days, the Sirkar’s army marched on Lahore,
and the whole Punjab was at the feet of the mighty Company
Bahadoor, whose power none could withstand, and whom it was
useless to attempt to resist. This took place in February 1846,
near the end of the month.

2569. The Sirdars had a meeting with the Governor-General
Saheb, and Lahore was garrisoned with an English force, and
the pride of the mighty Khalsa was trampled in the dust.
Numbers of the Sikh army came to lay down their arms: it was
curious to see these men; they freely acknowledged they had
been beaten by the Sirkar, hut they said their time would come
again one day,

260. It was the general opinion in the Panjab that the Sirkat
would take possession of it, as it had done other parts of
Hindoostan; but after a treaty was made, by which Rajah Lal
Singh became Vizier, and the country of Cashmeer was sold to
Maharajah Goolaub Singh, the Sirkar’s army retired over the
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river to its own territories, leaving the Punjab to itself and its
endless disputes., :

261. At this period, the fortune of the Sirkar was very high;
all idea of resisting it had ceased ; and the mutinous feeling in
its army I have mentioned as having existed before this war,
seemed to have disappeared. Nothing was now talked of but
the nussech ! (the luck) of the Company Bahadoor, and now that
the Khalsa troops had been beaten (who had always heen sup-
posed a match for the English army), the very Mahomedans
held their peace, and for the time considered it folly to
go against fate. But then fortune remains not always
the same; who can tell where the seed of the Madar? will
light ?

262. After this war, my regiment was stationed at Umballa,
and at the end of the second year of its stay there, I was pro-
moted to Jemadar; I had now heen some thirty-five years a
servant of the Sirkar’s. True, I was a Jemadar! but the vigions
of wealth I had indulged in when I first took service, where
were they? 1 had nothing to show but some seven wounds,
and foor medals. 1 was becoming an old man; however I ware
a sword, and was an officer, My eldest son, who had formerly
been in the regiment T was with, before I entered the Shah’s
servics, was somewhere in Scinde, and I had not heard of him
for two years. Numbers of Native soldiers had been carried off
by the terrible fever of that country ; and it had such a bad name
that the native regiments were with great difficulty persuaded
to go there; the heat was greater than in any other part of
India. Those sepoys who escaped death from the effects of the
fever. were so affected by it that they were seldom any use
again, being subject to attacks of the disease long after they
had returned to their native country. In the last letter I had
received from my son, he stated that 750 men of his regiment.

I Nagib pl. is luck, good or bad, and is vulgarly used for igbal good
fortune,—Ed.

2 A plant with a seed like the d andelion, which is blown about hy the
wind for miles.—T'r.
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were ill with it, and that half » Furopean regiment had died ;!
he was also in hospital, and gave little hopes of escaping death,
as for four weeks before he wrote, he had not been able to move.

263. In 1847 two officers were killed at Mooltan, and to
revenge this insult, the Sirkar went to war with Dewan Moolraj
of Mooltan, and laid siege to the place. This excited the Sikhs
again ; they began to collect troops, and their warlike ardour
seemed to revive. Another Sikh war was talked of. The Sirkar
began to assemble troops, and moved them up towards Feroze-
pore. My regiment was again ordered to form part of this army.
The siege of Mooltan progressed very slowly, and this gave great
confidence to the Sikhs, who boasted that this time they should
beat the Feringhee,

264. Regiments came in now every day from Delhi, Meerut,
Umballa, ete., and were all pushed on towards Ferozepore; a
large English force crossed the Sutringe® and entered the
Punjab; the Sikhs were said to be collected on the banks of the
Jhelum, commanded by Sirdar Sheer Singh. After two or three
rather heavy skirmishes on the banks of the river, about the
end of the year we neared the 8ikh army, who were all en-
camped in very thick jungle, and their advance pickets were
only visible. No one could estimate their numbers; the spies
brought in word there were 50,000, and that every day their
forces increaged ,—also that they bad a vast number of guns.

265, The enemy kept to the jungle and showed no inclin-
ation to commence the fight; however, suspense was soon put
an end to, as one day the Sikh fired upon the Commander-in-
Chief Saheb, with some heavy guns, when he was out riding with
his staff. The Lord Saheb became enraged becanse some one
was killed near him, and the order was given to engage at once;
this was just us the gunfas® (gongs) were sounding midday, i.e.,
12 o’clock. but it was like fighting in the dark, the jungle was
so thick. Regiments became mixed—in my own, the Rifte
Company No. 100 was ahead of the Grenadier Company; our
own regiments were mistaken for the Sikhs, and volleys were

! 78th Highlanders.—T'r. 2 Sutlej.—T'r. ¢ Ghantd.—Ed,
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delivered one at the other before the mistake was found
out.,

266, The Commanding officer of my own corps suffered
much from fever, and was obliged to go away sick a few days
only before the fight. Another Colonel Saheb was sent to the
regiment just as it was going into action, and the firing had
commenced : he saw the red coats of the enemy, and imagined
them to be one of our regiments: immediately he stopped the
firing, saying he was sure we were firing into our friends; some
of the officers then said they could see the black belts on the
men of the other regiment, and were certain they were Sikhs
{the Sikh army had black belts, or very brown ones;—the
English sepoys pure white).

267. 'The Colonel then rode full gallop up to this dubious
regiment, which was about 200 yards off and half hidden in the
jungle ; he was received by a volley full in the face, but,
wonderful to say, he escaped without a touch: he returned
among us, and called < All right, fire away, sepoy log.”> He
was a brave officer and knew not fear, but none of us knew him
in the regiment, or his word of command, which is a great
drawback for a regiment in action.

268. Fighting continued all day, and neither side seemed to
obtain the victory. The Sikhs lost guns, the Sirkar had some also
taken by the Sikhs ; their batteries sprung up so hidden by the
tree jungle. it was impossible to tell the number of the guns.
One regiment, the 24th Goras, charged a battery and were
obliged to retire from the terrible fire of the guns and some
Sikh regiment which were hidden behind the battery ; this corps
lost nearly half its number, and more than 20 officers were
killed or wounded ;' a native regiment was with them, and was
beaten back with great loss, How could they stand if the
Europeans could not? In the evening the Sikhs retired to a
village by name Russulpore, and threw up entrenchments ; this

I Nearly the same thing has oceurred again with the ill-fated Regi-
ment, —~T7r,
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battle waa called Chillianmoosa (Chillianwalla), and took place
on the thirteenth day of the first month of the year. The
Sirkar’s army remained on the ground all night, but it was not
much of a victory : rain came on too, which made the place a
perfect swamp. Not far from the thick jungle, in which this
bloody battle was fought, were plains free from any jungle, and
they would have been much better for fighting on.

269. This battle was not managed with the usual splendid
arrangement of the Sirkar, but was fought in a hurry, and
before the proper orders could have been explained to our whole
force; besides which, the ground was not known at all by the
English officers—always a great disadvantage in war; but then,
in this battle, the Sirkar had nothing but disadvantages. The
Sikhs fought well, but the fire was not so heavy as at Feroze
shah, and it was evident the Sikh army had not improved since
ite last war with the Sirkar, and there was not that reluctance
or dread to meet the Sikh as shown by the Sepoy regiments
during the first war.

270. Russulpore was a small village surrounded by deep
ravines with a steep bank on its near side, and the river Jhelum
not far off; this place might have been shelled if its position
had been properly known, but the Sikhs were allowed to hold
possession of it unmolested ; they, however, had very heavy
guns in position all round it, and a near approach was never
practicable. During this time of inactivity we used to go down
to the river to bathe and drink water, and repeatedly met the
Sikh soldiers who seemed to think that the English army had
received a heavy blow, so that it was stunned like a snake, or
elge, they said, why did not it attack them ? In good truth,in
some measure this was the case, but, then, the Sikhs had had
enough of it to prevent them annoying our army much.

271. One day a sepoy of my company, rather celebrated for
hoasting of his deeds of valour, came into camp with his head
nearly cut off and his face dreadfully gashed ; the story he told
was, that he was drawing some water out of a small nulleh or
arm of the river, when one of the enemy came down and attacked
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him ; this sepoy made out that he had shot the man, but I
knowing that he was always making cats into tigers,' received
his statement with some little doubt. Afterwards when the
Sikhs laid down their arms, a Hindoostani in the Sikh service
told me that he saw that sepoy drinking at the nullak and
warned lum to go away as, if the Sikhs saw him, they would
certainly kill him ; but instead of taking his advice in a friendly
way the sepoy deliberately fired at him when quite close and
misged him. The Hindoostani became so angry at his country-
man’s ingratitude (literally, bad manners) that he attacked
him with his sword, and left him for dead, as he thought--at
any rate with such marks as he would never get vid of for the
rest of his life. After this was made known in the man’s com-
pany, boasting left his lips for ever. - * * *

272. The Sikh horsemen used to come out and challenge the
English army to single combat. One day a chief came forth,
and the chullenge was accepted by an English soldier in the
Lancer Regiment, and one out of the Dragoons; one of these
men was killed, and the other severely wounded ; the Europeans
were angry at their defeat, and some of them fired at the Sikh
and killed him. These men went without the orders of their
officers, who were very angry and annoyed at their being
beaten.

273. 1 was here struck with the difference between the white
man and the black man when wounded in action: the former
would shake his fist at the enemy and call Jown vengeance on
their heads, but never utter a cry of pain ; the latter, if hit in
the legs or arms, would dance round hugging the limb and call
out ** Dohaic, dohaie, Company Bahadoor’’ (have pity, have
pity, mighty Company}).

274, One morning it was reported that the Sikhs had left
their position and moved up the bank of the river. The Eng-
lish were now expecting the force which had been employed in

1

! The same meaning as *‘ geese into swans,’’ ‘‘'mountains of mole

hille, *'—T'r.
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the siege of Mooltan to join it, as that place had fallen into the
hands of the Sirkar. Some time in February this force did
arrive, and our army moved on after the Sikhs, who had deter-
mined to make a stand at a place called Goozerat, where
their Grunts! (priests) promised them victory. The Sikhs had
also been joined by Sirdar Chuttur Singh, who had managed to
get away from Mooltan without being molested. An action
was fought at this place—(ioozerat; it was almost entirely a
fight with large guns. My regiment was on guard over the bag-
gage, therefore a good way in the rear, and I do not know much
ahout this fight from actual eye-sight. The Sikh guns were dis-
mounted, their lines broken, the village carried at the point of
the bayonet, and the whole of the Sikh army fled towards
Rawulpindec.

275. After this battle some Earopeans were walking abont
the fiald with lighted pipes ; some large dubahs (skins made into
the form of a jar, very hard and strong) by some means blew
up, being filled with powder, and so severely burnt some five or
six Kuropeans and several sepoys that they all died in dreadful
agonies : the unfortunate men ran towards their comrades beg-
ging they would send a bullet through their heads and put them
out of their unbearable torments. T saw one or two sepoys,
who T think belonged to the 72nd N. L.; they were burnt from
head to foot, and the flesh fell off in charred lumps. I had often
seen Sikhs fearfully burnt, by their matches setting fire to their
cotton-wadded coats when they were wounded, and then explod-
ing their pouch-boxes, but I never saw such a frightful sight as
these scpoys before.  What a wonderful thing is fate! These
men, Huropeans and sepoys, had gone through both battles
without a wound, and yet when taking a walk after the battle,
for mere amusement, met their death ! The God of war? was
not satisfied with the slain.

I Qranth Sahib is the sacred book of the Sikhs.  Their priests are called
guru.—KEd,
1 Karttk.--Fd.



109

276. After this battle of Goozerat, the Sikhs fled across the
river Jhelum, and were followed by a light column of our army,
who camne up with them near an old fort on the road to Rawul.
pindee ; the remainder of the Sikhs, finding that they had now
no chance of escape against the Sirkar, and having lost nearly
all their guns, surrendered to the English General Saheb.

277. They were allowed to depart to their homes, after
having laid down their arms: each man had one rupee offered
him to help him on the way home; some few took this, but
many refused it with scorn.

278. There was with the Sikhs a body of Afghan horse, who
had been sent by the Dost to do mighty deeds against the
Feringhees, but these all escaped by reason of their horses and
got through the passes in front of Peshawur without being at-
tacked. I have been told that at Chillianmoosa they made an
attempt at an attack, but I never saw any of them, and am
inclined to think they took great care to keep out of bounds of
shot or shell, and that their mighty deeds were confined to
bahadooring boasts.

CHAPTER XIV.

279. After the fall of Mooltan and the total defeat of the
Sikhs at Goozerat, the Sirkar took possession of all the land of
the Punjab or Five Rivers. The mighty power of the Sikh
nation became as dust, and the mantle of rule descended upon
the Sirkar, the Great Company Bahadoor. The Sirdars were
all taken prisoners; and their troops, deprived of their weapons,
were disbanded, and sent off to their homes. English regiments
were stationed all over the Punjab, at Lahore, Wuzeerabad,
Jhelum, Rawulpindee, Attock, Peshawur, and many other
places, without any further opposition. Truly, the English are
a wonderful people: in six months after this, barracks arose out
of the ground asif by magic. The Sahebs built houses, police
were slationed, and the country appeared as if it had belonged
to the Sirkar for many years,
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280. My regiment was now sent to Jullundur. Two regi.
‘ments of old Sikh soldiers were enlisted for the Sirkar,! and
young Sikhs were taken into the Native regiments ; this annoyed
the sepoyé greatly, as they were disliked by the Hindoostanees,
and considered as unclean, and were not allowed to associate
with them: their position was for a long time very uncomfort-
able, but after a while this dislike in a measure wore off ; still
these men always kept by themselves, and were looked on as
interlopers by the old sepoys; they never were so clean on parade
even, and from their habit of using curds for cleaning their long
hair they always had an extremely disagreeable odour. Maﬁy of
them, however, became as Hindoos when long absent from their
own country.

281, For several years no fighting took place in Hindoostan,
and nothing particular o¢curred except that several innovations
were introduced into the army, and into the Civil Courts, which
gave great offence to the people.

282, In 1855 a small war arose in the Soubah of Bengal with
some jungle men called Sountals; my regiment was sent also,
and was stationed near Raneegunge, not far from Calcutta,
There | first saw the iron road and steam monster; this was
more wonderful than anything 1 had ever seen before. When I
asked the people about it, they said it was their belief that the
English put some mighty demon into each iron box, and that it
wag his efforts to escape which made the wheel turn round;
however, I saw the water put in, and coals lighted under it, but
so ignorant am I of how it moves, that if an officer had not told
me it was all the force of steam, I might easily have believed
this demon fed upon wood, coal, or stones, and drank maunds
of water. I went down to Calcutta in the train, but it went so
fast, it nearly took away my senses. As it got near Calcutta all
sorts of people came in of many low castes, who behaved as if
they were equal to every one; this is not good, and it gave great
annoyance to many.

1 Heetaram is in error; the two regiments he alludes to were enlisted
after the first S8ikh war, namely Ferozepore and Lodiana regiments.—7'r.
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283. I was amazed by what I saw at Calcutta ; but what isthe
use of describing it to you, my Lord, who know it well? The
ships, what can I say ? they were one hundred times as big as 1
imagined; no wonder the Sahebs can go about all over the
world ; eash ship would bring a regiment. The Lord Saheb’s
house was very big; if every Ameer (nobleman) in England lives
in a house as large as that, which 1 was told they do, what a
wonderful country! I noticed in the magnificent city that
Sahebs seldom spoke to one another, and I was informed they
did not know each other; but how can this be, if they all come
from a small island ?

284, These Sountals used bows and arrows, and large sharp
axes, and always dispersed when we fired on them. At first it
was reported that they used poisoned arrows, and they were
much dreaded accordingly, but this was soon found out not to
be the case. After a good deal of marching about through thick
jungle, and guarding the high road near the Soane river onehot
season, this outbreak was overcome, and my regiment was sent
to———. I wasinformed by some of the Sountal people the chief
reason thev rebelled was they could get no justice in the civil
conrts as they had no money to bribe the amlafis (native officials)
and their complaints were all against the rich mahajuns' and
moneylendsrs, who had managed to get these simple peaple
into their clutches and ruined them all. I know nothing about
the truth of this, but it was a curious war: at one part of the
jungle we were fiving upon them, and at another the Sirkar was
giving them cart-loads of rice.

285. A report now spread about that the Sirkar was going
to take Oude from the Nawab. Thiscreated a great excitement
throughout the army, which was chiefly composed of men from
that country; many of them did not much careif the Sirkar
took thecountry or not, but these were men who had no pro-
perty there: still an undefined dislike and kind of fear took posses-
sion of all. During the year the Sirkar removed the Nawab to
Calcutta, and took the kingdom of Oude info its own hands.

1 Mahdnjan, a native banker.—Ed.
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Regiments of local infantry and cavalry were raised, officered by
English officers, and also a number of Assistant Commisioner
Sahebs ; many of these officers came from the Bombay and
Madras armies, and were quite ignorant of the language, man-
ners, and customs of the people; as were also all Sahebs who
came from Bengal from the college.! The occupation of the
country was effected without any open resistance at the time—
it was so sudden the people never thought then of any combina-
tion ; but the minds of all the Talookdars and head men were
excited against the Sirkar who they considered had acted
without honor, and had been very hard on the Nawab. There
were plenty of interested people to keep alive this feeling; they
assured every one that the estates of the rich owners would soon
be confiscated by the Sirkar, who would easily manage by means
of these law courts to make ont that the present possessors had
no right to them; and in truth so many had acquired property
in Oude in ways that would never be recognized by the Sirkar,
that they began to fear enquiry. All of these people had a large
body of relations, retainers, or servants living with them, all
interested parties, so that it fully accounts for the great excite-
ment prevalent at the time throughout Oude, and consequently
throughout the Sirkar’s army. In my hamble opinion I con-
gider that the minds of the sepoys were by these measures made
to feel distrust, and were induced to plot against the Sirkar, by
this seizing of Oude. Agents of the Nawab of Lucknow and also
of the King of Delhi were sent all over India to try the temper
of the army; they worked upon the feelings of the men, telling
them how treacherously the Feringhees had behaved to their
king; they invented 10,000 lies and promises to induce the
goldiers to mutiny, and turn against their masters the English,
with the object of restoring the throne to the Emperor of Delhi,
which they maintained was quite within the power of the army
if it would only act together and do what they advised.

1 The College of Fort William was abolished as a teaching body in
1854, when it was converted into the ¢* Board of Examiners, '’ —Ed.
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286. It chanced that about this time the Sirkar sent chosen
parties of men from each regiment to different stations to be
instructed in the use of the new rifle; the men went on with their
drill for some time, when by some means or other a report got
about that the cartridges used for these new arms were greased
with the fat of cows and pigs. The men from our regiment
wrote to the others telling them of this, and great excitement
began to be felt in every regiment. Some of the men said they
had served the Sirkar for forty years, during which time nothing
had ever been done to insult their religion; still, as I have men-
tioned, the minds of men had been made unsteady by the
seizure of Qude; interested parties always pointed out, that the
great aim of the English was to make the natives all Christians,
and by the cartridge it was to be brought about, as both
Mahomedans and Hindoos would be alike defiled.

287. I reported this curious story to my officer, but no
notice was taken; and he only fold me not to talk about it.
Some time after this an order was read out to the regiment
from the Commander-in-Chief, or Governor-General Saheb, say-
ing that the Sirkar had not used any objectionable fat, and
that in future the men should make up their own cartridges
and use their own grease, so that they might be satisfied the
Sirkar had no intention whatever of hurting their feelings or
breaking their caste. The very reading out of this order was
seized on by many as a proof the Sirkar had done it, or this
order would have never been read. What was the use of deny-
ing this if it had not been the intention of the Government to
carry it out ?

288. The time of year for furlough came round—that is the
month of April,—and it was my turn to go ; but before I went
I told my Commanding officer what I had heard, and warned .
him that great madness had possessed the minds of all men, I
could not say what shape it would take ; I never thought that
the whole army would mutiny, but only those men who might
have heen sufferers by the taking of Oude, and that at present
only a few of the worst characters were really affected. I also

HS. L 8
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warned bim that this feeling might however spread ; I knew
that there were many men in every regiment whose wish it was
to remain faithful, and I offered to give up my furlough if he
thought it would be any use. The Colonel Saheb was of opinion
that the excitement, which even he could not fail to see, would
pass off, as it had often done before, and he recommended me
to go to my home.

289. I arrived at my own village without hearing anything
particular on the road ; but soon afterwards a report came that
the troops at Meerut and Delhi had risen and killed their officers,
and proclaimed the King Emperor ; they were excited to revolt
by one whole regiment having been put into jail, and loaded
with irons and thus having their #zzuf (honor) destroyed. This
was 30 extraordinary that I refused to believe it, and consi-
dered it a story got up only to exeite people’s minds, but every
day the rumour gathered strength, and I went to ask the
Deputy Commissioner if it were true. T could not well do this
without exciting suspicion, for at this time all the amlahs!
(office people) were on the watch for any one who came. 1
went to his house with an wrzee (petition), which the Ohupr&sxsi
refused to take in to the Saheb, but told me it was the orders
to receive none except at office hours ; however, T managed to
see the Saheb, and I told him the tale I had heard and asked
him if there was any truth in it. The Saheb did not say one
thing or the other, but asked me a number of questions, to
find out how much I knew and what effect it had on the minds
of the people in my zillah;* at last the Saheb told me he had
heard of it (which I knew from the first by the questions put),
but that the reports were very vague indeed.

290, Had I asked some important native official he would
have denied his knowledge of the fact perhaps at once, and the
more vehemently he would have denied it the more I should
have been sure he knew all about it. If I had persisted, he

I Iy the first edition, the translator writes this word Aumlahs.- Ed.
* Zéla‘'.—Ed.
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would have tried to find out what my feelings on the subject
were, and then if I had committed myself by wishing the
mutineers good luck, he would have informed against me,
though he himself might have been heart and hand with them.

291, When I returned to my own village, the whole place
was talking abont the news. In a short time the entire country
was in a ferment, and every regiment in it was said to be ready
to mutiny ; every day reports came in, that the regiments at
the different stations had all risen and killed their officers. 1
went again to see the Deputy Commissioner, and offered to
collect the furlough men of my own regiment, and also any
pensioners who could use arms ; he thanked me, and promised
to let me know if it would be required.

292. Shortly after thig, the regiments at Lucknow, Seta-
pore, and other stations in Oude broke out into open mutiny,
and the country was overrun with sepoys of these regiments.
Many of these men returned to their homes and had nothing
further to do with the mutiny except having been in a regi-
ment which had mutinied.

293, I now discovered that 1 was watched, and was sus-
pected of giving the civil officers information. One day a large
body of sepoys of one of the mutinied regiments came through
my village, and I tried to persuade them to go quietly to their
houses, and pointed out to them the folly of going against the
English Government ; but these men were so intoxicated with
the plunder they had taken, and the prospects of rewards from
the Emperor of Delhi, that they turned on me, and were about
to shoot me on the spot for having dared to speak about the
Sirkar Ungreese ; they called me a traitor, and at last made me
a prisoner, and put heavy irons on me and a chain round my
neck, daclaring they would take me to Lucknow, where they
would secure a large reward for having seized me, and where
my punishment would be to have melted lead poured down my
throat for daring to uphold the English rule under which I had
served and eaten my salt, so many years. I was treated with
every indignity ; the men boasted of the deeds they had done,



116

and how the Sahebs had been so easily killed, or frightened inte
the jungles like hares; they were fully persuaded that the
English rule had come to an end throughout Tndia. I never saw
men behave in such a manner even during the Hooly! festival ;
they all thought they would be made princes for what they
had done, and were debating among themselves as to what
offices they would hold under the King of Delhi; what they
had done I could not find out, except that they had shot down
their officers on the parade ground, and looted the station and
set it on fire when there was not the slightest resistance.

204. On the road some persons informed them that a Euro-
pean regiment was not far behind them ; their boasting was now
redoubled, they would destroy it at once. This was what they
said before people, but in their hearts the most abject fear
reigned of meeting the Europeans.  Theregimentnever appeared,
nor indeed was there the least truth in the report, which I was
very glad of, for they informed me I should at once be shot if
any Europeans came.

295. The leader of this party, who was s sepoy although
there were two Subedars with it, came to me one day and
showed me a proclamation from the King of Delhi. It called
upon all the sepoys to fall upon and destroy the English, pro-
mised immense rewards and promotion if the men of any regi-
ment would rise and slay their officers ; it stated that the English
Sirkar intended to make all the Brahmins into Christians, which
fact had been discovered, and in proof of it one hundred Padrees
were coming into Oude ; the caste was to be broken by making
everybody eat beef and pork; the men were entreated not to
allow this, but to fight for their caste and drive the detested
Feringhees out of the country. It also stated the King had
received news from the Sultan of Roum (Turkey) that the Eng-
lish soldiers had been all destroyed by the Russians ; that there

I Holi in March or April. The word means boisterous mirth. Red-
ness is the sign of love, hence the casting of red powder. Low caste
people have debased the symbol and mixing it with water consider it
a symbol of women’s menses.—Ed,
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wore only the few regiments remaining which were in India; and
that these were all separated at great distances and could easily
be surrounded and destroyed. This proclamation was printed
on yellow paper, and was said to be by order of the King.
Hvery word of this was believed by every man who heard it;
even I myself could not but feel somewhat impressed by it. I
had never known the Sirkar interfere with our religion or our
caste ever since I had been a soldier in its service certainly,
but my mind was filled with some doubts. 1 remembered the
treatment of many regiments as to the batta!~how it had
been in the first place promised aund then withheld; then that
tho Sirkar had seized Oude without any just cause. 1 had also
observed the increass of late years of Padree Sahebs, who stood
up in thestreets of cities and told the people their cherished
religion was all false, entreating them to become Christians;
they always said they were not employed by the Sirkar, and
that they received no money from it, but how could they say
what they did, without its permission? Everybody believed
they wore socretly employed by it: why should they take such
trouble if they were not ordered ¢ Then T romembered how the
Sirkar had been a protector to me, and that I had eaten its salt
for forty years, and I determined never to go against it as long
as it remained, but to do all T could for it.

29¢. My Lord, you must not forget that at this time I was
bound with chains, and to all appearances being taken to a
terrible death. Day after day when I heard city after city,
station after station, were in the hands of the people, I cannot
but say the thought sometimes came into my mind that the
mighty Companee Raj was passing away, as all its guns had
hioen taken, and its arsenals also; how could I help thinking
otherwise ? 1T still however had faith in the ickbal of tho Sirkar,
which had always been so wonderful and marvellous. I also
thought that Kkoshikballe * could never remain long with those

\ Bhatta, dorived from bhit cooked rice,—Ed.
: Good fortune.—Tr.
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who had committed such crimes and broken their good
faith.

297. When the party of sepoys with whom I was, came
near to Lucknow, from some orders which they pretended they
received direct from the Nana of Bitour, the route was altered
and they marched towards Cawnpore and crossed over the river.
On the road, however, our party was surprised by a troop of
mounted Sahebs. It wasin the early morning, before it hogan
to become light, and so sudden was the attack that these brave
bahadoors, so far from attempting to fight and annihilate the
Europeans, ran off into the jungle; they aigo, luckily for me,
forgot to carry out their threat about shooting me. I was
pulled out of a gharry! in which I had been carried, and very
narrowly escaped being shot by one of these trooper Sahebs who
thought I was a wounded or sick sepoy, never having taken any
notice of my chains; he did not understand Hindoostanee but,
a8 good luck would have it, an officer was near, who came up
and heard my tale and saw my chains, which was a very con-
vinecing proof of the truth of my story; he gave orders to have
my chains knocked off, and took me to the Officer Commanding,
who wrote down my statement, my name, and my regiment.
He was also very anxious to hear what state Oude was in and
whether I had seen or heard of any Sahebs or ladies in the
jungles. The last English Officer I had seen was the Deputy
Commissioner of——————, who was, when 1 left, carrying
on his work the same as usual; but this was a month before.

298. As I was not a very good rider the Captain Saheb
could not make me a sowar, but when he found out I could
read and write Persian, he made me moonshee to the troop,
gave me a certificate of the account of my re-capture, ete., etc.
I went about with this rissalah for some six weeks, during
which time it destroyed several bands of mutinied sepoys, and
one day had a hand-to-hand fight with a party of regular
cavalry, who fired off their pistols and then rode along as hard:

l Gari—Ed.
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as they could, although three times the number of our party.
Ninetecn sowars were killed and twenty-one of the best Sirkar’s
horses captured; on our side five men were killed and seven
wounded.

209. After this, our troop returned to Cawnpore, which
had been retaken twice by the English. Through the kindness
of my Captain (may the shadow of greatness always surround
him) he took me to the Officer Commanding a Punjab regi-
ment, and I was borue onthe rolls of this corps as a supernumer-
ary jemadar, and attached to it. This regiment was engaged in
several actions, and also before Tucknow ; followed the bargees !
(mutineers) right into Nepaul, and 1 passed the old place again
where [ had becn so frightened by the elephants some forty
years before,  All this is so well known I need not describe it
again; but in no fight that T was in—and they were not few—did
I evor sce the mutinied sepoys, be they Hindoos, or be they
Mussulmans, ever make a good stand and fight. Usually they
stood the first discharge, and then took to flight when they could
not, get shelter behind walls or trees. I am told it was hard
work at Delhi. I was not there; but. the sepoys could not have
fought well to have let an Englisli foree under 10,000 drive out
70.000 men, and they all in possession of the houses on either
side,

300. One day in one of the enclosed buildings near Lucknow
a great number of prisoners were taken, nearly all sepoys.
After the fight they were all brought in to the Officer Command-
ing my rogiment, and in the morning the order came that they
should all be shot. [t chanced that it was my turn to command
the firing party. I asked the prisoners their names and regi-
ment.  After hearing some five or six, one sepoyv said he
belonged to the—-——— -—regiment, which was that my
son had been in. I, of course, asked him if he had known my son
Anuntee Ram of the Light Company. He auswered, that that
was his own name; but this being a very common name, and

I Riighi. —Ed.
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having always imagined that my son, as I had never heard from
him, must have died of the Scinde fever, it did not at first strike
me; but when he informed me he came from Tillowee, my heart
leapt in my mouth. Could he be my long-lost sgon? There was
no doubt of it, for he gave my name as his father, and he fell
down at my feet imploring my pardon.

301. He with all the other men in the regiment had mutinied,
and had gone to Lucknow. Once the deed was done, what was
he to do? Whero was he to go, if he had even been inclined to
escape ? At four o'clock in the day the prisoners were all to be
shot, and I must be my son’s executioner! Such isfate! Iwent
to the Major Saheb and requested I might be relieved from this
duty as a very great favor; but he was very angry, and said he
should bring me to a court-martial for trying to shirk my duty :
he would not believe I was a faithful servant of the English
Government—he was sure my hoart was in roality with the muti-
neers—he would hear me no longer. At last my feelings as a
father got the better of me, and I burst into a flood of tears: 1
told him I would shoot everyone of the prisoners with my own
bands if he ordered me, but I confessod that one of them was
my gon. The Major declared what I urged was only an excuse
to get off shooting my own brotherhood. But at last his heart
seemed touched, and he ordered my unhappy son (Kumbuckt)
to be brought before him, and questioned him very strictly.

302. I shall never forget this terrible scene : for one moment
1 never thought of asking his life to be spared—that he did not
deserve. He became convinced of the truth of my statement,
and ordered me to be relieved from this duty !

303. I went to my tent, bowed down with grief made worse
by the gibes and taunts poured on me by the Sikhs, who de-
clared T was a renegado. In a short time I heard the deadly
volley. My son had received the reward of mutiny! He showed
no fear, but I would rather he had been killed in fight.

304. Through the kindness of the Major I was allowed to
perform the funeral rites over my misguided son—the only
one of the prisoners over whom it was performed, for
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the remaining bodies were all thrown to the jackals and
vultures.

405. 1 had not heard from my son since just after my return
from slavery. I had not seen him since I wont to Cabool, and
thus [ met him again, untrue to his salt, in open rebellion
against the mastor who had fed his father and himself. But
enough—more is unnecessary. He was not the only one who
mutinied (literally, he was not alone when he mutinied). The
Major told me afterwards that he was much blamed by the
other cfficers for allowing the funeral rites to be performed on a
rebel.  But if good deeds wipe away sins—which I have heard
some Sahebs believe as well as wo do—his sins will be very
white. Bad fortune never attends on the merciful. May my
Major soon become a General !

CHAPTER XV.

306.  Upon returning from my second Nepaul campaign, this
time fighting, not against the Nepaul log, but' against those
men with whom the Sirkar had conguered the Nepaulese former-
ly, | was promoted to a Subadar, after forty-eight ysars df
hard woar and tear in the Sirkar’s service. I entered under the
Uompanee Bahadoor’s flag, and I ended under that of the

impress of the World. I was an old man of sixty-five years of
age, and had arrived at the highest rank to be gained in the
native army: but for this position I was much better fitted
thirty years before. What could I now do at the head of my
Company ?  How could I double, or do laight infantree! (light
infantry)? But I was expected to be just as chulak? (active) as
ever ; no ullowance made for forty-cight years’ service. No one
remembered I had carried a musket for thirty years, and had
been in as many fights as most of the officers had lived years.

t Hence latart karnd ‘- 1o skirmish,”’ u term still used in sume reyi
ments. —gd
‘< Chalak. —kd.
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I was shouted at by the Adjutant as if I had been a bullock -a
mere boy. young enough to have beem my great grandson;
sworn at by the Comanieer (Commanding Officer), called a fool, a
donkey, a booriak !(old woman), and at last I was taken befors
the Commander-in-Chief and reported to be utterly useless --a
man the €. O. could make nothing of.

307. T was brought before the Invaliding Committee zuber-
dust (nolens volens), which I passed; and I acquired the pension
of a Soobadar, and if my rights had been considered, it would
have been much better that T should have received it years
before. T wished for this pension more than anything else in
the world, yet I did not like to ask for it, and when I was, as
it were, got rid of, by compulsion, of course 1 was not pleased.
I have no doubt the Companee Bahadoor would have wished
me to have had it years before; it was not its fault—it was
the result of the new hard rules. The time it took to become
a Soobadar was too far distant for nany sepoys to aspire to; this
promotion was seldom given until after forty years’ service.

308. Of late years some men lave become Jemadars and
Soobadars in a short time; many wore at once promoted if they
brought a number of young men during the mutiny. This is
a much botter system, and these officers being influential men,
were much more looked up to by the asepoys, being considered
as the father of the company. But if the Sirkar wants men of
rank and position, the pay of sixty-seven rupees a month will
hardly tempt them. The native officers of the Irregular
Cavalry are generally men of some wealth, the younger sons
of good families: but then their pay is good, and enables them
to keep up their position.

309. Those native officers who hocame Jemadars and Socba-
dars at once, did good service in the Mutiny,—led their men
on well; they were young and full of spirit; but directly the
war time was over , they were foundnot to know their drill so
well as a sepoy who had been forty years at it, and was there-

| Burhiya, subs, - £d.
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fore much too old to perform it; they were bullied, questioned.
examined. and drilled, until they became quite sick of the
service, and numbers gave it up in disgust. as they had
nothing else to look to in the way of advancement; some wer:
sent away with presents of land, which no one else had culti-
vated.

310. The sopoy would be quite contented with a larger
pension; and if he would get this after twenty-five years’ service,
he would not think much of being & Soobadar, which rank he
could only get when he was too old to be fit for it, and unable
to march, and when he ought to have been at home in ease,
preparing for his death.

311.  Our learned men said the Company’s Raj (rule) was
to come to an end in 1857, being one hundred years since their
first great battle; but they did not say another English rule
would succeed it,—far more hard, much more harsh. The
Companes Bahadoor and its officers were much kinder to the
people of India than the Sirkaris now; and if it were not for
the old servants ! of the Company, it would be far worse than
it is,

312. In the last regiment I was with, there were five or sx
younyg Salicbs who came from some European regiment. Several
of these had charge of a company: but it was ovident they
hated the sepoys, and always spoke severely and sneeringly to
them. My notion is, that this way is not likely to make the
sepoy likes thom much. Very few of these officers could speak
to the men at all; and when they did it was not in a pleasant
way. They may have learned to command European soldiers,
but they did not know how to command the sepoys.

313. My Lord, scpoys will not fight well with those they do
not like, or for a Government that is not kind to them. They
Jwere treated kindly, and they turned against their master: a
better one they can never have again.

314, 'The Mussulmans were the first instigators of the mutiny ;

I e, Engish officinls, B,
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and the Hindoos followed, like a flock of sheep over the bank
of ariver.!  The chief thing that bred the rebellion was the
knowledge of the power the sepoys had, and the little control
the Sahebs were allowed to exort over them. They naturally
from this fancied the Sirkar must be afraid of them ; whereas it
only trusted them too well. But as a son is not discarded by
his parent for once rebelling against his authority, I will hope
that the chastisement of the rebellious son received for this, will
have a lasting effect, and that wickedness will never be allowed
to attack the hearts of the sepoys again.

315. I now see that officers are afraid to trust the sepoy,
and this must be the case for many years to come, but it is not
justice to condemn all. Some there were who remained faithful ;
and still greater number whose fate it was to be in a regiment
which mutinied. These did not wish to go against the Sirkar,
but were acted on by fear that no distinction would be made
for them when once the others had gone wrong. This was well
known to the principal movers in the mutiny, whose first objeot
it was so to implicate a regiment that all must go with them.
All regiments took their colors with them: they did not break
thelr oath of deserting them. They left the service of the
Lnghsh and were supposed to have taken that of another
Sirkar.

316. Let the English Sirkar look well to its Hindoo ser-
vants; remove as much as possible all causes of complaint,
and thoy will not rosist it; besides which they will seldom com-
mence a rebellion, but will follow in its track when once begun.
Let it remember the words of an old man who knows them:
never trust the Mussulmans; they are the instigators and prin-
cipal movers in all disturbances, always having an ill-feeling
against the Sirkar. The Mussalman is the snake that the man
put in his bed to keep warm, and in return it stung him; the
snake’s nature is to sting, therefore, obeying its nature, it’

! When crossing a stream ons sheep is forcibly pushed into the water
firat, when the remainder follow.--Ed.
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stung. The religion of the Mussulman enforces on him the
necessity of slaying what he calls an infidel, and promises him
seven heavens seven times over for every one he slays.! With
whatever pretences they may come forward, however earnestly
they may assert they are faithful, and well-wishers of the
English Raj, let the Saheb log never trust them, never believe
them ; they may have confidence placed in them, they mayibe
treated with kindness, but never let it be supposed they can
be real friends or well-wishers. They are puffed up with vain
pride of the glorious days of their former emperors, and ever
hope such may come again. As well might they expect the
Krityog® to return.

317. Their priests keep up the feeling of hatred, and are
always telling them some Mehndee® (prophet) is coming who
will restore their sway; but he mever comes. Qur wise men
have told me that truth was spoken in Hindoostan before the
Mussulman came and overran it; and whatever bad vices are
now prevalent, were all introduced by them. Before their ac-
cursed coming, crime was rare, but thoba! thoba! (alas! alas!)
they have corrupted all alike now.

318. I know the Sahebs, and that nothing pleases them eo
much as a straight answer to a plain question, but the kale
admee (native of India) does not know this generally and his
endeavour is always to give an answer to a question such as
shall please the asker,—exactly the one he thinks he is wished
to give.

319. 1 never could feel myself again, or hold my head so
high after the death of my son. His having fought against the

1 Thigs is, of course, only S5ith Ram’s idea.—KEd.

# There are four ages according to the Hindoos. The Krityoy, golden
ag, lasted 1,728,000 years; the T'retyog, silver age, 1,206,000; the
Dewapur, brazen age, or age of uncertainty ; and the Kali, Iron, black-—
the present one which is to last 403,000, and commenced long before
the Christian era.---Translator.

3 In the second edition Mehnmdee. Presumably the Mahdi is meant.
He will reform the whole world.—Hd.
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giver of his salt was a great disgrace to me, and my chief
solace is now thinking over the many years of my service, dur-
ing which time, with the single exception I have mentioned, 1
was never punished; and I have given my lifetime to the
Sirkar’s service. I have one son left, he whom I send to your
Lordship with my papers. 1 have two daughters, married,
with large families.

320. T have not acquired any fortune, but I have my
paternal estate, and the pension of a Soobadar, which is enough
for me. The people in my village seem to respect me, and are
now fully impressed with the ease and benefits they enjoy
under the Raj Ungreese (English rule). The man that sows,
feels satisfied he will reap, which he never could before. The
people are still sometimes oppressed by the native officials;
‘but redress is often to be obtained, and this oppression is every
year becoming less and less, and when the district Saheb goes
about himself, and personally inquires into all complaints,
which our good Saheb does (may his office last for ever) and
shows an interest in our weifare, there will be little inclination
to resist the authority of the Sirkar; but when everything is
left to the native officials, which is sometimes done, through
the inability of the S8aheb to understand what the people tell
him,! they will be dissatisfied and talk against the Government,
and long for a change.

321. My Lord, the native officials are all corrupt, be they
Hindoos or Mussulmans. In this, there is no difference. There
may be one, but I never heard of him, among them, who would
not take a bribe of five rupees. A great reason for this is, the
small pay given by the Sirkar. However, if only half were
given, there would still be hundreds of applicants who would
make up by bribery what they had not as tunkha?® (wages).
This was always the case in former times: the man who coulds
give the largest sum always gained his cause. ‘“ When there
are those who are willing to receive, there will be found those

1 The complaint of to-day. - Kd. ¢ Tankhwah.—Ed.
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who will give; and when there are those who will give, it is not
difficult to find those who will take ’> The Sahebs try and put
this system down; but there is such a combination against
them they can never be successful.

322. A Burra Saheb! (a civilian) is very angry when he hears
a petitionar gave a bribe; he asks him why he did it. He, per-
haps, does not know that the man firmly believes that a part
of the bribe went to the Saheb himself. Therefore the man
dare not say anything. The whole of the officials have told
him so, from the Muskooree to the Shirstidar?® (officer runner to
the head man). I never heard of an office yet where the
Amlah did not make out somehow or other that the Saheb was
amenable to a bribe. They live by it themselves, so of course,
it is their interest to keep up the idea.

323. The head Putwaree (man who keeps the village records,
etc.) in my village told me one day it must have been my fault
having been so long in obtaining my promotion. When I told
him T had never done anything wrong, he laughed and said I
was not wise, though I had been so much in the world.  Of
course he meant I had not paid for it ; he thought it was to be
bought like everything else.

324. T have known very few cases of English Officers taking
bribes. Y have heard of many doing so, but never believed it ;
for I know their dzzut (honor) is great. I see, however, no
difference in the European soldier of small rank and the black
man, when he is in a position to obtain bribes. I know the
Sahebs do not take them, but I also know that many much
better educated than I am, firmly believe they do. How can
they imagme anything different from their own tubeat® (nature) ?

325. I remember I had occasion to go to a Deputy Com-
missioner’s office once on some small business of my own. I
was in my Hindoostani dress, and imagined I could walk in,
as I had Leen told it was an open court of justice, Immediate-

! A Collector, ete.—Ed.

% Sar-rishta-ddr, the head of the vernacular office. Michkiiri.—Ed.
Tabi‘at. —HEd,
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ly two or three chupprassees came to me to know what my
business was: I told them it was with the Saheb, not with them.
Thoey then said that it was very difficult to see the Saheb; that
he was engaged, and a hundred other excuses were made—end.-
ing by informing me that if I gave five rupces, one of them
would take my petition in himself, and lay it before the Com-
missioner. I answered I had no petition. I was then prevent-
ed entering the Auzoor’s (honor’s) presence for a long time,
only because I would give nothing to any of them. At last, a
head moonshee came out and spoke to me; he told me the
Saheb’s tomper was very bad that day, but if I wished parti-
cularly to see him, some other official would mention the fact
to him and dare to brave his wrath, but for this I must give
ten rupees.

326. Getting tired of these attempts at extortion, and also
not believing the man’s story, I entered the dufftur (office), but
the chupprassees and officials tried all in their power to prevent
me ; they all began talking against me, saying ‘‘ what a man of no
manners I was, so to intrude,’’ and spoke loud to attract the
Sahib’s attention. I walked straight up, made a military
salute, and requested permission to speak; but I was ordered
to be turned out, and called names also. The peons attempted
to do this, but I did not allow them to touch me; and as the
Sahib had ordered me himself, I went outside, having told him
my name, regiment, and rank. A chupprassee, one of those
who first came to me, trumped up a case, that I had resisted
authority ; the whole dufflur (office) swore I had beaten him
dreadfully, and he showed his face all over blood (which he
must have had ready for the purpose) as I only pushed away
those who had attempted to touch me. I was fined ten rupees
(£1) for resisting authority. When I returned to my regiment
I reported the whole case, just as it had ocourred, to my Com-
manding Officer, who was very angry and wrote about it ; but’
1 never received any redress for this great insult.

327. If a civilian is easy of access, and will take the trouble
to listen to the complaints of the poor, this bribery can, in a
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great measure. be prevented : for the officials will then be afraid,
he will hear the rights of a case, and the people will see it is no
use offering bribes.

328. The punishments the Sirkar orders to be inflicted for
offences, are thought by many to be absurd and by most classes
to be dictated by fear. A low-caste man is convicted of break-
ing into a house and stealing jewels from the women, attended
by violence; he is sent to prison for a year ar more, where he is
much better fed, clothed and attended to, than he ever was in
hig life. True it is, he is deprived of his liberty; but he gets
his food, ad the suckth mehanut (hard labor) he laughs at : what
i5 it to a coolie who has to work hard for his half seer of attah
{flour)t  Wnder the native government he would have had his
hand chopped off.! This in a real punishment-—one the thief
would never forget, and one which has w great effect upon all
evil-doers, which I conceive to be the use of punishment.

329, The Sirkar should remember that the ryot® (country
man) is only a byle (bullock)..” A byle doeg not care for being
beaten with a small stick; he requires a goad: so it is with
these men.  The Sirkar’s punishuents have no effect upon
them; in fact they are a perfect laughingstock. The lawswof
the LFnglish, no doubt, are very wise and good for them; but
tae laws of the Durrum Shastur® (Hindoo Code) which were
made for us, are the best; and those we much prefer.  Theso
are written in a language which can be understood * which few
Hindoos can say for the Fnglish laws, all of them being in
Arabic. ‘

- 330. I huve often asked Moulvies, cte., why our laws cannot
be written in a language we know ?  They have told me their
meaning eould not be given in Hindi. It wonld appear to me

U T Musling faw, amputation of the right hand is the punishmont for
®a iirst offence of thoft,  Hindu law punishes the Himb which committed
the crime.— £,
2 Ra‘iyjat.— ¥d. & Dharam Shistar.—Ed.
+ The Tranglator boes loave to differ with the Socobadar.  Few Hindoos
understand Sanskrit, any more than thoy do Arabic.—2r,
HE. L Y
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that crimes which cannot be expressed in a people’s tongue, do
not require any laws to expound their punishments. Who can
understand why a man should not punish his wife if guilty of
adultery ?  Canmoney salisfy his revengo? This is not justice,
and causes great dissatisfaction. There is but one opinion on
this point,

331. T have said all 1 can remember of interest in my life,
and I have given my opinion on many subjects, which T should
never have thought of doing had not your Lordship so earnestly
desirtbd me. If I have said anything unseemly, my Lord must
grant me pardon. But what T have said is true: T have fired
at no mice with cannon (i.e., have not exaggerated). In my
own village I see very fow Sahibs; sometimes the district officer
is pleased to listen to my story. I go twice a year into cantons
ments to receive my pension, and then hayve o talk of former days.
But there are few of the old Sahibs left now, and the new ones
do not care much to listen to an old man’s buk-buk (babble) of
things and events which took place before they were born.
Thanks be to Bugwhan and Purmeshur ! (to God the Crentor), T
want nothing through the bounty of the Sirkar; and I have a
son still left to perform my funeral ceremonies;? and if your
Lordship when you return to your own country, will always
remember that the old Soobadar Seetaram was a true and faithful
servant of the English Government, it is all T wish; it is enough
for me. And with profound respect to one who has always
been to mecas a father, T now make my most humble abeisance.

THE ND,

i Bhaguwan. Paramesvar.- -Bd.

% These ceremonies are considerod among the Hindoos of very great
importf.nca ;i and to have no one to perforin them, is one of the greatest
misfortunes that can possibly befall & worshipper of Brahinah. This ac-
counts for their custom of ndopting songs, when none are born 10 them or

have died.  Every year those corcmonics are repented, —7'r.
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